committee agenda

District Development Management Committee
Wednesday, 22nd January, 2020
You are invited to attend the next meeting of District Development Management
Committee, which will be held at:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices
on Wednesday, 22nd January, 2020
at 7.30 pm .
Georgina Blakemore
Chief Executive
Democratic Services
Officer

Gary Woodhall
Tel: (01992) 564243
Email: democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Members:
Councillors B Sandler (Chairman), S Jones (Vice-Chairman), H Brady, D Dorrell, I Hadley,
S Heap, H Kauffman, J Lea, G Mohindra, R Morgan, J Philip, C C Pond, C Roberts, B Rolfe
and J M Whitehouse

SUBSTITUTE NOMINATION DEADLINE:

18:30
1.

WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION
(Corporate Communications Manager) This meeting is to be webcast. On behalf of the
Chairman, the Senior Democratic Services Officer will read the following
announcement:
“I would like to remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live to the
internet (or filmed) and will be capable of repeated viewing (or another use by third
parties).
If you are seated in the lower public seating area then it is likely that the recording
cameras will capture your image and this will result in the possibility that your image
will become part of the broadcast.
This may infringe your human and data protection rights and if you wish to avoid this
then you should move to the upper public gallery.

1

District Development Management Committee

Wednesday, 22 January 2020

Could I please also remind Members to activate their microphones before speaking”.
2.

ADVICE FOR PUBLIC & SPEAKERS AT PLANNING COMMITTEES (Pages 5 - 6)
(Democratic Services Manager) General advice for those persons attending the
meeting of the Committee is attached as an appendix to this agenda.

3.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
(Democratic Services Manager) To be announced at the meeting.

4.

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS
(Democratic Services Manager) To report the appointment of any substitute members
for the meeting.

5.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
(Monitoring Officer) To declare interests in any item on the agenda.

6.

MINUTES
(Democratic Services Manager) To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the
Committee held on 18 September 2019 (previously circulated).

7.

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN SUBMISSION VERSION - PLANNING
POLICY BRIEFING NOTE
(Service Director – Planning) A Planning Policy Briefing Note (March 2018) has been
produced by the Planning Policy Team to ensure that a consistent approach is taken
to the provision of planning policy advice for the District, particularly in relation to the
Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version, which was published on 18
December 2017.
The primary purpose of the Planning Policy Briefing Note is to inform the development
management process and to provide assistance for Development Management
Officers, Councillors, applicants and planning agents. The Planning Policy Briefing
Note is available at:
http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-BriefingNote_Mar-2018.pdf

8.

PLANNING APPLICATION EPF/2217/19 - LAND AT POTASH ROAD, MATCHING
GREEN, ESSEX (Pages 7 - 30)
(Service Director - Planning) To consider the attached report for the erection of two
dwelling houses (revised design 3) including the removal of existing underground
storage tanks; this application was referred from Area Planning Sub-Committee East
on 27 November 2019.

2

District Development Management Committee
9.

Wednesday, 22 January 2020

PLANNING APPLICATION EPF/2503/19 - LAND TO THE NORTH OF DOWDING
WAY, WALTHAM ABBEY (Pages 31 - 188)
(Service Director - Planning) To consider the attached report.

10.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
(Democratic Services Manager) Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972
requires that the permission of the Chairman be obtained, after prior notice to the
Chief Executive, before urgent business not specified in the agenda (including a
supplementary agenda of which the statutory period of notice has been given) may be
transacted.

11.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
Exclusion
(Democratic Services Manager) To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the
Local Government Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the
meeting for the items of business set out below on grounds that they will involve the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part
1 of Schedule 12A of the Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section
100(A)(2):
Agenda Item
Nil

Subject
None

Paragraph Number
Nil

The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24
hours prior to the meeting.
Background Papers
(Democratic Services Manager) Article 17 (Access to Information) of the Constitution
defines background papers as being documents relating to the subject matter of the
report which in the Proper Officer's opinion:
(a)

disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the
report is based; and

(b)

have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not
include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential
information and in respect of executive reports, the advice of any political
advisor.

The Council will make available for public inspection one copy of each of the
documents on the list of background papers for four years after the date of the
meeting. Inspection of background papers can be arranged by contacting either the
Responsible Officer or the Democratic Services Officer for the particular item.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

Advice to Public and Speakers at Council Planning Sub-Committees
Are the meetings open to the public?

Yes all our meetings are open for you to attend. Only in special circumstances are the public
excluded.
When and where is the meeting?
Details of the location, date and time of the meeting are shown at the top of the front page of the
agenda along with the details of the contact officer and Members of the Sub-Committee.
Can I speak?
If you wish to speak you must register with Democratic Services by 4.00 p.m. on the day
before the meeting. Ring the number shown on the top of the front page of the agenda.
Speaking to a Planning Officer will not register you to speak; you must register with Democratic
Service. Speakers are not permitted on Planning Enforcement or legal issues.
Who can speak?
Three classes of speakers are allowed: One objector (maybe on behalf of a group), the local
Parish or Town Council and the Applicant or his/her agent.
What can I say?
You will be allowed to have your say about the application but you must bear in mind that you are
limited to three minutes. At the discretion of the Chairman, speakers may clarify matters relating
to their presentation and answer questions from Sub-Committee members.
If you are not present by the time your item is considered, the Sub-Committee will determine the
application in your absence.
Can I give the Councillors more information about my application or my objection?
Yes you can but it must not be presented at the meeting. If you wish to send further
information to Councillors, their contact details can be obtained through Democratic Services or
our website www.eppingforestdc.gov.uk. Any information sent to Councillors should be copied to
the Planning Officer dealing with your application.
How are the applications considered?
The Sub-Committee will consider applications in the agenda order. On each case they will listen
to an outline of the application by the Planning Officer. They will then hear any speakers’
presentations.
The order of speaking will be (1) Objector, (2) Parish/Town Council, then (3) Applicant or his/her
agent. The Sub-Committee will then debate the application and vote on either the
recommendations of officers in the agenda or a proposal made by the Sub-Committee. Should
the Sub-Committee propose to follow a course of action different to officer recommendation, they
are required to give their reasons for doing so.
The Subcommittee are required to refer applications to the District Development Management
Committee where:
(a)

the Sub-Committee’s proposed decision is a substantial departure from:
(i)
(ii)

the Council's approved policy framework; or
the development or other approved plan for the area; or

Page 5

(iii)

it would be required to be referred to the Secretary of State for approval as
required by current government circular or directive;

(b)

the refusal of consent may involve the payment of compensation; or

(c)

the District Development Management Committee have previously considered the
application or type of development and has so requested; or

(d)

the Sub-Committee wish, for any reason, to refer the application to the District
Development Management Committee for decision by resolution.

Further Information?
Can be obtained through Democratic Services or our leaflet ‘Your Choice, Your Voice’

Page 6

Item 8
Epping Forest DistrictAgenda
Council
Agenda Item Number 8

EFDC
81.7m
Dra
in
7
6

Stock Farm

Elmbridge House

Kennels

Moat

EFDC

FB

Stock Hall
FB

Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

Application Number:
Moat

EPF/2217/19

Site Name:

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

Scale of Plot:

Land at Potash Road
Matching Green Essex CM17 0RN
1:1250

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Report to District Development
Management Committee
Report Reference:
Date of Meeting:

EPF/2217/19
22 January 2020

Address:

Land at Potash Road, Matching Green, Essex, CM17 0RN

Subject:

Planning Application for the erection of two dwelling houses (Revised
Design 3) including the removal of existing underground storage tanks.

Responsible Officer:

Sukhi Dhadwar

(01992 564597)

Democratic Services:

Gary Woodhall

(01992 564470)

Recommendation(s):
This application carried an officer recommendation to refuse permission when reported
to Area Plans Sub-Committee East at their meeting on 27 November 2019. The reasons
for refusal were:
(1)

The site is located within land designated as Metropolitan Green Belt where
there is presumption against inappropriate development. The proposal
would result in significantly greater impact on openness than the existing
development and is therefore inappropriate development by definition
harmful. No very special circumstances or other considerations have been
advanced that would outweigh the harm caused by the inappropriateness
and the other harm identified, and the development would therefore conflict
with Chapter 13 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy GB2A
and GB7A of the Combined Policies of Epping Forest District Local Plan and
alterations 2008 and DM4 of the Submission Version of the Local Plan.

(2)

The application does not provide sufficient information to satisfy the
Council, as competent authority, that the development has not adversely
affected the integrity of the Epping Forest Special Area for Conservation and
there are no alternative solutions or imperative reasons of overriding public
interest why the development should be permitted. As such the development
is contrary to Policies CP1 and CP6 of the Epping Forest Local Plan (1998)
and Alterations (2006), Policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the Epping Forest District
Local Plan Submission Version (2017) and the requirements of the Habitats
Regulations 2017.

This application has been included within the agenda of this committee as a
consequence of the motion for approval of the application being supported by the
majority of members of the East Area Planning Committee. This then resulted in four
members of this Committee standing up in order to require that no action be taken on
this application until it be considered by members of the District Development
Management Committee.
The officer’s original report to the East Area Planning Committee is reproduced below.

Page 9

This application is before this Committee since it has been ‘called in’ by Councillor
Richard Morgan (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of Delegation,
Appendix 3).
Site and Surroundings
The application site is located within a sporadic area of development to the east of Matching
Green. Access to the site is through a private road, over which the applicant has right of
access to and which adjoins Potash Road to the north.
To the immediate north are two neighbouring bungalow style dwellings, whose rear gardens
are approximately 21m long and back onto the application site. The adjacent land to the
west is frequently used as a paddock for horses, the land to the immediate south is used as
a ménage for their exercise, the barn to the north east of the site is used for their stabling
and the large barn to the south, separated by a moat, is a large barn used as an indoor
training area and stable. Elmbridge House is located to the west of the site beyond the
paddocks at a distance of approximately 80m from the site.
Currently on the site there are various underground storage tanks however the only visible
features are the pipework that connects them and an above ground, rather dilapidated
looking single storey building. The site is located within the boundaries of the Metropolitan
Green Belt. It is not in a Conservation Area.
Description of Proposal:
Permission is sought for the construction of two detached houses.
House 1 is three bedroomed and has an L shaped layout of which the main stem measures
17m by 6m, the western wing measures 6m by 7m.
House 2 also has an L shaped layout of which the stem measures 16m by 6m and the
southern wing measures 8m by 6m.
Both houses have maximum height of 4.5m to the ridge of their gable roofs. Both houses
contain 4 rooflights in the roof.
External finishes include Black weatherboard cladding, Solar tile PV panels and slated roof,
grey aluminium sliding doors and windows. A 1.6m high close boarded fence and 2m high
green hedge is proposed along the boundary.
Access is proposed via the gravel track off Potash Road into a gated drive on the eastern
boundary of the site.
Relevant History:
Reference
CLD/EPF/0173/99

EPF/2724/16
EPF/2756/18

Description
Certificate of lawful development
application for use of land for underground
storage
Erection of two dwelling houses.
Erection of 2 no. dwellinghouses (Revised
Design 2) including removal of existing
underground storage tanks

Page 10

Decision
Lawful

Granted/Conditions
Refused

1. The site is located within land designated as Metropolitan Green Belt where
there is presumption against inappropriate development. The proposal would
result in significantly greater impact on openness than the existing
development and is therefore inappropriate development by definition
harmful. No very special circumstances or other considerations have been
advanced that would outweigh the harm caused by the inappropriateness and
the other harm identified, and the development would therefore conflict with
Chapter 13 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy GB2A and
GB7A of the Combined Policies of Epping Forest District Local Plan and
alterations 2008 and DM4 of the Submission Version of the Local Plan.
2. The proposed first floor window and balcony within the northern flank
elevation of both the houses would detract from the amenities of the adjoining
residents at 6 and 7 Potash Road as a result of the serious increase in the
real and perceived level of overlooking created. The proposal is therefore
contrary to the requirements of paragraphs 127(f) and 130 of the NPPF and
policy DBE9 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan and Alterations along
with policy DM9 of the Submission Version Local Plan..
3. The application proposes not to remove the underground tanks, therefore the
risk of leakage from the tanks and the associated infrastructure within the
ground still exists. This means that the risk associated with the tanks and the
underlying infrastructure to human health, buildings, services and controlled
waters will still remain. The proposal is therefore contrary to the requirements
of paragraph 170 of the NPPF, policy RP4 of the Adopted Local Plan and
policy DM21 of the Submission Version Local Plan.
EPF/0189/19

Erection of 2 no. dwellinghouses (Revised Refused Appeal
Design 2) including removal of existing
pending
underground storage tanks. (Revised
application to EPF/2756/18).
Reason for refusal: The site is located within land designated as Metropolitan Green
Belt where there is presumption against inappropriate development. The proposal
would result in significantly greater impact on openness than the existing
development and is therefore inappropriate development by definition harmful. No
very special circumstances or other considerations have been advanced that would
outweigh the harm caused by the inappropriateness and the other harm identified,
and the development would therefore conflict with Chapter 13 of the National
Planning Policy Framework and Policy GB2A and GB7A of the Combined Policies of
Epping Forest District Local Plan and alterations 2008 and DM4 of the Submission
Version of the Local Plan.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990 Act"),
requires that in determining any planning application regard is to be had to the provisions of
the Development Plan, so far as is material to the application and to any other material
planning considerations.
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) ("the 2004
Act") requires that planning applications should be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Page 11

The Development Plan currently comprises the saved policies of the Epping Forest District
Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006) ("the Adopted Local Plan"). The
following Adopted Local Plan policies are relevant to the determination of this application:

CP1
CP2
DBE1
DBE4
DBE9
LL1
LL9
LL10
LL11
DBE1
RP4
U3B
DBE8
ST1
ST2
ST4
ST6
H1A
GB2A
GB7A
NC1
NC4

Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives
Protecting the Quality of the Rural and Built Environment
Design of New Buildings
Design in the Green Belt
Loss of Amenity
Rural Landscape
Felling of Preserved Trees
Adequacy of Provision for Landscape Retention
Landscaping Schemes
Design of new buildings
Contaminated land
Sustainable drainage
Private amenity Space
Location of development
Accessibility of development
Road Safety
Vehicle parking standards
Housing Provision
Development in the Green Belt
Conspicuous Development
SPAs, SACs and SSSIs
Protection of Established Habitat

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK
The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or "NPPF")
was published in February 2019. It provides the framework for producing Local Plans for
housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against which applications
for planning permission are decided.
Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the NPPF
explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The National Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in preparing the
development plan, and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning policies
and decisions must also reflect relevant international obligations and statutory
requirements.2"
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable development
and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c)
approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or
d)
where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date7, granting permission unless:
i.
the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed 6; or

Page 12

ii.
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole."
Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.
In summary, the effect of footnote 7 is that where a local planning authority is unable to
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites in accordance with paragraph 73
of the NPPF, or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was
substantially below (that is less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the previous
three years, “the policies which are most important for determining the application” are
deemed to be “out-of-date”, so that the presumption in favour of sustainable development
applies and planning permission should be granted unless either sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) is
satisfied.
For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 6 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of
particular importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176)
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, or
Local Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage
assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF); and areas at risk of
flooding.
The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not, however, change the
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. In
accordance with paragraph 213 of the NPPF and subject to paragraph 11 d) and footnote 7
referred to above, policies in the development plan should not be considered out-of-date
simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight
should be given to such policies according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in
other words the closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in the NPPF, the
greater the weight that may be given to them).
In addition to paragraph 11, the following policies in the NPPF are relevant to this
application:
Paragraph
108 - 110
Paragraph
117
Paragraph
124
Paragraph
127
Paragraph
130
Paragraph
131
Paragraph
133
Paragraph
143 - 145
EMERGING LOCAL PLAN
On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District Local
Plan (2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the Secretary of State
and the Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a material consideration to be
used in the determination of planning applications.
The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018. The
Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held examination
hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the examination process, the
Council has asked the Local Plan inspector to recommend modifications of the LPSV to
enable its adoption.

Page 13

During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the LPSV
were 'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public
consultation in due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2 August
2019, the Inspector provided the Council with advice on the soundness and legal compliance
of the LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter, the Inspector concluded that, at this
stage, further Main Modifications (MMs) of the emerging Local Plan are required to enable
its adoption and that, in some cases, additional work will need to be done by the Council to
establish the precise form of the MMs.
Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as material to
the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of the Framework, the
LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to:
a)
The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation,
the greater the weight that may be given);
b)
The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
c)
The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies
in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the
greater the weight that may be given).22"
Footnote 22 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan is
being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as is the
case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the previous version of the
Framework published in March 2012.
As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage, subject
to the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant weight should be
accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of Framework. The following
table lists the LPSV policies relevant to the determination of this application and officers'
recommendation regarding the weight to be accorded to each policy.
Policy
SP1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
SP2 Spatial Development Strategy 2011-2033
SP3 Place Shaping
H1 Housing Mix and Accommodation Types
T1 Sustainable Transport Choices
DM2 Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA
DM3 Landscape Character, Ancient Landscapes and Geodiversity
DM4 Green Belt
DM5 Green and Blue Infrastructure
DM9 High Quality Design
DM10 Housing Design and Quality
DM11 Waste Recycling Facilities on New Development
DM15 Managing and Reducing Flood Risk
DM16 Sustainable Drainage Systems
DM17 Protecting and Enhancing Watercourses and Flood Defences
DM18 On Site Management of Waste Water and Water Supply
DM19 Sustainable Water Use
DM21 Local Environmental Impacts, Pollution and Land

Page 14

Weight afforded
Significant
Some
Significant
Some
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant

Contamination
DM22 Air Quality

Significant

Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received
Number of neighbours consulted: 9
Responses received:
ELMBRIDGE HOUSE: COMMENT: We agree with the proposal subject to the remedial
works that are carried out to the removal of the tanks are completed successfully and a
validation certificate is issued. We also are concerned on the utilities supply to the
surrounding area, we have poor water supply currently and expect the same if not improved
service once the construction has been completed.
Access to our property should not be impeded at any time and works carried out only
midweek and between the hours of 08.00 and 17.00 hours.
6 AND 7 POTASH ROAD –SUPPORT– Reduces the adverse impact of development in the
Green Belt relating to height and size as well as a design in keeping with neighbouring
buildings.
2: Reduces the potential for people and traffic movements adjacent to my property and over
the access road which I use to access my property.
3: Minimises the disruption of clearing the Site and subsequent building work.
4: By association improves the safety of the people and horses who are involved in the
working equestrian establishment of Stock Farm, which completely surrounds this ‘island
development Site’, not only during development but in the future as well.
Due care and attention to the neighbouring properties and animals.
As mentioned before, we have no issue for the improvements to occur on the site but all the
above must be complied with for us to agree the proposals.
2 LEA HALL BUNGALOWS DUNMOW ROAD: SUPPORT the application
STOCK FARM POTASH ROAD: NO OBJECTION
PARISH COUNCIL: SUPPORT the application
ESSEX COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AUTHORITY: From a highway and transportation
perspective the Highway Authority has no objections to make on this proposal as it is not
contrary to the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011, policies ST4 & ST6 of the Local Plan
and policy T1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH (LAND CONTAMINATION): Updated memo
The phase I desk study report has now been thoroughly reviewed by the council external
consultant. The feedback in full and what is required for submission to the council is
provided below:
The Phase I report (ref. 0984-P1E-1-B) and Proposed Scope of Works (ref.0984-P2E-1AScope), both dated August 2019, relating to potential contamination issues at the above
site has been reviewed and I have the following comments to make regarding its content:
The Phase I report satisfactorily addresses the requirements for submission of a desktop
study, in that it is signed, countersigned and dated, contains: relevant information of a site

Page 15

walkover performed; background information for the site and surrounding area; details of
previous site investigations undertaken; a conceptual site model (CSM); and a preliminary
risk assessment identifying active contaminant linkages; and conclusions.
Historic maps show potential contamination on-site from the previous use of the land as a
military fuel storage depot, and more latterly as a chemical storage depot. The wider
surrounding, up to >250m has also been used for military purposes, along with agricultural
fields. There are no landfills within 250m of the site boundary. The Phase I report undertook
a site walkover, noting the land planned for development as currently unused. A single
building on the site may possibly contain asbestos containing materials (investigations of this
sort were beyond the scope of the report). A total of six access covers representing six
underground storage tanks (USTs) were identified. No details were provided as to whether
the USTs had been decommissioned. No visual or olfactory signs of contamination were
recorded.
Contaminants of concern include, metals, hydrocarbons, PAHs, pesticides and ACMs. Given
the previous land use and presence of USTs, a significant depth of made ground can be
expected. A site investigation was previously undertaken in 2017 (report ref. 0984-PGE-1).
While this report has not been submitted to the LPA as part of this application, the Phase I
outlines the main findings. Following seven soil samples analysed contaminants above
guideline values were recorded for metals, TPH, PAHs and VOCs. Significant increases
above GACs were noted for PAHs (BaP, BbF and BaA) and VOC vapours (Benzene and
1,2,4 Trimethylbenzene). Given the surrounding historic military land use and the known
thickness of superficial deposits with high leaching potential, migration of contaminants, via
the perched groundwater pathway, have to be considered. The existing building is planned
to be demolished and therefore without an asbestos survey to identify any ACMs present,
there is potential for asbestos to impact surface soils. Of the eighteen contaminant linkages
listed in the preliminary CSM, a high risk rating was attributed to the inhalation of asbestos
fibres to site workers. A moderate risk rating was attributed to the ingestion of these
contaminants via the home grown produce pathway, the inhalation of VOCs, the migration of
contaminants via groundwater, as well as the inhalation of asbestos fibres to end users. A
moderate/low risk rating is attributed to the direct contact, inhalation and ingestion of
potentially contaminated soil. No risk is attributed to ground gas following the previous site
investigation results. However, these results have not been provided to assess if monitoring
was undertaken in accordance with best practice, as stipulated under CIRIA C665. The
report therefore proposes an intrusive site investigation. This should include sampling at
both the surface of soils, as well as at depth to determine the potential for the contaminative
impact on soils and perched groundwater. Without further information showing the extent of
previous gas monitoring undertaken, the site investigation should further include gas
monitoring to determine the potential for ground gases.
The Scope of Works report describes the proposed site investigation, providing details of
sampling techniques to be undertaken following the removal of the six USTs, the number of
targeted samples to be taken (including a sampling plan in the appendices), quality control
for sampling and storage of soil samples, and the contaminant suite of chemicals to be
tested. The site investigation proposed is considered satisfactory and the proposed number
of samples sufficient. It is considered that works described are designed to inform the CSM
and to determine the extent of any remediation required to allow the site to be fit for the
purpose of a residential with garden end use.
After review of the Phase I and Scope of Works reports, the following information is required
to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) for approval:-

Page 16

1.

Further details of the previous site investigation (2017) which shows the extent of
gas monitoring undertaken. Where this cannot be provided further gas monitoring
will be required;

2.

An intrusive site investigation, as described in the Scope of Works report.
Sampling of soils should include a satisfactory number taken throughout the soil
profile, at each depth, to ensure confidence in assessing risks from all
contaminant pathways;

3.

An asbestos survey for the building planned for demolition, and where ACMs are
identified a Method Statement which describes how ACMs will be safely removed
off site and disposed of, without impacting surface soils.

Should the LPA be minded to grant planning permission I would recommend that the
following conditions remain on the decision Notice:SCN57 - Contaminated Land (PC)
SCN58 - Contaminated Land - Approval of Verification Report
SCN59 - Contaminated Land - Not Previously Identified Any proposed gas monitoring should
be undertaken in accordance with best practice as outlined in BS5756:2013, BS 8485:2015,
Claire RB17 and CIRIA C665. All site investigation works should be undertaken in
accordance with BS10175:2011 (as stipulated in the Scope of Works report). Failure to
comply with these documents could result in further delays to the discharge of contaminated
land conditions.
LAND DRAINAGE TEAM: The site does not lie within an Epping Forest District Council
flood risk assessment zone.
Any works to or within eight metres of an open or piped watercourse will require Land
Drainage Consent. For further information on the Land Drainage consent process or to find
the application forms the applicant should visit the link below.
http://www.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/index.php/residents/yourenvironment/
drainage/flooding and land drainage
The applicant has no proposal to dispose of foul sewage. Further details are required.
Please add condition SCN16 requiring approval of foul drainage details by the Local
Planning Authority prior to preliminary groundworks commencing.
The applicant is proposing to dispose of surface water by sustainable drainage
system/soakaway. The geology of the area is predominantly clay and infiltration drainage
may not be suitable for the site. Further details are required. Please add condition SCN16
requiring approval of surface water drainage details by the Local Planning Authority prior to
preliminary groundworks commencing No objection to planning application in principle,
subject to the approval/implementation of the requirements set out above by this team.
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main issues for consideration in this case are:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

The principle of development;
The impact on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation.
The impact on the Green Belt;
The impact on the character and appearance of the locality;
Highway safety and parking provision;
The impact to the living conditions of neighbours;

Page 17

g) Residential amenity space for future occupiers;
Principle of Development
The application site is not allocated for development in the LPSV. The site was not assessed
as part of the site selection process informing the preparation of the emerging Local Plan.
Furthermore the policy team have advised us that the air quality modelling has been done on
the basis of the allocated sites and limited windfall sites within the later years of the plan. So
on that basis any net increase in dwellings has an impact on air quality that has not been
assessed and therefore will have an increased impact beyond what has been modelled in
the Council’s Habitat’s Regulations Assessment 2019.
Additional ‘windfall’ sites will be permissible under Part B of Policy SP 2, within defined
settlement boundaries, where they comply with all other relevant policies of the Local Plan.
This site is located within Green Belt and therefore is outside of the defined settlement
boundary of urban areas. It is for this reason that there are more sequentially preferable
sites within the Districts in terms of their sustainability. The proposal is therefore contrary to
this policy.
Green Belt
Government Guidance states that new development within the Green Belt is inappropriate
unless it falls within the list of exceptions set out in paragraphs 145 and 146 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). And provided it does not harm the openness of the
Green Belt or conflict with the five purposes of including land within it than the existing
development.
Local Policy GB2A is broadly in compliance with the aims and objectives of national Green
Belt Policy. The NPPF states that one of the exceptions to inappropriate development within
the Green Belt is the limited infilling or partial or complete redevelopment of previously
developed sites, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings)
which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes
of including land within it than the existing development.
Background
Planning permission was granted by members of the East Area Planning Committee held on
15 February 2017. under reference EPF/2724/16 for the demolition and removal of the
existing building, the pipework and the underground storage tanks and to erect two new
dwellings in their place. The buildings would be detached and semi underground structures.
The previous case officer found that the existing building on the site has a volume of
approximately 108 cubic metres. The approved two replacement dwellings which have a
total above ground volume of 250 cubic metres would increase the above ground volume on
the site by 142 cubic metres. This is volumetric increase of 131% of above ground built form
on this Green Belt site.
Members justified this decision on the basis that whilst the volume of the development was
greater than that currently on the site, the benefit of remediating the site to provide housing,
along with the innovative sunken design of the bungalows was considered to clearly
outweigh the harm to the openness of the Green Belt and all the other harms identified.
Refused scheme under reference EPF/2756/18

Page 18

The refused scheme sought to build two houses with an above ground total volume of 942
cubic metres. This was 8 times the volume of the existing building. It also had a height
which is almost the double that of the existing structure. The existing structure is 4m high to
the ridge of its roof.
The redevelopment of the underground storage unit for housing would therefore intensify the
built form of development within the Green Belt. This would be harmful to the open character
of the site. The proposal is therefore by definition inappropriate development.
The applicant argued that further investigations of the soil found the cost of remediation was
prohibitive, however, no evidence of the remedial costs were submitted with the application.
Furthermore the Land Contamination team advised that if the tanks are not removed the risk
associated with the tanks and the underlying infrastructure to human health, buildings,
services and controlled waters will remain and as a result will pose a risk to the health of
future occupiers of the site. It is for this reason that the reduction in the level of remediation
diminishes very special circumstances used to justify the original smaller permission.
Furthermore the removal of the 2 dimensional hardstanding did not outweigh the permanent
harm resulting from the 3 dimensional houses and paraphernalia.
It is for these reasons that these arguments were insufficient to clearly outweigh the harm to
the openness of the green belt and all other harms. The proposal also posed a risk to
human health, buildings, services and controlled water and would result in overlooking to
neighbouring properties as a result of the proposed position of the balconies.
Refused scheme under reference EPF/0189/19
The floor area was reduced from 139 sqm to 126 sqm, however the dimensions of the two
houses are not materially different from that previously refused. Furthermore no viability
assessment has been submitted to demonstrate that the approved scheme is unviable due
to the cost of remediation and that the proposed scheme would be. The previous
justification for refusal on Green Belt grounds therefore still applies in this case.
It is for these reasons that these arguments were insufficient to clearly outweigh the harm to
the openness of the green belt and all other harms.
Current Scheme
The gross internal area of house 1 is 118 square metres and house 2 has a gross internal
area of 116 square metres. They both have a total above ground volume of 843 cubic
metres. This is over 300% more than the previously approved scheme. It is therefore
inappropriate development by definition. It is noted that the height of the proposal does not exceed the height of the previously
approved scheme and that the proposal will a large proportion of the existing hardscaping
and replace it with soft landscaping. However these benefits were applied to the approved
scheme and therefore this scheme does not offer additional benefits over and above that
already approved. In any case the additional volume through its physical presence and the
fact that it would be visible from long views around the site will result in a development which
will be harmful to the openness of the site.
The proposal therefore conflicts with Green Belt policy within the NPPF, policy GB2A of the
Local Plan and policy DM4 of the Submission Local Plan.
Very special circumstances

Page 19

Paragraph 144 of the NPPF requires that inappropriate development is by definition harmful
to the Green Belt. It is for this reason that it would need to be demonstrated that there are
very special circumstances which would clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt as a
result of inappropriateness of the development and all other harms.
The applicant has submitted a viability report which demonstrates that the approved scheme
under EPF/2724/16 is unviable and that the application proposal will return a profit of 18.7%.
The figures have not been verified by the Council’s independent viability consultants and the
financial returns of a scheme is not a public benefit and therefore does not clearly outweigh
the harm to the Green Belt as a result of inappropriateness of the development and all other
harms.
Five Year Housing Supply
Paragraph 73 (in conjunction with footnote 7 of paragraph11d) of the NPPF requires that
housing applications cannot be considered up to date if the Council cannot currently
demonstrate a five-year housing supply, however this policy is overridden by footnote 6 of
paragraph 11d of the NPPF which requires that the proposal should be restricted because it
is contrary to Green Belt policy. This is confirmed by the National Planning Policy Guidance
on Housing and economic land availability assessment which unequivocally states that a
lack of a 5-year housing supply is not sufficient in its self to justify development within the
Green Belt. It reads “Unmet housing need is unlikely to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt
and other harm to constitute the “very special circumstances” justifying inappropriate
development on a site within the Green Belt”. It is therefore considered that the modest
social and economic benefits arising from the creation of one house are insufficient to clearly
outweigh the harm to the openness of the Green Belt and all other harms.
It is for these reasons that there are insufficient very special circumstances to clearly
outweigh harm to the purposes of the Green Belt and all other harms and as such the
proposal conflicts with the requirements of chapter 13 of the NPPF and Policy GB2A of the
Local Plan (1998/2006) and DM4 of the Submission Version Plan 2017.
Ecology
The Habitat and Protected Species Ecology Report 2016 by Amphibian, Reptile and
Mammal Conservation Limited found that “The habitat survey found that there are no
habitats of ecological importance that will be adversely affected by the proposed
development and which would require mitigation or compensation in order to maintain the
local biodiversity resource.
The desk study highlighted several protected species (two species of bats, Badgers, Great
Crested Newts and one species of reptile) as occurring in the surrounding area.
The site assessment, however, found that there is no suitable habitat present for bats to
roost within any part of the proposed footprint and no evidence of Badger activity was
detected on the site.
There is only one potential Great Crested Newt breeding site within 500 metres of the
proposed footprint; this is located on private land at Stock Hall immediately to the south of
the site. No attempt was made to access this private site as the assessment was
commissioned outside of the main spring amphibian breeding season (March – May
inclusive).

Page 20

Although there are no proven Great Crested Newt records from the moat, it is highly likely
that it has never been surveyed for this species due to its location on private land. It is
therefore recommended that a survey for this species is undertaken at the appropriate time
of the year during the breeding season, subject to access consent from the landowner.”
It is therefore recommended that a condition be attached to any permission requiring further
survey work be carried out. It is on this basis that the proposal complies with the
requirements of policy NC4 of the Local Plan and DM1 of the SVLP.
Impact on the Epping Forest SAC
Biodiversity features within, or associated with, a Special Area of Conservation enjoy a high
level of protection under UK and EU law, and national planning policy in England. The
provisions of the EU Habitats Directive are given effect in UK law by the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended ("the Habitats Regulations").
Under the Habitats Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC is classified as a ‘European Site’
and, as such, any plans and projects (including applications for planning permission) that are
likely, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects, to have a significant effect
on the SAC must be subject to an assessment, known as an Appropriate Assessment
("AA"). The purpose of an AA is to ascertain whether any development plan or proposal,
either alone or in combination, will not harm the integrity of the European Site.
The Council has a legal duty as the ‘competent authority’ under the Habitats Regulations to
protect the Epping Forest SAC from the effects of development (both individually and in
combination). Two specific issues relating to new development within the District have been
identified as being likely to have a significant effect on the integrity of the Epping Forest
SAC. Firstly, the increased levels of visitors using the Forest for recreation arising from new
development (referred to as "recreational pressure"). Secondly, damage to the health of the
protected habitats and species of flora within the Forest, including trees and potentially the
heathland habitats, from air pollution generated by increased motor vehicle usage (referred
to as "air quality").
As regards visitor numbers, the adopted Interim Mitigation Strategy identifies that any
additional residential development located within 6.2km of the Epping Forest SAC would be
likely to have a significant effect when considered alone or in combination with other plans /
projects. The application site is located over 10 km from the Epping Forest SAC.
As regards air quality, all proposals that result in additional residential development and / or
employment development within the entire District would be likely to have an impact on the
Epping Forest SAC when considered alone or in combination with other plans / projects.
Policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the LPSV provide the policy context for dealing with the effect of
development on the integrity of the Epping Forest SAC outlined above. The Council
commissioned a Habitats Regulations Assessment (January 2019) of the LPSV ("the 2019
HRA"), produced by AECOM, which has been published on the Council Local Plan
Examination website. The 2019 HRA includes an Appropriate Assessment of the planned
development within the LPSV and the effect of that development on the Epping Forest SAC.
The 2019 HRA concluded that, subject to securing the urbanisation/recreational pressure
and air quality mitigation measures to which the Council, the adoption of the Local Plan will
have no adverse effect on the Epping Forest SAC.
However, following their review of the 2019 HRA, Natural England maintained their objection
to the Local Plan, citing a number of specific concerns about the HRA. The Local Plan
Inspector has advised that it is not currently possible to conclude beyond reasonable

Page 21

scientific doubt that the LPSV will not adversely affect the integrity of the SAC and has
advised the Council of the actions considered necessary to resolve this.
Recreational Pressure
In respect of recreational pressure, the Local Plan Inspector has advised that the adopted
Interim Mitigation Strategy will address the effects of development within 3km of the Epping
Forest SAC. The Interim Mitigation Strategy requires the payment of a financial contribution
of £352 for Strategic Access Management and Monitoring ("SAMM") per net additional
dwelling for development within 0-3 km of the Epping Forest SAC.
The applicant site is beyond of the 3km radius around the SAC and therefore is not required
to pay this contribution.
Air Quality
The Interim Mitigation Strategy referred to above does not, however, address the significant
effect that all residential and employment development within the District is likely to have on
the SAC with regards to air quality. There is currently no interim approach to managing air
quality for the District and the Council and other partner organisations continue to work
together to identify an acceptable air quality mitigation strategy.
As a consequence, and in light of the Local Plan Inspector’s interim advice, the Council, as
competent authority, cannot lawfully grant planning permission for any development
proposals within the District that are likely to have an air pollution impact on the Epping
Forest SAC, save where a site-specific appropriate assessment (AA) demonstrates that the
granting permission will not have such an effect in respect of air quality.
The proposed development would result in increased vehicular movements. Air quality
modelling has been done on the basis of the allocated sites and limited windfall sites within
the later years of the plan. The permission for two houses approved under reference
EPF/2724/16 has not been implemented. It is on this basis that any net increase in
dwellings will have an impact on air quality that has not been assessed and therefore will
have an increased impact beyond what has been modelled in the Council’s Habitat’s
Regulations Assessment 2019. Given that the potential impact on the SAC is still being
determined, paragraph 177 of the NPPF requires that the presumption in favour of
sustainable development does not apply.
Design
The contemporary design of the houses is of good quality which will preserve the character
and appearance of the area in accordance with chapter 12 of the NPPF and policy DBE 1 of
the Local Plan.
Quality of resulting residential accommodation
The proposed house is of a good standard of design; provides a good standard of internal
space, outlook, ventilation, and access and amenity space in accordance with paragraph 17
of the NPPF and supplementary guidance contained within the Essex Design Guide.
Impact on neighbouring amenity
The houses have an above ground height of 4.5m and all neighbouring properties are
sufficiently distant as to ensure that their living conditions will not be additionally affected
over and above the approved scheme in terms of light, outlook or privacy.

Page 22

Issues concerning method and times of construction can be controlled by condition.
The proposal therefore meets the requirements of policy DBE9 of the Local Plan and DM9 of
the Submission Version Plan.
Land contamination
The Land Contamination Officer has advised that the site was previously used as a WW2
Military Bulk Fuel Storage Depot and 1970s Chemical Storage Depot and the presence of
made ground. After reviewing the submitted information, he recommends that further land
contamination conditions are required to ensure that adverse impacts on the environment
and human health is minimised in accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 178 -179
of the NPPF, policy RP4 of the Local Plan and policy DM21 of the Submission Version Local
Plan.
The Land Contamination Officer has advised that the site was previously used as a laundry
with a gasworks in the south of the site, garage and works to the east of the site and a
Brickfield to the north. After reviewing the submitted information, he recommends that a
remediation strategy and verification plan will be required prior to remediation works
commencing on site. Further land contamination conditions are therefore recommended. To
meet the requirements of paragraphs 178 -179 of the NPPF, policy RP4 of the Local Plan
and policy DM21 of the Submission Version Local Plan.
Highways
Sufficient parking provision has been made to accord with the requirements of ST6 of the
Local Plan. The Highways Authority is satisfied that the access arrangements are
acceptable. The proposal therefore accords with the requirements of ST4 of the Local Plan.
It is for these reasons that the proposal meets the requirements of policy T1 of the SVLP.
Sustainability
The proposal will include a plant room for an air source heat pump and rainwater collection,
which is incorporated into the form of the building. The materials used to construct the
building with materials which have a lower Global Warming Potential (GWP) then standard
materials, low energy lighting will be installed and solar PV tiles will be installed on the roof,
rainwater harvesting and recycling, water saving devices, and sustainable materials. The
car parking spaces would also be required to include electric charging points by condition.
These .Energy efficient design features are proposed for this application will reduce the
carbon foot print of the building in this unsustainable location. The proposal therefore
complies with the requirements of DM 19 and DM20 of the SVLP.
Other matters
The Grade II listed Stock Hall is sufficiently distant to ensure that it’s setting will not be
materially affected.
There is no material change in the impact of the proposal on the health and stability of trees,
landscaping, parking and access will all remain the same.
Green Belt Balance /Conclusion

Page 23

The proposal is considered to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt and in
addition it will have a serious physical adverse impact on the openness of the site and on the
aims and purposes of the Green Belt.
The permission for two houses approved under reference EPF/2724/16 has not been
implemented. It is on this basis any net increase in dwellings will have an impact on air
quality that has not been assessed and therefore will have an increased impact beyond what
has been modelled in the Council’s Habitat’s Regulations Assessment 2019. Given that the
potential impact on the SAC is still being determined, paragraph 177 of the NPPF requires
that the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply.
No very special circumstances have been demonstrated which clearly outweigh the harm
identified above. The proposal is therefore unsustainable development and as a result
chapter 13 and paragraph 177 of the NPPF along with Green Belt and habitat protection
policies contained within the Local Plan and SVLP require that it should be restricted.
Refusal is therefore recommended.

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Sukhi Dhadwar
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564597or if no direct contact can be made
please email: contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Page 24

Page 25

Page 26

Page 27

Page 28

Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Report to District Development
Management Committee
Date of Meeting: 22nd January 2020
Site Address: Land to the North of Dowding Way, Waltham
Abbey, EN9 3YX

Application Number:

EPF/2503/19

Application Type:

Hybrid planning application

Proposal:

Hybrid application
Statement)

(accompanied

by

an

Environmental

Phase 1: Full planning application for the erection of 1no.
building for use as a warehouse (Use Class B8) with
ancillary accommodation & photo studio (sui generis)
with gatehouse, sprinkler tanks & pumphouse,
substation, fuel island, vehicle wash, attenuation ponds
and associated works; 1no. multi-storey car park with
associated bridge link, along with access & servicing
arrangements, landscaping & external amenity areas,
roof-mounted photovoltaic array; creation of signalised
junction to A121 and shared foot and cycle links including
a connection to the Public Right of Way network.
Phase 2: outline planning application for up to 22,733 square
metres (GIA) of employment floorspace (Classes B1(c),
B2 and B8) with all matters reserved.
Site Address:

Land North of Dowding Way, Waltham Abbey, Essex, EN9 3YX

Ward:

Waltham Abbey Honey Lane Ward

Parish:

Waltham Abbey

Conservation Area:

No

EFDLP Site Allocation

Yes

EFDLP Ref: WAL.E8

1

Page 33

Epping Forest SAC

Recommend approval subject to suitable resolution of the air
quality mitigation strategy in relation Epping Forest SAC, the
matters raised by Highways England in relation to Junction 26 of
the M25 motorway and the S106 planning obligations and planning
conditions noted in this report.

Applicant:

Next PLC

Agent:

Tim Rainbird, Director, Quod

Case officer:

James Rogers contact no. 01992 564 371

Democratic Services
Officer

Gary Woodhall. Contact number: 01992 564 470

Validation date:

18th October 2019

Reason for reporting
application to Members:

1.

This application is before this committee since it proposes a
‘large scale’ development as defined in Article 10 of the
Constitution.

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be GRANTED and subject to the prior completion of a s106
obligation within four months of the resolution to grant planning permission and subject
to planning conditions listed in Appendix 1 of this report.

1.1

The resolution to grant planning permission is subject to the suitable resolution of the
proposed air quality mitigation strategy in relation to the Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation and the matters raised by Highways England in relation to Junction 26
of the M25 motorway.

2.

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: WAL.E8) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission V to provide significant new employment space
within Epping Forest District. The LPSV has been independently examined by the
Local Plan Inspector through public hearings, however it has not yet been formally
adopted. Therefore, the site is currently located within the boundaries of the
Metropolitan Green Belt.
2

Page 34

2.2

Upon adoption of the LPSV, the Green Belt boundary will be amended which will
remove the site from this policy designation. However since this application has been
submitted prior to the adoption of the LPSV, the development has been assessed with
due consideration given to the Green Belt.

2.3

This report has concluded that Very Special Circumstances exist which clearly
outweighs the harm by reason of in appropriate development the Green Belt and
additional harm to its openness.

2.4

It has been found that the application will not cause harm to the local highway network,
subject to planning conditions and obligations.

2.5

The development will provide opportunities for staff, visitors and members of the public
to travel sustainably through the provision of a demand responsive bus service.

2.6

The proposal represents high quality design which would not cause harm to the living
conditions of nearby residents.

2.7

The proposal will deliver a biodiversity net gain through provision of a financial
contribution towards a habitat restoration project.

2.8

The proposal will achieve a BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’ which is within the top 10%
of non-domestic UK buildings.

2.9

Natural England (NE) has not objected to the development proposed. NE has advised
that they are satisfied that provided the proposed mitigation will result in no net
increase in vehicle movements through the Epping Forest SAC as identified by the
applicants appropriate assessment and subject to the Council being satisfied as
competent authority under the Habitat Regulations that it the proposals are
enforceable. The Council has sought legal advice and continues negotiations with the
applicant on the exact form of the proposed mitigation – in particular the ‘geofence’
around Epping Forest (The Forest) – will take. This is to ensure that there is no
significant adverse effect on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC).
The current recommendation is given subject to this issue being suitably resolved prior
to the issuing of the S106 agreement and thus the granting of planning permission.

2.10

There is an unresolved Highways England (HE) holding objection in relation to the
impact of the proposals on the strategic highway network, specifically Junction 26 of
the M25 motorway. HE advised that they are undertaking further assessment work on
the current proposals and anticipate submitting their response prior to District
Development Management Committee. The package of highways improvements
submitted by the applicant includes proposed junction improvement works to Junction
26 of the M25. The recommendation of this report is therefore subject to this issue
being suitably resolved.

3

Page 35

2.11

On the basis of the analysis undertaken within this report, it is considered that the
proposed development is compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and the emerging Local Plan (LPSV).

3.

PLANNING OBLIGATIONS AND CONDITIONS
The recommendation is given subject to conditions as set out in appendix 1 of this
report. In addition, a S106 agreement will secure the following planning obligations and
financial contributions. The obligations are grouped into sections for ease of reference:
Travel Plan

3.1

A minimum financial contribution of £650,000 towards funding a Demand Responsive
bus service.

3.2

An obligation to agree an appropriate routing strategy for the Demand Responsive bus
service.

3.3

A minimum financial contribution of £150,000 towards a specific sustainable transport
initiative {TBA}.

3.4

An obligation to implement the Interim Travel Plan in respect of Phase 1 with
appropriate review mechanisms to ensure compliance.

3.5

An obligation to implement an Interim Travel Plan in respect of Phase 2 with
appropriate review mechanisms to ensure compliance.

3.6

A minimum financial contribution of £5,000 towards Travel Plan Monitoring.

3.7

A financial contribution towards the funding of a Travel Plan Monitoring Officer {TBA}.
Highways

3.8

Improvement works to southern roundabout of Junction 26 of the M25.

3.9

Creation of a signalised junction into the site from Dowding Way.

3.10

Improvements to the existing Public Rights of Way (PROW) network.
Car Parking

3.11

A car park management scheme to be agreed for the Phase 1 development.
Operational Vehicle

3.12

A detailed route management plan in respect of HGV and LGVs to be agreed.
Epping Forest SAC

4

Page 36

3.13

A ‘geofencing’ strategy to be agreed that restricts vehicular movements through
Epping Forest SAC so that there is no net additional vehicular movements through the
Forest.
Biodiversity

3.14

A financial contribution of £69,000 towards a Priority Habitat restoration project in
Epping Forest District.
Employment and Skills

3.15

An employment and skills plan to be agreed for each phase of the development.
Completion of the S106

3.16

In the event that the required s106 obligation is not satisfactorily completed within four
months of the resolution to grant planning permission then in the absence of a suitable
mechanism to secure planning and financial obligations to mitigate the impact of
development, the Planning Services Director is authorised to refuse planning
permission
Conditions

3.17

The full list of conditions is identified in Appendix 1. In summary, the conditions will be
applied to cover the following matters:


Time Limit for commencement



Approved drawing numbers



Finished floor levels



Use of materials



Design and landscape



Highways mitigation measures



Ecology issues



SuDS and land drainage



Land contamination



Sustainability / energy



Noise and air quality mitigation

5

Page 37



External lighting strategy



Archaeology



Restrictive conditions

4.

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

4.1

Hybrid application (accompanied by an Environmental Statement)
Phase 1: Full planning application for the erection of 1no. building for use as a
warehouse (Use Class B8) with ancillary accommodation & photo studio (sui
generis) with gatehouse, sprinkler tanks & pumphouse, substation, fuel island,
vehicle wash, attenuation ponds and associated works; 1no. multi-storey car
park with associated bridge link, along with access & servicing arrangements,
landscaping & external amenity areas, roof-mounted photovoltaic array;
creation of signalised junction to A121 and shared foot and cycle links including
a connection to the Public Right of Way network.
Phase 2: outline planning application for up to 22,733 square metres (GIA) of
employment floorspace (Classes B1(c), B2 and B8) with all matters reserved.

4.2

For the purposes of this application, reference to ancillary accommodation as noted in
the description of the development, refers to the ancillary spaces for use incidental to
its operation as a distribution warehouse and photo studio, such as the staff canteen
and outdoor amenity space.

5.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1

The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES). The ES sets out
a baseline for the existing environmental conditions in the areas affected and then
identifies the likely significant effects (including possible cumulative effects) and how
any significant adverse effects are proposed to be mitigated.

5.2

The detailed assessment covers the likely significant effects on socio-economics,
transport and access, air quality, noise and vibration, archaeology, biodiversity,
landscape and visual impact, agriculture and soils. The effects have been analysed
and mitigation measures have been identified, i.e. to avoid, reduce or alleviate any
adverse impacts effects) and how any significant adverse effects are proposed to be
mitigated.

5.3

The application has been consulted on in accordance with Regulation 19.(2) of the
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Regulations 2017. The information contained
within the ES has been reviewed by officers and other information sought from the
Applicant in relation to the Interim Travel Plan, updated drawings and additional
supporting information. Further consultation was undertaken as appropriate under
Reg.2(1) and Reg.25 of the EIA Regulations 2017.
6

Page 38

5.4

The applicant did not consider different locations as part of their assessment of
reasonable alternatives. The sites allocation WAL.E8 is one of only two large scale
employment sites put forward within the Council’s LPSV and is located in close
proximity to the strategic highways network. The site was subject to thorough
consideration in the Council’s LPSV evidence base including site selection exercise in
2016 and Strategic Environmental Assessment which provides robust evidence for the
site’s inclusion in the LPSV which is at an advanced stage. The applicant has advised
that the capacity of the site provides them with the opportunity to create a purpose built
warehouse and photo studio facility in this strategic location that would in turn enable
them to focus key operations in one location, something that would not be possible
elsewhere. There has been consideration given to alternative design options through
the development of the masterplan. These design options are assessed within the
body of the report.

5.5

The ES has identified the potential for in-combination effects to arise during the
construction phase of development that could generate residual noise, and landscape
and visual effects on pedestrian and cycle receptors on the public rights of way and
the residential receptors on Beechfield Walk and Roundhills. However, the ES
identifies that the proposed Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)
and hoarding around the site would mitigate these effects as far as practicable.

5.6

The ES identifies that when completed the in-combination effects would be in relation
to residual landscape and visual effects and residual transport effects on the
pedestrian and cycle receptors on the public rights of way. This would result in
beneficial effects from footpath improvement works. Minor effects on residential
receptors on Beechfield Walk would likely arise as a result of the partial change to
views and minor noise effects from the development. Vehicular traffic on the public
highway may also experience short delays and a change in their views from the site.

5.7

The impacts and benefits are summarised in an accompanying Non-Technical
Summary. Due consideration of these factors and others has been taken throughout
the design of the scheme and, where appropriate, avoidance and mitigation measures
have been incorporated into the scheme wherever possible. The main measures are
listed in the Non-Technical Summary (Part 1), together with opportunities for
environmental enhancement.

5.8

Subject to the proposed mitigation measures, the ES in the LPA’s opinion addresses
the significant effects of the proposed development on the environment that are likely
to arise from the proposed development. The report refers to the ES in the following
sections where appropriate.

6.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

6.1

The site is an undeveloped, green field area of scrub land which extends to
approximately 14.7 hectares on land directly to the north of the A121 (Dowding Way)
and immediately to the south of the M25 motorway.

7

Page 39

6.2

The District Centre of Waltham Abbey is approximately 1.25km to the north west of the
site, across the M25. To the west of the site is a housing estate containing
approximately 108 homes on Lodge Lane and Beechfield Walk. The closest of these
dwellings is approximately 360m from the western edge of the application site.

6.3

To the west of the site is a large distribution warehouse which is operated 24 hours a
day by Sainsbury’s and is separated from the site by Sewardstone Road and a
roundabout junction.

6.4

The site is predominantly comprised of a gentle rolling topography with the exception
of a large hillock located in the south west corner of the site. There are a number of
trees on the southern boundary directly adjacent to Dowding Way, none of which are
protected with tree preservation orders. There are some significant breaks in the extent
of the existing tree line adjacent to Dowding Way and as a result the site is overtly
visible from public views from the road.

6.5

On its northern boundary there are a number of mature trees which offer some
screening from the M25. Similar to the trees on the southern boundary, there are some
significant breaks in this coverage and as such the site is visible from parts of the road.

6.6

A Public Right of Way (PRoW) runs from north to south across the parcel of land,
approximately 350m from the edge of the site and directly adjacent to the residential
development to the west. The PRoW extends to a footbridge on the southern boundary
across Dowding Way and beyond.

6.7

The site does not currently have vehicular access but can be accessed on foot from
the north, over an existing foot bridge which crosses the M25.

6.8

Junction 26 of the M25 is located approximately 700m from the eastern boundary of
the site and offers both east and west bound entry onto the M25 orbital via Dowding
Way.

6.9

The site is located within the boundaries of the Metropolitan Green Belt and has an
open, rural character.

7.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1

This site is the subject of an earlier application (EPF/1413/18) which proposed:
Hybrid: Full planning application for erection of 1 no. warehouse with ancillary
accommodation (Class B8), including access and servicing arrangements, car parking
and landscaping, roof-mounted photovoltaic array and associated works including new
vehicular access to A121 (phase 1), gatehouse and sprinkler tanks; outline planning

8

Page 40

application for up to 22,733 square metres (GIA) of employment floorspace (Classes
B1(c), B2 and B8) with all matters reserved (phase 2)
7.2

This application site has been the subject of a number of discussions with EFDC and
ECC officers as well as three Quality Review Panel meetings. As a result significant
alterations were required to the original submission which, in the view of officers were
too significant to be considered as amendments to the original scheme. The 2019
submission is therefore an evolution of the earlier 2018 application.

7.3

The 2018 scheme remains undetermined at the current time.

8.

CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS
Statutory consultees (the submitted comments in full are available on Council website
through the following link)
Secretary of State (National Casework Unit) – No comment to make

8.1

Essex County Council – No objection subject to conditions and obligations

8.2

Environment Agency – No comment received

8.3

Natural England – No objection subject to mitigation measures proposed being lawful
and enforceable.

8.4

Highways England – Currently issued a holding direction on the application.
Undertaking a review of the modelling used as part of the application.
Other external consultees (full comments available on Council website using the link
above)

8.5

London Borough of Waltham Forest – The borough consider that further information is
required to adequately determine the perceived impact in relation to congestion, traffic
safety and air quality.

8.6

The Conservators of Epping Forest – Object to the application

8.7

Invest Essex – Supports the application

8.8

CPRE – Object to the application

8.9

Thames Water – No objection to the application

8.10

Waltham Abbey Historical Society – Object to the application

8.11

Epping Forest Heritage Trust – Object to the application

9

Page 41

Internal consultees
8.12

Environmental Health – No objection subject to conditions

8.13

Urban Design – No objection subject to conditions

8.14

Tree and landscape – No objection subject to conditions

8.15

Contaminated land – No objection subject to conditions

8.16

Land Drainage – No objection subject to conditions
Town Council comment

8.17

Waltham Abbey Town Council – Object to the application
Notification

8.18

In accordance with relevant legal requirements and the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement, notification letters were sent to the occupants of 727
residential properties on 31st October 2019 and six site notices were displayed on 6th
November 2019. A press notice was published in the Epping Forest Guardian on the
3rd November 2019.

8.19

A further consultation exercise was undertaken on the 16th December 2019 and six
new site notices were displayed. Further letters were sent to neighbours notifying them
of the alterations and a new press notice was published in the Epping Forest Guardian
on the 12th December 2019.

8.20

Over the course of both consultations, 219 representations have been received in
response to the consultation on the application. The representations received identified
the following material planning considerations relevant to the determination of the
application. A table setting out all the neighbour comments received is available at
appendix 2. The comments are summarised below, for ease of reference separated
into the material considerations raised. Appendix 2 of this report gives further details
of neighbour comments.
Traffic movements
Dowding Way experiences heavy traffic at most hours of the day, with the traffic
spreading onto Meridian Way and into Waltham Cross.
The proposed clean air tax on the A10 at Junction 25 of the M25 will likely cause
vehicles to divert through Waltham Abbey to avoid the charge adding more congestion.
The additional vehicle movements as part of this proposal, would significantly increase
congestion around the area, with local back roads and roundabouts clogged up
affecting local resident’s day to day lives negatively.
10

Page 42

It is believed that adding a set of traffic lights and merge schemes will only add to
congestion.
HGVs
Likely increase in the numbers of HGVs parked along the Marriott hotel road, opposite
Junction 26 cafe/expo and along Farthingale Road which is already an issue due to
dangerous parking, littering and damage caused to grass verges and residents’
vehicles
Air Pollution
The air quality in this area is already poor and will deteriorate further if this development
goes ahead.
Extra commuter vehicles, increase in HGVs and longer journey time for existing
residents will all result in further decline of air quality.
Climate change is more prevalent than ever. Waltham Abbey Councillors recently
declared a climate emergency however this proposal is contrary to this declaration.
Passing this application will not help the district become carbon neutral in 10 years.
It will damage the woodland, heath, rivers, bogs, ponds and wildlife and put further
pressure on the Forest.
Wildlife
The development will be responsible for the displacement of wildlife as the land hosts
homes to many wildlife, which will lose their habitat.
Wildlife habitats, including those of endangered species, should be protected rather
than put at further risk
Green Belt
The site is on Green Belt land and in an area of special interest (SAC).
Green Belt areas have historically been preserved. There are plenty of brownfield sites
to be built on and re-developed if this is the start of building on valuable greenbelt it
will be highly regrettable for the local community.
The loss of greenbelt would be among more and more green and brown belt land which
is being taken up by development.
Noise Pollution

11

Page 43

More vehicles will affect not only air quality but cause an increased noise impact,
disturbing all homes and gardens nearby.
Residents already suffer the noise and constant use of the Sainsburys distribution
centre.
The extra noise from a second distribution centre along with the intense light pollution
will blight the local area.
Parking
Concerns that 300 parking spaces for 600+ employees will result in employees parking
on nearby residential roads causing further problems such as parking availability and
noise disturbance on the varied shifts.
Design
The development is out of character with Waltham Abbey’s Historic Town heritage and
forest dominated area.
The warehouse appears over-bearing, out-of-scale and too high. It would be a blight
on the rural landscape.
The development should not be visible from the Abbey side of the motorway to spoil
the view.
Concerns around the public right of way as it runs adjacent to properties and the
increased pedestrian traffic will affect privacy and threaten security.
Suggestions that the proposed path should be re-routed away from the back of houses
for a more direct route to the site.
Cycle paths and footpaths would need to go way beyond the site boundaries if they
are expected to be used and made safe to use.
Ponds are welcomed features however questions over whether these should be placed
in open public spaces so as to give something back to the community.
Public transport
Local residents already suffer due to poor public transport as the current system is
poor with an infrequent and unreliable bus service.
Attempts to get hold of cabs to/from Waltham Abbey during rush hour prove negative
as drivers do not want to spend duty time in traffic.
The above matters will only deteriorate with more people travelling in and out of the
area.
12

Page 44

There are doubts around the bus service financed by Next as residents do not believe
it will last and no other companies will fund it otherwise
Economy
Proposed jobs will not go to local people but to current relocated Next employees or to
agency workers who will commute from afar with the site’s links to M25, M11 etc.
Due to the location of the development it is unlikely that Next employees will travel into
Waltham Abbey town to shop. The staff canteen means workers won't need to leave
the premises for refreshments.
If anything, the economy of Waltham Abbey will deteriorate due to an increase in traffic
preventing visitors to the town.
Other Consultation
Quality Review Panel
8.21

8.22

Development proposals on the site have been the subject of three Quality Review
Panel (QRP) meetings. These were held on the following dates:


26th April 2018



11th October 2018



9th August 2019

The following section will give a brief summary of the key issues which were raised by
the Panel at each of the reviews:
QRP 1 – 26th April 2018

13

Page 45



Exciting opportunity to create unique and sustainable employment presence



Compressed design programme and non-sequential design process is causing
issues



Overall approach to wider site, layout, landscape architectural identity,
topography, ecology, sustainable travel and fit with context remain unresolved.



Landscape vision is needed that reflects immediate and wider context, and
acknowledges the rural character of the site.



Impact of the hillock and topography needs to be understood, and imbalance
between hard and soft landscaping should be addressed through greening and
ecological enhancement.



Need to consider amenity for significant workforce, and give clarity on spaces
being created.



Healthy and sustainable modes of transport need to be facilitated.



Applicant urged to look beyond red line boundaries in regards to stewardship,
phasing and masterplan, to ensure a high quality scheme.

QRP 2 – 11th October 2018


Considers that issues and concerns raised in review 1 remain unresolved.



The opportunity presented by Next plc’s brief for a new regional centre is great,
and current scheme is not living up to these aspirations.



Concerns over contextual fit and topography, landscape vision, and
architectural expression.



Much more work needed on landscape design, not featured in this review.



More work needed on architectural expression, exploiting the large-scale form
rather than seeking to hide it, and exploring alternative materials such as
timber, and façade options that are appropriate to the context.



Proposal would still benefit from a wider masterplan approach.



Concern that BREEAM Very Good does not match the exemplary sustainability
ambitions of Next Plc. Further information needed.



Visualisations of the scheme from different locations and distances are needed
to understand how the structure sits in the landscape.



Sections are needed to understand how the scheme relates to topography.
14

Page 46



Plans and internal spaces need more detail to understand how these will
function.



Access road as junction instead of roundabout is much improved.

QRP 3 – 9th August 2019


Helpful to see the scheme evolve and that many comments have been taken
on board. Wider masterplan exercise and landscape work has been
undertaken. Would still like to see more comprehensive landscape strategy.



Encouraged by the desire of applicants to make this building exemplary in its
type and within Next’s business.



More clarity is needed on links to the wider context and accessibility to the site,
the scheme should define these at masterplan and site plan level.



Demand Responsive Transport service is welcomed, but it is also essential that
sustainable modes of transport are promoted through convenience of access
routes and showcasing them.



Landscape should help to define routes to and through the site, and arrival
sequence needs further work. Rethink chain link fences, scope to allow
landscape to better define edges.



Scheme should be more ambitious in its sustainability targets, stepping beyond
BREEAM Excellent 2014 requirements. Commends aspiration to achieve net
zero carbon emissions. Materials should be reviewed and selected based on
embodied energy performance and construction strategy. Further analysis on
way scheme responds to solar orientation and shading.



Still an opportunity to celebrate the scale of the building, suggest a more
rigorous and robust approach to architectural expression.

8.23

Development Management Forum

8.24

The proposed development of this site was also the subject of a Development
Management Forum (DMF). In this case the DMF occurred on the 15th May 2018.

8.25

The purpose of the DMF is to allow early engagement with the local community to
ensure that any concerns and questions can be raised at an early point in the process
and used to assist in the evolution of the scheme as it progresses.

8.26

This process is part of the Council’s commitment to ensure that development proposals
of this scale are the subject of robust engagement within the local community.
Public Exhibitions

15

Page 47

8.27

In addition to the DMF, development proposals on this site were also the subject of
two unstaffed public exhibition events. The exhibitions included design boards and
feedback forms to allow the local community to raise their comments to the proposals.

8.28

The first of these occurred on the 9th and 10th July 2018 and the second series occurred
on the 15th and 16th October 2019.

9.

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

9.1

The main issues raised by the proposed development are:


Principle of development



The economy



Strategic and Local Highway network



Sustainable transport



Natural environment and green infrastructure





Habitat protection and improving biodiversity



Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation



Impact on landscape character



Trees



Historic Environment - Archaeology

Design


High quality design



Landscaping



Privacy and amenity



Climate change



Low carbon and renewable energy



Managing and reducing flood risk



Sustainable drainage



Air Quality

16

Page 48



Land contamination and pollution



Infrastructure

10.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

10.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990
Act"), requires that in determining any planning application regard is to be had to the
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as is material to the application and to any
other material planning considerations.

10.2

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) ("the
2004 Act") requires that planning applications should be determined in accordance
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

10.3

The Development Plan currently comprises the saved policies of the Epping Forest
District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006) (ALP). The list
below indicates which policies of the ALP are relevant to the determination of this
application and the degree to which officers consider that they are consistent with the
NPPF as noted in the report to the Local Plan Cabinet Committee (25th March 2013):
CP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives – Compliant
CP2 – Protecting the Quality of the Rural and Built Environment – Compliant
CP3 – New Development – Compliant
CP4 – Energy Conservation – Compliant
CP5 – Sustainable Building – Compliant
CP 6 – Achieving Sustainable Urban Development Patterns – Compliant
CP 7 – Urban Form and Quality – Compliant
CP 8 – Sustainable Urban Economic Development – Compliant
CP 9 – Sustainable Transport – Compliant
GB2A – Development in the Green Belt – Generally Compliant
GB7A – Conspicuous Development – Compliant
HC1 – Scheduled Ancient Monuments and Other Archaeological Sites – Partially
Compliant
RP3 – Water Quality – Compliant
RP4 – Contaminated Land – Compliant
17

Page 49

RP5A – Adverse Environmental Impacts – Compliant
U3B – Sustainable Drainage Systems – Compliant
DBE1 – Design of New Buildings – Compliant
DBE2 – Effect on Neighbouring Properties – Compliant
DBE3 – Design in Urban Areas - Compliant
DBE4 – Design in the Green Belt – Compliant
DBE9 – Loss of Amenity – Compliant
LL1 – Rural Landscape – Compliant
LL2 – Inappropriate Rural Development – Compliant
LL10 – Adequacy of Provision for Landscape Retention – Compliant
LL11 – Landscaping Schemes – Compliant
ST1 – Location of Development – Compliant
ST2 – Accessibility of Development – Compliant
ST4 – Road Safety – Compliant
10.4

The relevance of the identified saved Local Plan policies to the determination of this
application and the weight to be accorded to each policy are addressed in further detail
within Section 12 of this report.

11.

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK

11.1

The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or
"NPPF") was published in February 2019 and updated in June 2019. It provides the
framework for producing Local Plans for housing and other development, which in turn
provide the policies against which applications for planning permission are decided.

11.2

Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the
NPPF explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy
Framework must be taken into account in preparing the development
plan, and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning
policies and decisions must also reflect relevant international
obligations and statutory requirements.2"
18

Page 50

11.3

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
…
For decision-taking this means:
c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or

d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies
which are most important for determining the application are out-ofdate7, granting permission unless:
i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas
or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed 6; or

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole."

11.4

Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.

11.5

Paragraph 213 of the NPPF requires that policies in the existing Development Plan
should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted prior to the
publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight should be given to such policies according
to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in other words the closer the policies in
the Development Plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that may be
given to them.

11.6

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 6 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of
particular importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176)
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green
Belt, or Local Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and
other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF);
and areas at risk of flooding.

11.7

The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not, however, change the
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making.

19

Page 51

12.

EMERGING LOCAL PLAN

12.1

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District
Local Plan (2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the
Secretary of State and the Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a
material consideration to be used in the determination of planning applications.

12.2

The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018.
The Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held
examination hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the
examination process, the Council has Asked the Local Plan inspector to recommend
modifications of the LPSV to enable its adoption.

12.3

During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the
LPSV were 'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public
consultation in due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2
August 2019 the Local Plan Inspector provided the Council with advice on the
soundness and legal compliance of the LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter,
the Inspector concluded that, at this stage, further Main Modifications (MMs) of the
emerging Local Plan are required to enable its adoption and that, in some cases,
additional work will need to be done by the Council to establish the precise form of the
MMs.

12.4

Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as
material to the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of
the Framework, the LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to:
a)

The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

b)

The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight
that may be given); and

c)

The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan
to the policies in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan
to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given).22"

12.5

Footnote 22 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan
is being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as
is the case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the previous version of
the Framework published in March 2012.

12.6

As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage,
subject to the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant
20

Page 52

weight should be accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of
Framework. The following table lists the LPSV policies relevant to the determination of
this application and officers' recommendation regarding the weight to be accorded to
each policy.
SP 1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development – Significant
SP 2 – Spatial Development Strategy - Some
SP 3 – Space shaping – Significant
SP 6 – Green Belt and District Open Land – Significant
SP 7 – The Natural Environment, landscape character and Green and Blue
Infrastructure - Significant
E 1 – Employment sites – Significant
T 1 – Sustainable transport choices - Significant
DM 1 – Habitat protection and improving biodiversity
DM 2 – Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA - Significant
DM 3 – Landscape character, Ancient Landscapes and Geodiversity - Significant
DM 4 – Green Belt - Significant
DM 5 – Green and Blue Infrastructure - Significant
DM 7 – Heritage Assets - Significant
DM 9 – High quality design - Significant
DM 15 – Managing and reducing flood risk – Significant
DM 16 – Sustainable Drainage Systems - Significant
DM 17 – Protecting and enhancing watercourses and flood defences - Significant
DM 18 – On site management of waste water and water supply - Significant
DM 19 – Sustainable water use – Significant
DM 20 – Low carbon and renewable energy - Significant
DM 21 – Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination - Significant
DM 22 – Air Quality – Significant
21

Page 53

P 3 – Waltham Abbey – Significant
D 1 – Delivery of Infrastructure - Significant
D 7 – Monitoring and Enforcement – Significant
13.

CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING ISSUES

13.1

The following section of the report will consider the proposal against the requirements
of the Adopted Development Plan and the LPSV.
Principle of development

13.2

As part of the evidence base which informed the production of the LPSV, the Council
undertook a Site Selection process. The purpose of the Site Selection process was to
identify the relative suitability of sites for new housing and employment development
in order to meet the objectively assessed needs of the District over the Plan Period
(2011-2033).

13.3

The Site Selection methodology identified 33 different assessment criteria which were
grouped into 6 broad categories:


impact on environmental and heritage designations and biodiversity;



value to Green Belt;



accessibility by public transport and to services;



efficient use of land;



landscape and townscape impact; and



physical site constraints and site conditions.

13.4

The sites which were tested against these criteria were then assessed based on their
suitability to meet the Council’s preferred growth strategy.

13.5

In the case of this site, the Site Selection Report concluded that:
The site is jointly owned by two parties who have an informal agreement to work
together. The site is available within the first five years of the Plan period, is being
actively marketed and there are no identified constraints or restrictions that would
impact upon deliverability. The site is c. 26ha in size and therefore if all of it were
allocated for this Plan period it could more than meet the District's employment needs
in full. Given the importance of providing choice and flexibility to the market, it is
proposed that 10ha of the site is identified for development within the Plan period, with
the remainder reserved for future Plan periods. The employment land should be

22

Page 54

located on the eastern part of the site. The site is proposed for allocation for B1c, B2
and B8 uses given its proximity to the M11
13.6

Thus, the site was proposed for allocation within the LPSV (ref WAL.E8) to provide
B1c/B2/B8 employment uses. It is within this context that the following Green Belt
section is to be considered.
Green Belt preamble

13.7

As previously identified, the site is proposed for allocation in the LPSV to provide
significant employment uses over the Plan Period. The site is currently located within
the boundaries of the Green Belt, however the proposed allocation also includes an
amendment to the existing Green Belt boundary, to remove it from this designation.

13.8

The proposed amendment to the boundary of the Green Belt will not occur until the
formal adoption of the emerging Local Plan. Since this application has been lodged
prior to the formal adoption, the site remains within the boundaries of the Metropolitan
Green Belt and as such the Local Planning Authority must assess it within the context
of this existing policy designation.
Green Belt assessment

13.9

Paragraph 133 of the NPPF identifies that the Government attaches great importance
to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of the Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl by
keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their
openness and their permanence.

13.10 The NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green
Belt and should be refused planning permission unless very special circumstances can
be demonstrated which clearly outweighs this harm.
13.11 The NPPF also requires the Local Planning Authority to ensure that substantial weight
is given to any harm to the Green Belt and very special circumstances will not exist
unless the potential harm, by reason of inappropriate development and any other harm
is clearly outweighed by other considerations.
13.12 Policy DM 4 of the LPSV reiterates the provisions of Paragraphs 145 and 146 of the
NPPF which identifies certain forms of development which are not inappropriate in the
Green Belt and the development listed in these sections are exhaustive.
13.13 Saved Policy GB2A of the Adopted Local Plan requires that strict control is to be
exercised over inappropriate development in the Green Belt, allowing for certain
exceptions. Whilst some of these exceptions are no longer consistent with National
policy, the overall aim of GB2A to restrict development in the Green Belt is generally
compliant with the NPPF and therefore should be afforded significant weight.

23

Page 55

13.14 Saved Policy GB7A seeks to restrict conspicuous forms of development in the Green
Belt to ensure that there would not be excessive harm to openness. Safeguarding the
rural character of the Green Belt reflects one of the fundamental purposes of the Green
Belt to safeguard the countryside from encroachment.
13.15 In this instance, the development proposed does not fall within any exception as
identified in the NPPF, Policy GB2A of the ALP or Policy DM 4 of the LPSV. It therefore
must be concluded that the proposal represents inappropriate development in the
Green Belt. In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF this should be afforded
significant weight in the decision-making process.
Openness
13.16 In Turner v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2016] EWCA
CIV 466} the Court of Appeal confirmed that the Green Belt has both a spatial and
visual dimension and as such the decision maker must consider whether there would
be any additional harm caused to the openness of the Green Belt, over and above the
harm caused by reason of inappropriate development.
13.17 Both Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the proposed development would result in the erection
of very large warehouse buildings and associated development on existing open and
undeveloped land. The sheer scale and significance of this development, which will
clearly be visible from public viewpoints would cause substantial additional harm to the
openness of the Green Belt. In accordance with the NPPF this additional harm should
be afforded significant weight in the decision.
Green Belt summary
13.18 The proposal constitutes inappropriate development which is, by definition, harmful to
the Green Belt. It would also cause additional harm to openness thereby conflicting
with its fundamental purpose of keeping land permanently open. As previously
discussed, these identified harms to the Green Belt should be afforded significant
weight against the proposal. Very special circumstances will therefore need to be
advanced by the applicant which clearly outweigh these, and any other harms.
13.19 The very special circumstances considerations will now be addressed in relation to the
principle of this proposal.
Very Special Circumstances
13.20 Once a proposal has been concluded to constitute inappropriate development in the
Green Belt, the NPPF makes clear that very special circumstances (VSC) are required
to clearly outweigh the harm caused.
13.21 VSC will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of
inappropriate development, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other
considerations.
24

Page 56

13.22 In R (Basildon District Council) v First Secretary of State and Temple [2004] EWHC
2759 (Admin), Sullivan, J clarified the test for demonstrating very special
circumstances by confirming that it was not necessary for each factor, of itself, to be
‘very special’ and that factors which individually were otherwise quite ordinary could
cumulatively become very special circumstances.
13.23 Further guidance was provided by the Court of Appeal in the case of Wychavon District
Council v Secretary of State and Butler [2008] EWCA Civ 692, in which the Carnwath
LJ (as he then was) stated that:
[…] The word “special” in PPG2 connotes not a quantitative test, but a qualitative
judgement as to the weight to be given to the particular factor for planning purposes.
[…]
13.24 Whether a factor, or a combination of factors amounts to VSC is a matter for the
decision maker taking relevant material considerations into account. The Green Belt
requirements contained within the NPPF relating to VSC are still consistent with the
tests of PPG 2, as such this Court of Appeal decision is still relevant.
13.25 In this instance, the applicant has advanced various factors which in their view
demonstrate the VSC required to clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. These
factors are:


Performance of the Site against the Purposes of the Green Belt;



The outdatedness of the Adopted Local Plan (1998, altered 2006);



The Draft Allocation WAL.E8 within emerging EFDC Local Plan;



Employment Need in Epping Forest District and Lack of Alternative Sites



The benefits to the Local Economy;



The need for Distribution Centres; and



Next’s Corporate and Social Responsibility.

13.26 This report will address each of these factors in turn.
Performance of the site against the purposes of the Green Belt
13.27 As part of the Plan making process, the Council undertook a Green Belt review which
was published in August 2016. Each of the sites therein were assessed for their
contribution to the five key purposes of the Green Belt as set out in paragraph 134 of
the NPPF:


to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;

25

Page 57



to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;



to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;



to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and



to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

13.28 The site (ref: 058.1) was assessed against four of the five purposes of the Green Belt
and the following conclusions were reached:

13.29 The review concluded that the site does not contribute highly to any of the purposes of
the Green Belt and the resultant harm to the Green Belt caused by its removal and
subsequent development would be moderate.
13.30 However the findings of the Green Belt review should not be considered in isolation.
The identified level of harm to the Green Belt was also considered during the site
selection process in the context of the Council’s Spatial Development Strategy (policy
SP 2) and the findings of the Employment Land Supply Assessment (ELSA) which was
published in December 2017.
13.31 The ELSA concluded that there is little scope for intensification of existing employment
sites in Epping Forest District and that, in general terms there are very low vacancy
rates on existing employment sites.
13.32 In order to meet the identified need for employment space in the District therefore, it
was concluded that a number of Green Belt sites would need to be released and
allocated for employment uses in the LPSV, in accordance with the hierarchy identified
within the Council’s Spatial Development Strategy.
13.33 The Site Selection report and its appendices acknowledged the level of harm which
would be caused to the Green Belt through the release of WAL.E8, but also considered
the employment requirements for the District over the Plan Period as identified in the
ELSA. It also considered where there is likely to be demand for employment land for
26

Page 58

the future, in order to achieve sustainable forms of development focused in and around
existing settlements.
13.34 The sites which have been proposed for allocation represent the minimum land take
from the Green Belt to enable the Council to meet the employment needs over the plan
period. WAL.E8 represents one of two major new employment sites as proposed in
the LPSV and would create significant employment within close proximity to Waltham
Abbey Town Centre.
13.35 It is concluded that the Site Selection process which considered, amongst other things
the potential harm to the Green Belt has been informed by robust and up to date
evidence should be given substantial weight in this decision.
The outdatedness of the Adopted Local Plan (1998, altered 2006)
13.36 The applicant contends that the ALP is significantly out of date and that the LPSV has
been informed with up to date and robust evidence which identifies a need for new
employment uses in Epping Forest District. As such, the policies contained within the
LPSV should be afforded greater weight in the decision-making process.
13.37 As previously identified, section 38(6) of the 2004 Act require that applications for
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
13.38 The saved polices from the 1998 (amended 2004) Plan form part of the existing
Development Plan. However, it is acknowledged that the Adopted Plan is not for the
current Plan Period and a number of the policies therein are inconsistent with the NPPF
as outlined in paragraph 11 above.
13.39 By comparison, the LPSV contains up to date policies which have been informed by
robust and up to date evidence. On this basis and having due regard for the provisions
of paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is concluded that the policies contained within the
LPSV should be afforded greater weight in this decision. Further examination of the
weight to be afforded to the draft allocation in the LPSV is assessed in the following
section.
The Draft allocation WAL.E8 in the LPSV
13.40 As previously discussed, the LPSV is now at a very advanced stage in its production.
The initial hearings as part of the Independent Examination (IE) have been concluded
and the Inspector has published her initial advice to the Council.
13.41 The allocations contained within the Plan have been informed through up to date and
robust evidence, which have been rigorously assessed in public by the Inspector as
part of the examination process.

27

Page 59

13.42 Without prejudice to the observations and conclusions that the Inspector might
ultimately reach, the Council understands that the Inspectors advice dated 2nd August
2019 set out the areas where Minor Modifications (MMs) to the LPSV will be required
in order for it to be considered “sound”. The Council therefore draws the reasonable
inference that the Inspector does not harbour any misgivings about areas or allocations
which are not mentioned in her advice.
13.43 The Inspector confirmed the Council’s understanding is correct in her response dated
25th November 2019.
13.44 Site allocation WAL.E8 has not been identified by the Inspector in her advice as
requiring MMs to make the Plan sound and as such, it is reasonable to conclude that
the Inspector does not have any concerns regarding the proposed allocation.
13.45 Within this context and having due regard to paragraph 48 of the NPPF it is concluded
that, since the Local Plan is at a very advanced stage, there are no unresolved
objections to the allocation, the Local Plan Inspector has not raised any concerns about
the allocations and that it is consistent with the requirements of the NPPF, the
proposed allocation of this site for employment uses and the evidence which informed
the allocation should be afforded significant weight in this decision.
13.46 This approach is consistent with the approach taken by the Court of Appeal in 2015
(Luton Borough Council, R (on the application of) v Central Bedfordshire Council & Ors
[2015] EWCA Civ 537).
13.47 In terms of the background to this case, in June 2014 Central Bedfordshire Council
(CBC) approved a planning application for a mixed use development on a Green Belt
site. The site had been identified in CBC’s emerging Local Plan for removal from its
Green Belt designation and allocated for development consistent with the planning
application. The application was lodged prior to the formal adoption of the emerging
Local Plan and CBC concluded that VSC existed which clearly outweighed the harm
caused and that significant weight should be afforded to the emerging policy, which
had a greater degree of consistency with the NPPF than the Adopted Local Plan.
13.48 The decision was subsequently judicially reviewed by Luton Borough Council (LBC) a
neighbouring Local Planning Authority. The main thrust of LBC’s argument was that
CBC had erred in attaching significant weight to the emerging Local Plan and thus had
taken its decision prematurely, prior to formal adoption. The High Court rejected LBCs
challenge but leave was given for an appeal to be lodged in the Court of Appeal.
13.49 The appeal judges found that CBC had ‘lawfully and rationally’ concluded that VSC
existed’. CBC had also properly addressed the issue of whether its decision would be
premature to the Local Plan process, through which it intended to remove the site from
the Green Belt and allocate the site for a mixed-use development. The appeal judges
agreed with the High Court that CBC had taken the correct approach in the weight it
applied to emerging policy.

28

Page 60

13.50 The above analysis has confirmed that the allocation of the site can be afforded
significant weight in policy terms, however the weight which can be afforded to this as
a VSC is dependent on the extent to which the development accords with that policy
and within Appendix 6. Since it is the conclusion of this report that the development as
proposed complies with the policy requirements of the proposed allocation, subject to
various conditions and obligations, it should be given significant weight as a VSC.
Employment need in Epping Forest District and lack of alternative sites
13.51 The LPSV proposes employment allocations which marginally goes beyond the
employment need identified in the Functional Market Area Assessment (FMAA, 2017).
The sites identified are capable of providing a range of employment opportunities and
their distribution reflects the needs identified across the District, particularly taking into
account the need for additional space to serve employment markets in the South of
the District, including Waltham Abbey.
13.52 Justification for the proposed new employment sites comes in part from the ELSA
which concluded that the identified need is unlikely to be met through existing
employment sites, in part due to particularly low vacancy levels on existing sites
throughout the District (p35). As such it was concluded that the identified need could
not be met through existing employment sites.
13.53 In order to meet the employment needs of the District therefore, the ELSA identified
19 potential new sites which may be suitable for future employment development. Of
these, 18 were within the Green Belt.
13.54 The evidence base which has informed the employment allocations therefore is robust
and clearly demonstrates that there is a need for new employment sites within Epping
Forest District over the Plan Period and that these needs could not be met through the
expansion of existing sites.
13.55 The need for new employment with the District and the lack of alternative sites should
be attributed significant weight in the decision.
The benefits to the Local Economy
13.56 The EFDC Economic Report (ER, September 2015) which forms part of the evidence
base of the LPSV confirms that there is relatively low unemployment in Epping Forest
District and that, in general terms, it is an affluent area.
13.57 However the ER also identifies that, despite its affluence there are pockets of
deprivation, particularly within Waltham Abbey and generally the District has a weak
manufacturing sector and few large employment areas (para 3.2.2).
13.58 A potential solution identified in the ER is to release some existing Green Belt sites
which do not measure highly against its five main purposes, for employment use to
meet the needs of the District.
29

Page 61

13.59 The applicant contends that there would be significant benefits for the local community
as a result of the investment into the area. It would create a substantial increase in
employment opportunities of various types for the local community. These jobs will be
available during the construction phase and the operational phase.
13.60 The Phase 1 development would provide a maximum total of 325 full time equivalent
(FTE) jobs on its first day of operation and most of these will be full time positions (a
minimum of 35 hours, up to 45 hours).
13.61 There is also a commitment to supporting approximately four graduate placement
opportunities per year within the proposed photo studio.
13.62 These factors will contribute to an overall benefit to the local economy. Workers will
travel to the site for work, which in turn has the potential to create additional footfall
and business opportunities in the town centre.
13.63 Whilst it has previously been identified that the application site as existing is not
particularly well connected to Waltham Abbey Town Centre, the development
proposals would include substantial improvements to the existing walking and cycling
facilities from the site, to the southern part of Roundhills. This new connectivity will give
staff a realistic opportunity to travel directly to the Town Centre of Waltham Abbey
using sustainable methods. If walking on foot staff could get to the Town Centre in 1520 minutes or 7 minutes by bicycle. The creation of this walking and cycling route will
be discussed further in this report.
13.64 It is concluded that the development would create significant employment opportunities
for the local community and would have a positive impact to the local economy. This
should be afforded significant weight in the decision.
The need for distribution centres
13.65 As evidenced in the ER and previously discussed, low vacancy rates and limited
opportunity for intensification of existing sites has created a high demand for
B1c/B2/B8 occupiers within Epping Forest District.
13.66 The ER identifies that the combined level of demand for B use classes amounts to 32
hectares of land over the Plan Period (para 8.1). Of this there is an identified need of
between 2-5ha for offices (B1a) and 14ha for industrial. (B1c and B2)
13.67 Of the remaining 16-19ha of residual need, this has not been disaggregated within
either the ER or the LPSV. Thus it cannot be identified with clarity that there is an acute
need for distribution centres with Epping Forest District per se.
13.68 It has already been identified that significant weight should be attached to the general
need for employment and the lack of alternative sites within the District. However since
there is no specific identified need for B8 within the LPSV or its evidence base this
would attract no further weight.
30

Page 62

Next’s corporate and social responsibility
13.69 The applicant sets out that Next Plc have a comprehensive corporate responsibility
policy to ensure they act in a responsible manner. Indeed, there is a strong
commitment to the ongoing learning and progression of their employees, including a
strong track record of working with local schools and colleges to assist students with
work placements and training opportunities.
13.70 Next also have a human rights policy and seeks to create a workplace which treats
everyone with respect and employees are supported and encouraged to reach their
full potential.
13.71 There is no reason to doubt the assertions of the applicant or that the corporate and
social responsibilities Next has adopted could assist in providing a social role in the
planning system. However, planning permission runs with the land and not with the
end user. Indeed whilst the Phase 1 development is intended for Next, there is no
guarantee that this would be the case indefinitely and consequently this attracts limited
weight in the decision.
Conclusion relating to VSC
13.72 Drawing all the strands together, the evidence base which informed the LPSV has
demonstrated a clear need for new employment space within Epping Forest District.
The site selection process undertook a robust assessment of potential sites to meet
the identified need in accordance with the Council’s proposed Spatial Development
Strategy and as a result of this process, WAL.E8 has been proposed for allocation in
the LPSV.
13.73 It is acknowledged that the LPSV does not, at this stage, form part of the statutory
Development Plan. However it is also recognised that it is at a very advanced stage of
its production and that the proposed allocation of this site has been informed by robust
and up to date evidence.
13.74 Following the publication of the Inspectors advice, WAL.E8 was not identified as
requiring MMs by the Inspector in order to make the Plan sound and therefore it is
reasonable to conclude at this stage, that the proposed allocation is likely to form part
of the emerging Development Plan.
13.75 Were this to occur, the site would no longer be located within the boundaries of the
Green Belt and therefore the application would not need to demonstrate very special
circumstances in order to be granted planning permission. It is therefore concluded
that the LPSV allocation and the evidence base which informed it should be afforded
significant weight in this decision.
13.76 In addition, the benefit to the local economy which has been identified should be
afforded further significant weight.

31

Page 63

13.77 As a result of the analysis undertaken, it is concluded that the applicant has advanced
circumstances which cumulatively result in VSC which clearly outweighs the identified
harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. The acceptability of this development in
Green Belt terms is therefore established.
Local and Strategic Highway considerations
13.78 Paragraph 108 of the NPPF identifies that when assessing planning applications for
new development proposes, it should be ensured that:
13.79 a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have
been – taken up, given the type of development and its location
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and
c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of
capacity and congestion) or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an
acceptable degree.
13.80 Paragraph 109 advises that development should only be prevented or refused on
highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. Paragraph 110
states that applications for development should:
a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and
with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to
high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or
other public transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public
transport use;
b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all
modes of transport;
c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope for
conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter,
and respond to local character and design standards;
d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency
vehicles; and
e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in
safe, accessible and convenient locations.
13.81 Policy T 1 (Sustainable Transport Choices) seeks to promote a safe, efficient and
convenient transport system and will permit development proposals where they
integrate into existing transport networks; provide safe, suitable and convenient access
for all users; provide onsite layouts that are compatible for all potential users with
appropriate parking and servicing provision and do not result in unacceptable
32

Page 64

increases in traffic generation or compromise highway safety. In addition development
will be permitted where it:
(i)

does not result in cumulative severe impact on the operation and safety of, or
accessibility to, the local or strategic highway networks

(ii)

mitigates impacts on the local or strategic highway networks and London
Underground station infrastructure within the District, arising from the
development itself or the cumulative effects of development, through the
provision of, or contributions towards, necessary transport improvements,
including those secured by legal agreement, subject to viability considerations;

(iii)

protects and, where appropriate, enhances access to Public Rights of Way;

(iv)

provides appropriate parking provision, in terms of amount, design and layout
and cycle storage arrangements, in accordance with adopted Parking
Standards and which mitigates any impact on on-street parking provision within
the locality. Reduced car parking, including car free, development in
sustainable locations will be supported; and

(v)

ensures that, where appropriate, development proposals provide a coordinated
and comprehensive scheme that does not prejudice the future provision of
transport infrastructure on and through adjoining sites

13.82 Saved Policies ST1 and ST2 seek to ensure that new development must be designed
to encourage walking and cycling and where appropriate, to provide integrated
transport choices and enhanced infrastructure to facilitate sustainable methods as far
as possible.
13.83 Saved Policy ST4 requires that new development must not compromise highway
safety, nor cause excessive highway congestion in the local area. In the interests of
highway safety, the Council may use legal agreements to ensure that off-site
alterations to the highway network are completed prior to the operation of a particular
scheme.
13.84 Saved Policy ST5 sets out that proposals which would create a significant generation
of people movements will be required to submit a Travel Plan which identifies
measures to reduce car usage and encourage sustainable forms of transport.
13.85 These Saved Policies are all consistent with the provisions of the NPPF and the LPSV.
Local Plan Transport Assessment Report – background
13.86 As part of the Plan making process, a Transport Assessment Report (TAR) was
produced in order to assess the potential impact that the growth planned in the LPSV
may have on the local highway network.

33

Page 65

13.87 The methodology used by the TAR is set out in section 6.4 of that report and is based
on Trip Rate Information Computer System (TRICS). As set out in paragraph 6.4.2 of
the TAR, TRICS is the national industry standard database for multi-modal trip
generation and analysis. These trips are then converted into passenger car units in
order to assess the potential impact on the highway network.
13.88 The TAR is based on a worst-case assessment and has also considered the potential
‘in-combination’ impacts on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC)
arising from traffic growth. The executive summary on page 2 concludes that:
13.89 The analysis highlights that the LPSV increases traffic levels by up to 36% with residual
impacts on key junctions and corridors, with the need for more substantial physical
highway interventions as well as further improvements to sustainable travel options
13.90 The potential to provide an improved sustainable transport offer and to reduce the
reliance on use of private motor vehicles is a key component of the overall strategy
identified in the TAR.
TAR – WAL.E8
13.91 In terms of WAL.E8, the TAR assumed 40,000sqm of employment space would be
provided across its entirety, although it was noted within paragraph 5.3.3 regarding
employment allocations:
It is acknowledged that some of the employment sites allocated have reasonable
potential to deliver additional floorspace and enhanced densities, over and above the
employment area stated, particularly at more sustainable locations…the modelling
approach has applied several worst-case assumptions to different traffic demand
variables as a conservative approach…It was subsequently agreed with ECC that
there was sufficient headroom within the model forecasting to adequately
accommodate any associated increases in floorspace.
13.92 The scope for delivery of additional floor space and enhanced densities over and
above the modelled level is not identified in the TAR or the LPSV and is therefore
dependent on additional information and, if necessary increased mitigation measures
during the planning application stage.
13.93 In order to provide this additional information, a Transport Assessment (TA) and
Interim Travel Plan (ITP) have been submitted in support of the application, which will
now be examined in turn.
Transport Assessment
13.94 The submitted TA assess the potential impacts of both Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the
proposed development on the local and strategic highway network. The traffic
generation methodology is based on the TRICS model, the same one used to inform
the TAR which informed the LPSV.
34

Page 66

13.95 The TA recognises that whilst the site is located within close proximity to the strategic
highway network, particularly junction 26 of the M25, it is not currently well served by
non-car modes of travel and not particularly well connected to Waltham Abbey Town
Centre.
13.96 The highway network which has been assessed includes:


Westbound off-slip of the M25



Westbound on-slip of the M25



Dowding Way



Honey Lane East leading to Woodridden Hill

13.97 The effect that the development traffic could cause on the highway network has been
assessed based on the anticipated year that the Phase 1 development will become
operational in 2021 as well as for 2033, which is the end of the current Plan Period.
13.98 The traffic attraction methodology that has been assumed in the TA is based on the
TRICS database for HGV and total traffic generation created by different use classes
at AM and PM peak times. The table below is an extract from the TA which summarises
these assumptions:

13.99 This proposed development, across both phases would amount to 80,000sqm of new
employment space which has been broken down in the TA as summarised in the table
below:

35

Page 67

13.100 Based on the summary of development trip rates and the proportion of use classes
above, a forecast for the AM and PM peak periods can be made across Phase 1 and
2 of the proposal. Below is an extract taken from the TA which summarises the
forecasted trip rates during the AM and PM peaks to and from the site.

13.101 The above table sets out the traffic movements during the AM and PM peaks and the
applicant has advised that the total number of traffic movements resulting from the
proposed development on a typical day will be 2,083. The table below sets out the
potential vehicle movements over the course of a typical day:

13.102 In terms of the potential impact on the highway network, it is acknowledged that the
development will create a substantial number of vehicle movements over the course
of a typical day. However modelling vehicles travelling in the AM and PM peaks are
the most crucial since they will have the greatest potential impact on the local and
strategic highway network. Indeed, the majority of the vehicle movements will be
staggered throughout the day and will generally seek to avoid travelling during peak
times.
13.103 Nonetheless the increased traffic movements, when considered alongside the growth
and in combination effects of the LPSV require a comprehensive package of mitigation
to ensure that it would not result in significant queuing on the highway network, which
has been identified by the TAR to be operating over capacity at peak hours around the
District, including Junction 26 of the M25.
Mitigation package – Junction 26 of the M25 – southern roundabout
13.104 Following the modelling undertaken through the TAR, The Infrastructure Delivery Plan
(IDP) identifies that an upgrade to the southern roundabout of J26 of the M25 is an
36

Page 68

essential piece of infrastructure in Waltham Abbey in order to facilitate the level of
growth proposed in the LPSV. This intervention is identified as an essential piece of
infrastructure by Essex County Council (ECC) to ensure capacity on the network can
accommodate the growth contained within the LPSV.
13.105 The specifics of the intervention required are not defined in the IDP, however Jacobs,
on behalf of ECC have developed a potential scheme to upgrade the southern
roundabout to ensure the junction can accommodate the increased level of traffic
resulting from the growth in the LPSV.
13.106 The submitted TA sets out that the applicant intends to implement the scheme
proposed by Jacobs which includes:


An extension to the two-lane approach on the westbound off slip of the M25 to
formalise existing two lane practice of slip road queuing;



‘Keep Clear’ markings to be provided on the on the roundabout exit from the
westbound off slip of the M25;



Alignment improvements to A121 Honey Lane East arm, including a flared twolane approach;



A two-to-one lane merge arrangement on Dowding Way exit; and



A short flared two-lane approach on A121 Honey Lane North approach

13.107 ECC as highway authority for the local highway network has concluded that these
measures in their entirety will need to be implemented prior to first occupation of the
development to ensure that the junction has capacity to accommodate the increased
level of traffic.
13.108 The applicant could undertake these works through a S278 agreement with ECC as
local highways authority prior to the commencement of development. These measures
can be secured through the use of planning obligations and will extend capacity on the
southern roundabout of junction 26 as well as meeting the needs identified in the IDP
to accommodate future growth in the District. The requirement for these works to
Junction 26 should be afforded significant weight in this decision.
Sustainable Transport – Interim Travel Plan
13.109 In combination with the physical works to junction 26 of the M25, a holistic approach
is required to manage traffic growth from new forms of development which seeks, on
the one hand to increase the capacity of existing junctions, but on the other seeks to
reduce overreliance of new developments on the use of private motor vehicles.
13.110 As such Policy T1 of the LPSV sets out that development proposals should provide an
appropriate level of parking provision, having due regard to the nature of the proposed
37

Page 69

development. In addition, opportunities to widen public and sustainable methods of
transport and reduce reliance on private cars will be maximised as far as possible to
facilitate a modal shift away from overreliance on the use of private motor vehicles.
13.111 The applicant has therefore submitted an Interim Travel Plan (ITP) in relation to the
Phase 1 development which forms part of the mitigation package. The ITP’s overriding
objective is to:
Reduce the number of single occupancy cars arriving at the site, by facilitating the use
of more sustainable alternatives.
13.112 The report will now consider these sustainable measures in turn.
Demand Responsive Transport
13.113 In addition to carrying out the physical works to the southern roundabout of Junction
26, the applicant has proposed to fund the initial start-up costs for a Demand
Responsive Transport (DRT) bus service which will operate between 05:00-01:00
seven days a week.
13.114 The applicant proposes a financial contribution of £650,000 towards start up costs,
which would amount to 2 years worth of funding, after which the operator Arriva Click
contend it will become commercially viable.
13.115 The principle of on-demand transport is set out in Appendix 15 of the TA. An excerpt
of this literature is found in the section below:

13.116 The applicant confirms that the DRT would not be exclusively for the use of the new
employees of the development, but rather has the potential to benefit existing and
future residents in Waltham Abbey with another sustainable transport option which can
be utilised.
13.117 In terms of its potential route, the TA proposes three different options to link the site to
various populated areas and transport hubs. The specific route of the DRT can be
secured through a planning obligation and would need to be in operation prior to the

38

Page 70

first operation of the site. Each of the potential routes proposed would be served by 5
electric buses.
Photo Studio Shuttle Bus
13.118 In addition to the proposed DRT funding, the applicant proposes to install and operate
a dedicated minibus service for staff and visitors travelling to the photo studio. Three
minibuses will meet the rail services arriving at Waltham Cross rail station in the
morning and then provide a return journey in the afternoon.
13.119 The submitted TA makes clear that the photo studio will employ 111 FTE, with an
estimated peak headcount of 225 at any one time. To accommodate this level of
activity on the site, the applicant proposes 67 dedicated car parking spaces will be
provided. The parking offer will be assessed further in this report, however on the basis
of these numbers, there will be a significantly lower number of car parking spaces than
there are employees. The applicant is therefore assuming that there will be significant
staff and visitor uptake via sustainable means. The proposed photo studio shuttle bus
therefore adds weight to this assertion.
Walking and cycling links and PRoW
13.120 The application includes a proposal to provide a new pedestrian and cycle way to
connect Phase 1 of the development to the existing PRoW, located directly to the west
of the site. The PRoW to which the new pedestrian and cycle way would be connected,
is also proposed to be upgraded to a formal footway / cycleway under a Section 278
agreement, via the S106 agreement, as shown on drawing number 4356 A136. Given
that the Phase 1 development will operate on a 24 hour basis, the upgraded PRoW
should include suitable lighting and this can be ensuring through further details to be
provided.
13.121 These initiatives will ensure that the development offers an attractive walking and
cycling opportunity for employees to utilise when travelling from the main centre of
Waltham Abbey.
13.122 ECC as highway authority has requested a planning condition to ensure that the new
foot/cycle way leading up to Roundhills is delivered prior to the first occupation of the
development. Precise details of the cycle way shall also be agreed by the Local
Planning Authority in consultation with ECC prior to the works commencing.
13.123 In addition to the physical measures to create new pedestrian and cycle pathways
towards Waltham Abbey, the applicant also proposes covered and secured cycle
storage facilities to accommodate 120 cycles within the proposed multi-storey car park
(MSCP), shower and secure storage facilities and electric cycle charging areas. A
planning condition can ensure that these measures are provided and thereafter
maintained, this is essential to facilitating sustainable transport methods as far as
possible.

39

Page 71

Parking
13.124 Paragraph (iv) of Policy T 1 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that development proposals
provide a level of parking which is appropriate in terms of amount, design, layout and
cycle parking and also that reduced car parking and car free developments in
sustainable locations will be supported.
13.125 Phase 1 of the development proposes to provide 367 car parking spaces for staff and
visitor use. This is proposed to be delivered through the erection of a three-deck
MSCP. This level of parking can be further broken down as 300 spaces for the B8
warehouse and for 67 spaces for the photo studio.
13.126 The submitted Interim Travel Plan confirms that the applicant does not intend to
provide all of the spaces proposed on the first day of the operation of the Phase 1
development. Specifically, the ground floor and first floor of the MSCP are not
proposed to be in operation until their operational requirement can be demonstrated.
13.127 The top deck is proposed to be available for use from the first day of the operation of
the Phase 1 development and would provide 123 spaces which would be used for
photo studio visitors, car pool spaces and electric vehicles. This would constitute 33%
provision of the total number of car parking spaces proposed, with the remaining 66%
being restricted until such time that it is demonstrated by the applicant that they are
operationally required. The S106 would include the mechanism and thresholds for
when the remaining parking spaces could come into use.
13.128 The use of the parking is proposed to be managed through a bespoke car parking
management plan (CPMP) which can be secured and monitored through the use of a
planning obligation.
13.129 In relation to the Phase 1 development, the applicant has indicated that there will be a
peak headcount of 363 persons on the site at any one time when the development first
becomes operational. In terms of parking, this would allow approximately 34% of staff
on the site to be able to park, however that is not taking into account that some of these
spaces would be restricted as car pool / electric charging spaces only.
13.130 Once the proposed mezzanine floors become operational for the Phase 1 development
the applicant predicts that there will be a maximum of 588 staff and visitors on site at
any one time and this equates to 62% of staff members being able to park at the site,
should all the on-site car parking spaces be available.
Conclusion on parking provision
13.131 As previously discussed, the LPSV seeks to ensure that new development is not over
reliant on the use of private motor vehicles and that other sustainable transport should
be pursued as far as possible.

40

Page 72

13.132 In this instance, since the Phase 1 development would only have the potential to allow
34% of staff to park on site, the remaining 66% would need to travel to work through
sustainable methods.
13.133 The sustainable transport offer which has been proposed, including the DRT, the
minibus and the improvements to the walking and cycling offer into Waltham Abbey
will facilitate and encourage staff to travel in this way.
13.134 As a result of these factors, it is concluded that the proposed level of parking upon the
initial operation of the Phase 1 development is appropriate in terms of its amount and
scale in relation to the use of the site.
13.135 Once the site is fully operational it has the potential to allow 62% of staff to park at the
site with the remaining 38% requiring travel through sustainable methods. Clearly, this
gives an opportunity for a greater proportion of the workforce to park at the site than
would be the case upon the initial operation
13.136 However, by the time the Phase 1 development becomes fully operational, it is
reasonable to conclude that the sustainable transport measures submitted as part of
the application will have had time to manifest and encourage staff and visitors to travel
by sustainable means as far as possible.
13.137 It is concluded that the proposed level of parking, having due regard to the sustainable
transport initiatives proposed is appropriate for the scale of the Phase 1 development.
The proposal is therefore compliant with paragraph (iv) of Policy T 1 of the LPSV
Travel Pack
13.138 To encourage the uptake of sustainable transport options, each employee will be
provided with a Travel Pack which gives a wide range of information on how to utilise
the sustainable forms of transport previously discussed in this report.
13.139 Specifically, the Travel pack will provide information to staff on the following issues:


Name and contact details of the Travel Plan Coordinator (TPC) and the
availability of the TPC to speak with employees;



An introduction to the Travel Plan, its purpose, and a summary document;



Information on the health benefits of using active modes of transport;



Details of the DRT service including its catchment, how it works and the
associated costs;



Bus route maps and timetables and any other public transport information;



Information on the Photo Studio shuttle bus;

41

Page 73



Maps showing walking and cycling routes close to the site;



A copy of the site-specific Travel Policy;



Any other Company policy related to travel;



Details of the on-site Car Parking Management Plan; and



Details of any cycle discounts and loan schemes.

13.140 Giving each staff member information of all these initiatives will assist in ensuring that
sustainable and active modes of travel are utilised as far as possible for the site.
Distribution of such a pack can be secured through the S106 agreement.
Route management
13.141 Appendix 6 of the LPSV recognises that development proposals of this scale could
potentially generate significant numbers of vehicular movements associated from the
operation of the site as well as from employees and visitors.
13.142 A Route Management Plan (RMP) relating to Phase 1 of the proposed development
has been submitted with the application and proposes a restriction on commercial
vehicles being routed through Epping Forest + a 200m buffer.
13.143 The RMP would apply to all HGV and LGV traffic however the M25 is excluded from
this 200m buffer.
13.144 A separate RMP would be submitted to the Local Planning Authority in relation to
Phase 2.
13.145 The proposed 200m buffer from Epping Forest in and of itself forms part of the
mitigation package put forward by the applicant in relation to the Epping Forest SAC
rather than to mitigate potential impacts on the local highway network. Issues relating
to the SAC will be considered later in this report.
13.146 In terms of the potential impact to the local highway network, Appendix 6 of the LPSV
seeks to ensure that there will not be a significant adverse impact on the highway
network through HGVs using inappropriate roads and that a detailed RMP could
achieve this.
13.147 ECC as highway authority have commented that a detailed RMP is necessary and this
can be secured through S106 planning obligation. Officers consider that this will be an
essential planning obligation in order to mitigate the potential harm to the highway
network.
Vehicular Access and Internal Circulation

42

Page 74

13.148 The Phase 1 development is proposed to be accessed via a signalised junction from
Dowding Way. The access from Dowding Way will lead to:


A right turn ghost island junction to the Phase 1 warehouse;



A right turn to the MSCP;



A dedicated turning head for public transport;



A bus stop layby for public transport; and



Pedestrian and cycle crossing facilities

13.149 In terms of its capacity, the junction has been designed to accommodate the entirety
of the Phase 1 development, with additional capacity which is capable of serving the
western parts of the site allocation (not subject to the current application) over the
course of the next Plan Period.
13.150 The proposed access has been assessed by the ECC Highway Team who consider
that the proposed access to the site has suitable visibility splays for the types of
vehicles associated with the use and is also suitable to accommodate the proposed
development and potential future growth.
13.151 The TA has provided a Swept Path Analysis (SPA), including the proposed internal
circulation of vehicles for the Phase 1 site. An SPA refers to the analysis of the way
different types of vehicles move and calculates and measures the exact path a vehicle
will take. This is particularly important for articulated vehicles when they turn to ensure
that there is suitable space along a particular route to ensure that there will be no harm
to the interests of highway safety or efficiency.
13.152 The submitted SPA submitted for the Phase 1 development demonstrates that in all
instances within the site, there is suitable room for articulated vehicles to turn and pass
one another without the potential need to reverse onto the public highway. Detailed
information for the Phase 2 site would need to be submitted with any subsequent
reserved matters application.
Potential Impact on the Strategic Highway Network
13.153 Highways England (HE) has been appointed by the Secretary of State for Transport
under the provision of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and is the highway authority for the
Strategic Road Network (SRN). The SRN is a strategic national asset and it is the
responsibility of HE to ensure that it operates and is managed in the public interest.
13.154 In this case HE are considering the potential impact of the development on the safe
and efficient operation of Junction 26 (J26) of the M25.

43

Page 75

13.155 As part of the TA, the applicant has submitted a VISSIM traffic model to assess the
potential impact on the SRN. Whilst the model indicates that the potential impact to
J26 would not be severe, HE are still considering the applicant’s assessment.
13.156 As such HE has commissioned an external review of the VISSIM model prior to giving
their formal response to the Council. This work is currently ongoing and at the time of
writing this report, it has not yet been received.
13.157 At the current time, HE has issued a holding direction on the application but anticipate
providing a response to officers before the committee meeting. The recommendation
of this report is therefore subject to a suitable resolution being agreed and the holding
direction being removed.
Conclusion relating to highway matters
13.158 Based on the evidence submitted by the applicant and having due regard to the
consultation response from ECC, it is concluded that subject to the imposition of
suitable planning conditions and required planning obligations the proposal will not
cause a severe impact on the operation of the local road network.
13.159 In this regard, the proposal is compliant with Policy T 1 of the LPSV, Policies ST1, ST2,
ST4 and ST5 of the ALP and with the requirements of the NPPF.
13.160 With regards to the potential impact on the SRN, following the advice from HE, the
Council cannot currently conclude that there would not be a severe impact on its
operation or safety as a result of this application.
13.161 Consequently as previously discussed, the recommendation of this report is given
subject to the satisfactory resolution to this issue.
Design
13.162 The LPSV is clear that the Council is committed to ensuring that all new development
in the District is of the highest design standards in their broadest sense. Good design
should ensure that new forms of development function well within the surrounding area
and result in buildings which are durable and adaptable within their context.
13.163 The LPSV emphasises that good design is not solely a visual concern, but actually has
social and environmental elements such as the potential to create high quality public
realm, improving quality of life for local communities and contributing to the
sustainability agenda.
13.164 This approach follows the NPPF requirement for Local Planning Authorities to require
new forms of development to recognise local context and set out the quality of
development expected within the District.

44

Page 76

13.165 Policy SP 3 sets out that the Council seeks to ensure that development proposals
accord with exceptional place making principles. Place making is a holistic approach
to planning which brings together all component parts of a successful place.
13.166 Policy DM 9 sets out the policy requirements based on the overall design approach
contained within the LPSV.
13.167 Similarly to Policy DM 9 of the LPSV, Saved Policy DBE1 of the ALP requires that new
development is of high quality design. Development proposals are expected to be
respectful to their setting, adopt a significance in the street scene which is appropriate
to their function and use high quality external materials.
13.168 In order to achieve the outstanding design as required by the LPSV, the Council has
established a Quality Review Panel (QRP) to act as a ‘critical friend’ to both the Council
and applicants.
13.169 The QRP consists of an independent, multidisciplinary group of experts who are
suitably trained and highly experienced individuals in their fields and the Panel has the
overarching ambition of assisting the Council with ensuring that new development
achieves the high quality design as required by the LPSV.
13.170 The proposed development on the site has been the subject of three formal reviews
by the QRP. The comments received following each review has been taken into
account when considering the various elements of design in the following section.
Layout, Access and Connectivity
13.171 Policy SP 3 of the LPSV notes that development proposals must demonstrate strong
vision, leadership and community engagement (i), extend, enhance and reinforce
strategic green infrastructure and public open space (vii), ensure positive integration
and connection with adjacent rural and urban communities thereby contributing to the
revitalisation of existing neighbourhoods (x) provide for sustainable movement and
access to local and strategic destinations (including rail, bus and pedestrians, cycling)
(xiii).
13.172 Policy DM 9 notes that development proposals must have regard to the framework of
routes and spaces connecting locally and more widely (Part D (iii)).
13.173 Policy T 1 notes that development proposals will be permitted where they provide safe,
suitable and convenient access for all potential users (Part C (i)) and provide a
coordinated and comprehensive scheme that does not prejudice future provision of
transport
13.174 As previously discussed, the application site is located on the southern edge of the
main urban area of Waltham Abbey and the rural countryside is located to the south,
beyond Dowding Way. The site is currently located in the Green Belt and is located in

45

Page 77

the Lippitts and Daws Hill Landscape character area and the Lee Valley Character
Area.
13.175 The site is close to walking and cycling routes with an existing PRoW to the west of
the site, connecting Roundhills residential estate to Dowding Way, over the M25 via a
footbridge. Waltham Abbey Town Centre (Sun Street) is located approximately a 1520-minute walk from the site, or a 7-minute cycle.
13.176 During pre-application discussions and QRP reviews, the applicant was advised that
a wider masterplan exercise was needed to ensure that the proposals would not
preclude future potential development on the remainder of WAL.E8. A masterplan
exercise would ensure that a holistic and joined up design approach was promoted,
particularly regarding green infrastructure and wider connectivity as far as possible
across the allocation site.
13.177 A concept Masterplanning exercise was subsequently undertaken as shown on pg.23
of the Design and Access Statement (DAS), with the aim of ensuring that the proposals
are futureproofed and wider design constraints and opportunities are built into the
application stage of the development proposals.
13.178 A key aspect of this futureproofing is to ensure that active travel connections are
accommodated for the entirety of the proposed allocation site. The masterplan
demonstrates that for the Phase 1 development, this will be achieved via routes to the
west through the access road continuing to the northern boundary of the site and the
provision for future pathways alongside it for walking and cycling.
13.179 The applicant intends to upgrade the existing PRoW from Roundhills, across the M25
and connect into the new proposed walking and cycling route. The PRoW would be
upgraded to be 3m wide and will connect to the Phase 1 proposal. The upgrades to
the PRoW would be secured by way of S106 agreement.
13.180 A more direct route for walking and cycling from Roundhills to the Phase 1 proposal
would have been cutting directly east from the point where the existing farmers track
meets the PRoW, however this was not considered deliverable at this stage, based on
the Masterplan discussions with neighbouring land owners. In the fullness of time, once
the rest of the proposed allocation comes forward for development, it is expected that
this active travel route will be pursued and delivered at the same high specification as
the current proposed route.
13.181 Whilst the proposed walking and cycling route to Phase 1 is not the ideal solution to
promoting active travel as far as possible, given the current position as noted in the
paragraph above, it will still offer staff and visitors the option to travel sustainably with
the potential to be further improved as the rest of the proposed allocation site comes
forward for development. The Phase 1 proposal is therefore compliant with para A (ii),
para B and para E of Policy T 1 of the LPSV.

46

Page 78

13.182 The Phase 2 development is an outline application and therefore the drawings which
show its proposed layout on site are for illustrative purposes only. Nevertheless the
current indicative layout shows the proposed walking and cycling routes to be
somewhat convoluted and indirect.
13.183 However since the Local Planning Authority would retain control over the position and
specification of these routes through the reserved matters stage of the proposal, these
concerns can be overcome to ensure compliance with Policy T 1 para A (ii), para B
and para E of Policy T 1 of the LPSV.
13.184 The promotion of active travel for commuting is a key aspect of the sustainability
strategy and transport assessment for the proposals. Active travel routes should be
designed as per best practice, to be convenient, direct, safe, attractive and highly
accessible. Avoiding barriers and ensuring continuous routes is key to facilitating
modal shift towards active modes.
13.185 The footpath and cycle way running parallel to Dowding Way has been set back a
suitable distance from the road and cut into the bank, to allow space for landscape and
planting to provide screening between the active travel route and vehicular route, and
increase the perception of safety of the route. The design aims to provide an attractive
route with further detail provided in Landscape GA drawing ‘11403 P07j_General
Arrangement Plan_27112019’ and ‘11403-R04 November 2019- Landscape
Specification Overview’. The detailed landscape design for this area alongside the
walking/ cycling route and Dowding Way should be secured by a suitably worded
condition.
13.186 Crossing points for pedestrians and cyclists to cross the Phase 1 access road are
labelled as ‘Drop kerbs to all crossing points and pedestrian island between lanes’.
Raised table crossings would go further to providing a convincing continuous and direct
route, and be aligned with best practice for prioritising walking and cycling at crossings.
However, the principle of dropped kerbs are also acceptable and it is considered that
the recommended conditions would secure the detailed design of crossing points as
shown on ‘4356-A100 P22 Proposed Site Plan’, to ensure compliance with policy DM
9 Part G.
13.187 Sustainable forms of transport should be promoted through design; through access,
layout, quality and priority. The location of the demand responsive travel bus stop in a
clearly visible point at the entrance to the site to showcase it, and locating the cycle
storage in a more prominent location than previously shown, are both welcomed.
13.188 The locating of the 74no. electric vehicle parking spaces closest to the main warehouse
building, as shown on floorplans in drawing ‘4356-A210 P10 MSCP GA Plans’ was
discussed as an incentive or ‘nudge’ towards a private vehicle choice with fewer air
quality issues – but these do not appear to restrict non-electric vehicle users parking
in these spaces, so in effect the incentive is applicable. If these were ‘Electric Vehicle
Parking Only’ that would be suitable and this can be ensured through the
recommended planning condition.
47

Page 79

13.189 The design of the cycle storage area for 120 spaces must be high quality, secure and
accessible. The access to the cycle storage is behind the general secure fence line,
through an accessible pass gate and opening in MSCP façade – it has been relocated
to a wider part of the path to avoid conflict with pedestrian users at the turnstile as
shown in drawing ‘4356-A210 P9 MSCP GA Plans’. Further design detail for the cycle
storage, including details of lighting, accessible pass gate specification (including width
and weight), location and specification of bike stands, electric bicycle charge point, and
bike maintenance stand would be secured through condition.
13.190 The Quality Review Panel noted in their report that the generous private vehicle
parking provision on site could undermine sustainable travel aims. The panel also
noted that sustainable forms of transport could be promoted by locating the car park
further from the warehouse entrance, and that the design team should futureproof the
design of the car parking in case its use is made obsolete in the future.
13.191 Notwithstanding the QRP comments in this respect, the number of private vehicle
parking spaces has not been reduced by the applicant, and the car park remains in the
same location – however in the Interim Travel Plan paragraphs 8.28-8.31, the applicant
sets out that Level 02 of the MSCP will be in use from the start, whilst Level 00 and
Level 01 will only come into use subject to Next demonstrating an operational need for
these additional spaces. The proposal may therefore lead to built space that is not in
use for some time, providing passive elevations with reduced surveillance alongside
the main entrance way and walking and cycling routes.
13.192 As well as futureproofing the MSCP, there should be consideration of how this space
will function in the interim, and whether there are any temporary uses that could take
place within Level 00 and 01 of the MSCP that could enable a stronger working
community to be established, and promote active travel / health. Interim uses should
be considered in the Car Parking Management Plan (CPMP) which is to be secured
as a planning obligation within the S106 agreement.
User Accessibility Strategy
13.193 Policy DM 9 of the LPSV notes that good design should enable and encourage people
to live healthy lifestyles, reduce the risk of crime, create accessible environments which
are inclusive for all sectors of society, and increase opportunities for social interaction
(para 4.70). Policy DM 9 Part A (v) notes that development proposals should
incorporate design measures to reduce social exclusion, the risk of crime and the fear
of crime.
13.194 The NPPF paragraphs 91 and 92 notes that planning decisions must aim to achieve
healthy, inclusive and safe spaces which promote social interaction, and plan positively
for the provision and use of shared spaces. Paragraph 108 of the NPPF notes safe
and suitable access to the site should be achieved for all users, and paragraph 127
notes that development should create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible,
promoting health and well-being with a high standard of amenity.

48

Page 80

13.195 Within the scheme there are a number of different user groups: Distribution Warehouse
staff, Transport Office staff, Drivers, Photo Studio staff, and Photo Studio visitors
(including children and minders for photoshoots). Clarity has been sought by officers
on the accessibility of different internal and external spaces, including entrance routes
and shared amenity spaces, for these different user groups.
13.196 The applicant was requested to justify the operational requirements for separating of
main entrances, with Photo Studio staff entering via the footbridge at first floor level,
and Warehouse staff entering at ground floor level, to ensure this is not unnecessary
segregating of users and that the bridge link was an appropriate design and
construction requirement.
13.197 Access routes for Warehouse staff, Photo Studio staff and Transport Office staff are
shown on drawings ‘4356-A204 P5 Warehouse Office GA Plan – Level 00’ ‘4356-A205
P6 Photo Studio GA Plan – Level 01’ and ‘4356-A206 P5 Photo Studio GA Plan –
Level 02’, and set out on pages 39-40 of the DAS. These indicate that different areas
are restricted to certain staff and personnel for operational and security reasons.
13.198 Whilst access and entrance arrangements may differ for operational requirements, it
is imperative that the design is inclusive and equal for all users in regard to high quality
welfare and amenity facilities. The variety of users using the western end of the
warehouse building, their interaction, wellbeing, directness of routing and convenience
is a key area of ensuring equal and inclusive design.
13.199 The proposed drawings do not show whether there are any restrictions on access to
outdoor amenity space for different users (e.g. whether all staff, including Transport
Office staff/ Drivers, can access this) or whether the ground floor restaurant is
accessible for all staff, including Photo Studio staff and visitors, to avoid a situation
such as where photo studio staff, or visitors with children are only able to use the café
on Level 01, rather than the one conveniently located alongside the outdoor amenity
space.
13.200 Whilst the principle of different security arrangements for different user groups due to
operational requirements is acceptable, it is recommended that a condition is included
which requires the applicant to provide details of the user accessibility strategy,
through a set of Accessibility and Security Site Plan and Floor Plans, to ensure this
complies with policy DM 9 para 4.70 and NPPF para 92.
13.201 Accessibility and safety is required for all users of the development, including staff
working in the Gatehouse. A pedestrian route connecting the warehouse to the
Gatehouse has been shown on drawing ‘4356-A100 P22 Proposed Site Plan’. This is
not shown on drawing ‘4356-A207 P2 Gatehouse GA Plan and Elevations’.
Notwithstanding the details shown on the plan, it is recommended that a condition is
including requiring the pedestrian route connecting the warehouse to the Gatehouse
to be shown. Detail design of this access route, to include a section through the route
alongside the Van parking spaces, and the crossing point, should also be shown to
ensure compliance with policy DM 9 Part G and paragraph 108 of the NPPF.
49

Page 81

Scale, form and massing (Phase 1 development)
13.202 Policy DM9 of the LPSV notes that developments must relate positively to their context
(Part A (i)), having regard to the form, scale and massing prevailing around the site
(Part D (ii)), active frontages (Part D (v)), and respond to natural features of the site
and surroundings (Part E). Policy DM 9 also notes that proposals should not result in
an over-bearing or overly enclosed form of development (Part H (iii)) and consider
microclimate conditions (Part H (iv)).
13.203 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF notes that development should be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, and be
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment and landscape character
13.204 The proposed use as a distribution centre means that the architecture of the proposal
has an inherently large grain and typology, which lends itself to a ‘big shed’ warehouse
form given its function. The large footprint of the building and the context of the M25 to
the north, Dowding Way to the south, and residential and green space/ hillock to the
west, has led to the main form of the warehouse in Phase 1 being located as far north
within the site as possible.
13.205 As a result, the larger scale building is set back away from Dowding Way, and instead
is located alongside the M25, a less sensitive boundary. The locating of the main bulk
of the warehouse in Phase 1 further north on the site results in more of the warehouse
being concealed behind the existing hillock to the west, in public views from the Green
Belt, as can be seen in Photoviewpoint 4 in the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment
(LVIA) (seen in ES Volume 2 Part 18).
13.206 The proposed building would be 23.15m to the parapet, and the building consists of
three storeys (with potential for mezzanine levels in the warehouse). Because of its
scale and height, the proposal would be visible from some longer as well as local
views, which are depicted in the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment and the CGI
Portfolio. The developments’ users utilising the amenity space will receive sunlight
from the south and west in the North-South Green Corridor area.
13.207 Previous iterations of the design of the warehouse sought to aim to ‘conceal’ or
diminish its scale through a greyscale panel cladding with colour grading getting lighter
higher up the facade, to blend in with the sky, however this was not a suitable approach
to create high quality architecture, placemaking or to help reduce the appearance of
the massing in this location.
13.208 The QRP and design officer comments indicated that a bolder approach to the
architecture and articulation of form and massing would be suitable, given the location
of the warehouse against the M25 and its visibility. The current design instead seeks
to break up the large massing of the warehouse through a ‘layered façade’, using a
perforated cladding, framing, projections, panelling and glazing to create more interest
and rhythm within the façade.

50

Page 82

13.209 This design approach to breaking up the massing appears successful in localised
views internally in the site (CGI visualisations 01, 04, 05, 16 received 10/01/20) where
the mass of the main warehouse does not appear overly bulky as the elevations are
split horizontally (panelling, perforated cladding, glazing) and vertically on the western
elevation and at entrances.
13.210 However, in longer views this breaking up of the massing is not as apparent, as the
part of the building which is particularly visible (top 5m) has less articulation and
interest as seen in the rendered views in the LVIA (Photo viewpoints 1, 6 and 9), and
so the larger scale of the building is more noticeable in its solidity as it breaks the
natural horizon line of trees and landscape.
13.211 The introduction of the Photo Studio as a use within the building has also impacted the
massing and form of the Phase 1 building. The diagrams on p.33 of the DAS are helpful
in explaining the evolution of the form to incorporate the office cores and photo studios.
The external form of the Phase 1 warehouse also includes balconies on the north-west
corner, to provide operational space for photo shoots (e.g. backdrops, lighting
equipment and daylight control). The balconies are an opportunity to provide further
articulation to the rectilinear mass, especially in views from the M25, and the detailed
design of these are recommended to be secured by condition, to ensure they are high
quality in their articulation of form and specification of balustrade, glazing, and
structure, given their visibility and extrusion from the form of the building, as shown in
CGI visualisation 13, to comply with Policy DM 9 Part D (vi).
13.212 Clear advice provided from the QRP and officers was that it must be demonstrated
how the buildings relate to the existing topography of the site and how landscape
features have been incorporated in the design. The location of the warehouse to the
north of the site utilises the existing topography and landscape of the site and
surroundings, which slopes down to the north, includes banking with tree planting
either side of the M25 (see Photo viewpoint 1 in LVIA) and the hillock to the west, to
reduce the appearance of the mass/ scale of the buildings from longer views.
13.213 The existing hillock land form to the west is proposed to be cut into and banked,
extending the ground level of 28250 AOD (see Site Section A-A on drawing ‘4356A400 P5 Site Sections’) which assists in hiding the bulk of the MSCP and some of the
Phase 1 warehouse from key views (see Photo Viewpoints 1, 3, 4 in LVIA). Landscape
and planting is also proposed in key areas to help soften the appearance and mass of
the warehouse.
13.214 On balance it is considered that the scale, bulk and massing of the proposed
development would be acceptable due to the proposed design, elevational treatment
and taking into consideration the intervening landscapes and physical features – in
particular the proximity to the M25 motorway, Dowding Way and the surrounding
commercial and residential development that will intercept medium to long distance
views from the site. While the proposed building will visually dominant and would
change immediate and short term views of the site, it is not considered that this would
51

Page 83

have a detrimental impact on the immediate character and appearance of the area
when considering its local context and that when taking into consideration the
proposed landscape treatment and means of enclosure to the site as it would give it a
degree of self containment within the locality.
13.215 The height, bulk and scale of the Phase 2 development are not explored in detail in
this analysis since it is a matter reserved and therefore beyond the scope of this
application, but would be considered through the submission of reserved matters
application(s).
Multi Storey Car Park Form
13.216 The revision from early pre-application designs to gather private vehicle parking into a
multi-storey car park has reduced the sprawl of surface parking and is welcomed, but
has resulted in another built form on Phase 1 of the site. The Multi-Storey Car Park
(MSCP) takes a different approach to reducing the impact of its mass and form,
through a green wall façade and expanded mesh cladding. The green wall is limited to
the eastern elevation and the south-west corner of the MSCP – providing the benefit
of softening the form is to the localised views from the amenity and entrance route.
13.217 The MSCP has a proposed bridge link to the Phase 1 warehouse building, connecting
Level 02 (third storey) car park to Level 01 (second storey) warehouse. This bridge
has been detailed to provide a lightweight-appearing structure (structural glass
balustrade) with interest through materials including green roof and vertical colour
coated baguettes. In terms of scale and form, it is acceptable and effective in being
visually attractive in local views, and in visually adding depth and interest to larger
rectilinear forms of the MSCP and warehouse, from within the site.
Lighting Strategy – impact on the local area
13.218 Policy DM 9 Part A (v) notes developments must incorporate design measures to
reduce social exclusion, the risk of crime, and the fear of crime. Policy DM 9 part A
also notes proposals should relate positively to their context, and Policy DM 21 notes
that the local environmental impacts, including light pollution, of all development
proposals after mitigation must not lead to unacceptable impacts on the health, safety,
wellbeing and amenity of existing and new users or occupiers of the development site,
or the surrounding land.
13.219 The potential impact of the proposed external lighting on the living conditions of nearby
residents is examined later in this report.
13.220 Given the scale of the development, the night time lighting strategy is an important
issue to address in relation to the potential impact it may have on the character and
appearance of the local area and local ecology considerations.
13.221 The applicant has submitted the drawing ‘External Lighting Planning Submission
Treatment Drawing’, an ‘External Lighting Specification’ and the drawing ‘External
52

Page 84

Lighting Preliminary Lux Plot Layout.’ These indicate that in terms of light pollution, the
lux levels will not be harmful. However, further clarity is still sought on the exact timing
schedule of lighting to ensure that the site remains safe, accessible and pleasant for
shift working staff, but is not an unnecessary energy use.
13.222 The applicant has proposed backlighting to the perforated cladding, as a decorative
feature. Whilst this may have been done to aim to achieve a high quality appearance
and celebrate the façade, it does not seem a necessary energy expenditure to have
this feature on all elevations, especially those facing the Green Belt/ countryside (the
south elevation in particular).
13.223 Backlighting the cladding on the north elevation makes design sense in terms of the
visibility of the elevation from the M25, and responds to the QRPs comment in their
report that “the panel highlights that the side facing the M25 will be highly visible, and
should be given more consideration, so it does not appear as a ‘back’”. However on
the west, south and east elevations, light from within the warehouse will be visible
behind the perforated cladding anyway, and so additional decorative lighting seems
wasteful.
13.224 The ‘External Lighting Planning Submission Treatment Drawing’ notes that night time
light pollution will be reduced through the time control of light switched off between
11pm – 7am. Clarity is needed on how this time control functions in detail with shift
working patterns to ensure safety and accessibility; a detailed external lighting timing
schedule to be secured via the recommended condition, to ensure the design complies
with the safety requirement of policy DM 9 Part A (v), and energy saving measures as
per DM 9 Part A (iii).
Character and place shaping
13.225 The importance of creating a sense of place and enhancing the character of the area
is crucial in a scheme of this scale, and the Quality Review Panel noted during the first
two reviews that it was difficult to get an idea of the sense of place that is being created
or what it was like to interact with/ experience this scheme.
13.226 This development will be a work place for over 1000 people over Phase 1 and 2, and
therefore the quality of spaces and routes at a human-scale are key to a successful
scheme. The quality of the appearance of the buildings are discussed in the
‘Appearance and Materials’ section below, however key to creating a sense of place
in this location is the landscape design and amenity on offer.
13.227 Policy DM 3 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that new development will not directly,
indirectly or cumulatively cause significant harm to landscape character, the nature
and physical appearance of ancient landscapes or geological sites of importance.
Proposals should be sensitive to their setting in the landscape and have due regard
for local distinctiveness and characteristics

53

Page 85

13.228 In order to ensure a suitable landscape scheme is achieved on this site, the QRP
advocated the need for a robust landscape strategy, which recognises and takes cue
from the wider landscape character and context, as well as the need to provide detail
on the green spaces within the development, and along key routes. The applicant has
submitted a Landscape Design Code for Phases 1 and 2, a Landscape General
Arrangement Plan, and a Landscape Specification Overview, all for approval.
13.229 The landscape design is a crucial in creating a high-quality environment connecting to
and through the site, improving and enhancing biodiversity, dealing with water
attenuation through wetland planting and SUDs, and improving staff health and
wellbeing in providing a shared amenity space. This amenity space offers somewhere
for staff to sit and eat lunch, undertake exercise (trim trail equipment and running
track), play (including for children visiting the Photo Studio), and have a connection
and outlook to nature and green space on a warehouse and distribution site.
13.230 The landscape principles as set out within the submitted documents are welcomed, in
particular the understanding of the wider landscape character and how this should
continue through to the landscape character areas within the site. The visualisations
also show a high quality landscape design, as seen in CGI Portfolio visualisations 16,
22, 23, 24 (received 10/01/20). It would degrade the overall quality and sense of place
which is being sought, if a high quality landscape scheme was not delivered in reality.
However, further detailed design work is needed to secure this quality, and ensure that
landscape does not get value engineered out of the proposal.
13.231 A condition is recommended to secure a detailed design for the North-South Green
Corridor, and detailed landscape scheme for Phase 1 to be prepared in accordance
with the submitted ‘11403_R04 - Landscape Specification Overview’, Landscape
Design Code and drawings ‘11403 P07j_Landscape Proposals - General Arrangement
Phase 1’ and ‘4356-A103 P2 External Finishes Site Plan’. This includes: a detailed
planting schedule including specific tree heights and mix; location, amount and
specification of seating (in particular built in seating will be sought to ensure robustness
and longevity) with understanding of capacity of use; outdoor gym equipment
specification; location, amount and specification of built in planter details; pathways
and routes; grasscrete specification; fence, gate and boundary treatments including
screening; shading and sunlight diagram for consideration of amenity space;
Landscape and Ecology Management Plan. This is to ensure that the design complies
with policies DM 9 Part E, SP 3 Part H (v), DM 3 Part A and paragraph 127 of the
NPPF.
Appearance and materials
13.232 Policy DM 9 of the LPSV notes that development proposals are required to incorporate
sustainable design and construction principles (Part A (iii)), and relate positively to their
locality having regard to distinctive local architectural styles, detailing and materials
(Part D (vi)).

54

Page 86

13.233 The NPPF (2018) paragraph 127 notes that developments must be visually attractive
as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping,
establish a strong sense of place, and be sympathetic to local character and history
while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change.
13.234 As previously discussed, the architectural design of Phase 1 Warehouse, was revised
from a grey gradation using panels on the façades to a more layered elevation strategy,
utilising horizontal banding, perforated cladding, projected canopies and framed
openings. This strategy is certainly more successful in creating rhythm on the façade,
and breaking up the mass of the large warehouse building, than the previous colour
gradated iterations. This attention to articulation and bolder detailing through the
patterned perforated cladding and large framed apertures goes further in indicating the
quality of development, which is aiming to be an exemplar scheme.
13.235 The architectural expression of tree canopy via the pattern on the perforated cladding
(see pages 33-34 of DAS) creates an interesting layer for the façade, and relates to
the landscape context of the building. The gold / champagne colour of the aluminium
cladding has been selected by the design team as a more ‘timeless’ colour to avoid a
dated look in the future. However it was noted by officers and in the August 2019
Quality Review Panel report that the aluminium cladding should not merely be
decorative, but also functional, with a:
“more rigorous approach to the locations where perforated metal screening is use with a clear rationale about the function it serves.”
13.236 The applicant has sought to set out their elevation and architectural strategy for the
perforated cladding on p.19 of the DAS. This has been a useful exercise in relation to
the proposed cladding in relation to daylight and sunlight and views within the Phase
1 development.
13.237 Design discussions also focused on the treatments of the different elevations of the
warehouse due to their differing contexts (constraints and opportunities); the western
elevation being an active frontage onto amenity space and key entrance for staff and
visitors; the northern elevation being highly visible from the M25 and associated noise;
the southern elevation providing opportunity for solar gain and accompanying risk of
overheating, set back from Dowding Way, and majority of outlook over distribution
vehicle parking; and the eastern elevation facing Phase 2 and south-east corner
transport hub location.
13.238 The ‘backdrop’ to the decorative aluminium cladding on the warehouse is Kingspan
flat panel cladding in dark grey (KC100 Greyrock) on the east and west elevations and
corners, with half round cladding in lighter grey (Sirius RAL 9006) along the length of
the south and north elevation. There were discussions of use of a colour that integrated
into the landscape in longer views (e.g. green) however it is understood that the colours
relate to the Next’s brand. More colour on the warehouse, especially on such a large
scale and in considering longer views, would have been strongly supported by design

55

Page 87

officers, however the dark grey and lighter grey alongside the champagne perforated
cladding are a suitable colour palette for the warehouse.
13.239 Materials should be reviewed and selected based on their embodied energy
performance and construction strategy, to ensure sustainable construction is being
achieved, as advised by the Quality Review Panel. Design details and material
specification for MSCP green wall specification, bridge link green roof specification,
colour-coated baguettes on bridge link and stair core colour and specification, colour
of MSCP fascia are recommended to be secured via condition, to ensure the final
delivered development of the MSCP is high quality design, sustainable material
specification and detailing, to comply with Policy DM 9 Part A (iii) and Part D (vi).
Part H - Privacy and Amenity issues
13.240 Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 requires development proposals to take account of the
privacy and amenity of the users of a development as well as that of neighbours.
Paragraph H is further split into subsections (i – iv) and the report will consider these
issues in turn.
13.241 When considering privacy and amenity issues in relation to existing residents, it is
important to understand the context of the site in relation to the nearest of these
neighbours.
13.242 In this case, the closest residential neighbour to the Phase 1 warehouse is located on
Beechfield Walk, approximately 375m away from the western edge of the application
site. In between the site and the neighbours is a substantial and robust set of mature
trees which extends across all of the east facing rear gardens of the neighbours on
Beechfield Walk. These trees are located on land beyond the control of the applicant
or the neighbours.
13.243 As previously discussed, a large hillock is located towards the south west of the site
however when viewed directly from the rear elevation of the neighbours on Beechfield
Walk the proposed Phase 1 warehouse is on a similar land level which is barely
obscured by the hillock to the south west.
Parts (i) – sunlight, daylight and open aspect
13.244 Part (i) of paragraph H seeks to ensure that adequate levels of sunlight/daylight and
open aspects are provided to the users of the development and nearby neighbouring
residents.
13.245 Phase 1 of the application proposes the erection of a large warehouse, approximately
23m high and 375m away from the eastern edge of the rear garden of the closest
residential neighbour on Beechfield Walk.

56

Page 88

13.246 The sheer height and scale of the proposed warehouse will result in the development
being clearly visible from the rear gardens of these nearby residents who back onto
the site.
13.247 Nevertheless, these neighbours are a substantial distance from the proposed
warehouse and there are a number of mature trees on their rear boundaries which will
act as a robust screen. Whilst it is acknowledged that these trees may be removed, or
be otherwise lost over time, it is concluded that the neighbours are a suitable enough
distance from the proposed development to ensure that there would not be any
significant loss to their sunlight, daylight or open aspect perception.
13.248 In any event the Phase 1 development will be the subject of a robust planting and
landscape scheme, including on its western elevation. The general layout of this
planting is shown on the General Arrangement Plan (Drawing number: 11403 Po7i
Rev J) however its precise detail can be secured by planning condition to require the
details to be agreed prior to any above ground works taking place. Appropriate planting
can ensure that there will be screening on the western elevation to assist in screening
the development from the nearby neighbours.
13.249 The proposal is therefore in accordance with part (i) of paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
Part (ii) – Overlooking / loss of privacy issues
13.250 Part (ii) seeks to ensure that existing neighbours will not be overlooked by users of
new development.
13.251 As previously identified, the closest of the residential neighbours on Beechfield Walk
are approximately 375m away from the proposed Phase 1 warehouse. The warehouse
will be set over three storeys and contain balconies on first and second floor level on
the western elevation.
13.252 The mature row of trees in between the proposed development and these neighbours
will act as an effective screen and the detailed landscape and planting scheme which
will need to be agreed prior to above ground works has the potential to assist in this
screening.
13.253 It is acknowledged that the provision of first and second floor balconies on the western
elevation will give rise to some oblique overlooking towards the residential properties
on Beechfield Walk and that the screening itself is unlikely to remove this perception
entirely.
13.254 However the combination of the distance between the warehouse and the rear gardens
of the neighbours as well as the mature trees in between and the detailed landscape
and planting scheme to be agreed prior to above ground works will ensure that there
will not be significant overlooking into the neighbours private amenity areas.
13.255 The proposal is therefore compliant with part (ii) of paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
57

Page 89

Part (iii) – Outlook issues
13.256 Part (iii) seeks to ensure that new development is not overbearing and would not cause
significant harm to the outlook of occupiers of neighbouring properties.
13.257 In the case of Phase 1, it is acknowledged that given the sheer height and scale of the
proposed warehouse, it will be visible when viewed from the private areas of the
neighbours on Beechfield Walk.
13.258 However, visibility is not determinative when considering whether a development will
cause substantial harm to the outlook of a neighbour. Indeed, the planning system
does not legislate for the protection of private views to a neighbour.
13.259 Based on the analysis of the previous two sections regarding the distance between the
new development and the neighbours as well as the mature trees and detailed
landscape and planting scheme to be agreed. It is reasonable to conclude that there
will be no significant harm caused to the outlook of the neighbours.
13.260 The proposal is therefore compliant with part (iii) of paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
13.261 Part (iv) requires that issues of noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
are properly addressed when considering an application to ensure that none would
cause significant harm to the amenity of existing residents or new users of the
proposed development.
13.262 The report will now consider each of these aspects in turn.
Noise
13.263 Phase 1 of the proposal seeks permission for a distribution warehouse which will be
operational 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. By its very nature, the warehouse will
involve the movement of HGVs, LGVs and other vehicle movements to and from the
site.
13.264 The applicant has therefore submitted a noise and vibration assessment which was
undertaken by WYG in support of the proposal.
13.265 The National Planning Practice Guidance gives advice to decision makers when
considering the potential impact of noise to potentially sensitive receptors. The BS
8233 criteria is noted within the NPPG as being of assistance to decision makers in
this regard.
13.266 BS 8233 sets out maximum indoor ambient noise level targets with the aim of providing
a preferred level of acoustic comfort suitable for resting and sleeping in residential
accommodation. This guidance gives advice on noise levels from construction and
industrial noise to provide the best opportunity to achieve these targets.
58

Page 90

13.267 In terms of methodology, the noise and vibration assessment sets out that since almost
all sounds vary or fluctuate with time it is helpful, instead of having an instantaneous
value to describe the noise event, to have an average of the total acoustic energy
experienced over its duration. LAeq describes the equivalent continuous noise level
between 7am – 11pm.
13.268 The report concludes that noise intrusion assessments have demonstrated that LAeq
noise levels are predicted to be within the BS 8233 at all nearby sensitive receptor
locations on the basis of worst-case assumptions.
13.269 Noise emission limits have been specified for the operation of the development to
ensure that it is at least 10dB below existing daytime and night time background noise
levels. Operational noise from HGV deliveries and associated movements have been
predicted to be at least 4dB below existing background noise levels at all receptors,
including the nearest neighbours on Beechfield Walk.
13.270 In terms of the construction phase, The BS 5228 criteria advises decision makers on
acceptable levels of vibration and noise levels to sensitive receptors. In this instance
the predicted noise levels during the construction phase of the development will fall
within the Fixed Noise Limit to sensitive receptors as described by BS 5228 standard.
13.271 Furthermore, since the site is within close proximity to the M25 and the negligible
contribution to overall noise levels in the vicinity of the site, the proposed development
would not adversely affect the tranquillity of the area.
13.272 In addition to restricting the hours of construction, the CEMP, which will need to be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to above
ground works being undertaken will be required to contain measures to ensure noise
impacts are mitigated to not exceed the Fixed Noise Limit contained within BS 5228.
These measures may include:


Start-up plant and vehicles sequentially rather than all together;



Minimise drop heights of materials;



Plant should be orientated and located to be in the quietest practicable
location in terms of affected noise sensitive receptors;



Noisy works, except where unavoidable, should be undertaken during the
least sensitive hours of the day;



Site operatives will be trained to employ appropriate techniques to keep site
noise to a minimum and will be effectively supervised to ensure the best
working practice in respect of noise reduction is followed;



Use continuous piling, at locations where noise-sensitive receptors are within
20 metres;



Using ‘silenced’ plant and equipment;

59

Page 91



Switching off engines where vehicles are standing for a significant period of
time;



Fitting of acoustic enclosures to suppress noisy equipment;



Operating plant at low speeds and incorporating of automatic low speed
idling;



Selecting electrically driven equipment in preference to internal combustion
powered, hydraulic power in preference to pneumatic and wheeled in lieu of
tracked plant;



Properly maintaining all plant (greased, blown silencers replaced, saws kept
sharpened, teeth set and blades flat, worn bearings replaced, etc.);



Considering the use of temporary screening or enclosures for static noisy
plant to reduce noise emissions;



Certifying plant to meet any relevant EC Directive standards; and



Undertaking awareness training of all contractors in regards to BS5228
(Parts 1 and 2) which would form a prerequisite of their appointment.

13.273 On the basis of the evidence submitted, having due regard to the BS criteria, subject
to suitably worded conditions it is concluded that the proposals would not have a
significant adverse impact on health or quality of life of nearby residents from noise or
vibration.
Lighting – Living conditions of neighbours
13.274 The application has been accompanied with an external lighting plan, external lighting
specification and external light Lux plot layout.
13.275 In terms of the design of the external lighting and luminaries, the external light
specification confirms that it will be in accordance with the guidance of ILP Guidance
Notes for the reduction of Obtrusive Light (the ILP Guidance).
13.276 The ILP guidance helps to inform good design principles for luminaire levels, aiming
angles for external flood lighting and façade illumination.
13.277 The proposed external lighting includes various types of external light including strip
lighting, pole mounted flood lighting and bollard lighting. Each of these proposed
methods of illumination proposes an upward shield to reduce light spill as far as
possible. These methods of external lighting are in accordance with the ILP Guidance.
The types of lighting proposed can be secured through the use of an appropriately
worded planning condition.
13.278 The external lighting specification sets out that column and building mounted LED
floodlights will serve the main service yard and van parking areas. In terms of
illumination, these will be:


Service Yard illuminated to an average of 20 lux
60

Page 92



Loading Bays illuminated to average of 50 lux



Van parking illuminated to average of 10 lux

13.279 The external lighting will be controlled via time channels and photo cells and in order
to prevent night time light pollution, the applicant is committed to switching off all nonessential external lighting between the hours of 11pm – 7am, Monday to Sunday.
13.280 The precise detail of the external lighting to be switched off during this period can be
agreed through the use of an appropriately worded planning condition prior to the first
operation of the Phase 1 development and this will be necessary to ensure that the
site will not cause excessive light pollution.
13.281 Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposed external lighting will not cause
any significant harm to the living conditions of the neighbours.
Air Quality – human impact
13.282 The application has been accompanied with an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) which
considers the potential impacts of the construction phase of the development as well
as the operational phase.
13.283 The AQA recognises that there is the potential for there to be substantial creation of
dust during the construction phase which could cause impact on sensitive receptors.
As a result table 9.2 of the AQA proposes a whole raft of mitigation measures to reduce
the potential impact.
13.284 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has considered the AQA and has
commented that the proposed mitigation measures have been taken from appropriate
guidance and if suitably implemented, will ensure that there will not be significant harm
caused to sensitive receptors. These measures can be secured through the
recommended condition.
13.285 Turning to the potential operational impacts, the AQA does not consider there to be
any significant degradation in air quality to any sensitive receptors close to the site.
The EHO has agreed with these findings in principle and is supportive of the proposed
measures to introduce electric vehicle charging points into the site and to restrict HGVs
utilising routes through Epping Forest.
13.286 Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and subject to the recommended
conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to air quality in relation to
human health.
Summary relating to design and neighbouring amenity issues
13.287 Drawing all the strands together in relation to design and neighbouring amenity issues,
the analysis conducted through this report has concluded that the proposed
development fulfils the Council’s overall vision and policies of ensuring that new
61

Page 93

development is comprised of high quality design, subject to the imposition of
adequately worded planning conditions/obligations.
13.288 It has further been concluded that there would not be any significant harm caused to
the living conditions of any of the existing residents who live in the area and that the
Phase 1 development will ensure a good level of amenity to staff and visitors, subject
to the imposition of suitably worded conditions / planning obligations.
13.289 The proposal is therefore compliant with the requirements of Policies SP 3, DM 9 and
T 1 Part C and Part D of the LPSV and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and DBE9 of the
ALP.
Employment and skills
13.290 Part (v) of paragraph F of Policy SP 2 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that suitable training
and skills development opportunities are provided for local residents to equip them with
the skills they need to access future employment opportunities.
13.291 The application has been accompanied by a Statement of Economic Benefits (SEB).
The SEB sets out that the development proposal will create up to 1,066 new jobs
across Phase 1 and Phase 2 and that these jobs will provide employment opportunities
for local residents.
13.292 In addition the construction of the development will create an average of 100 jobs per
month, providing further opportunities for local businesses and residents.
13.293 The Council is committed to ensuring that local residents get the best possible
opportunity for training and employment in relation to this development proposal. This
will be secured through training and apprenticeship schemes in collaboration with New
City College who are based in Debden within the District.
13.294 The applicant has indicated a willingness to engage positively with the Council and
New City College to ensure that appropriate schemes are delivered to ensure that the
local community have the best possible opportunities for training and future
employment.
13.295 The details of these schemes can be secured through a planning obligation as part of
the S106 legal agreement. Subject to the inclusion of the proposed planning obligation,
the proposal will be compliant with Part (v) of Paragraph F of Policy SP 2 of the LPSV.
Flood Risk and SuDs
13.296 There is a clear need to ensure that surface and foul water drainage and treatment
occur effectively and for the protection of both human health and the environment. This
includes the need to ensure that development will not cause pollution to water bodies
or controlled water, including ground water.

62

Page 94

13.297 Policy DM 18 of the LPSV sets out that it is expected that applications for planning
permission will ensure that there is adequate surface water, foul drainage and
treatment capacity to serve their development.
13.298 Both the Phase 1 and Phase 2 parts of the application has been accompanied with a
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The report concludes that disposal of surface water by
infiltration is not feasible. The EFDC Land Drainage Team agree with these findings in
principle and have requested a condition to ensure that the development is carried out
in accordance with the details contained within the FRA.
13.299 A detailed surface water drainage strategy has also been submitted for the Phase 1
development as part of the application and the EFDC Land Drainage Team are content
with the general principles of the design. However further detailed information is
required. This information can be secured through the use of a planning condition.
13.300 Phase 2 has not been accompanied by a detailed surface water drainage strategy,
although this detail can be secured through the use of a planning condition.
13.301 The ECC SuDS Team acts as the Lead Local Flood Authority. Similarly to the EFDC
Land Drainage Team, based on the FRA and the surface water drainage strategy the
team have no objection to the application subject to the imposition of planning
conditions.
13.302 Thames Water has been consulted as part of this application as a key utilities provider.
In terms of foul water disposal, Thames Water have raised no objection to the
application.
13.303 Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded planning conditions the proposal is
compliant with Policy DM 18 of the LPSV.
13.304 Historic Environment – Archaeology
13.305 The LPSV recognises that Epping Forest District benefits from a rich and varied historic
environment, including historic remains. Where proposals could potentially affect
archaeological remains, preference is given to their preservation since these remains
are finite and irreplaceable.
13.306 Policy DM 7 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that heritage assets (including archaeological
remains) are conserved or enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance.
13.307 To investigate potential impacts on the historic environment the application is
supported by an Archaeological baseline report which includes a desk based
assessment, including the results of a Phase 1 geo-physical survey and trial trench
evaluation.
13.308 On the basis of the baseline report and the archaeological fieldwork which has been
undertaken, the report concludes that there is no evidence for early settlement activity

63

Page 95

on the Phase 1 part of the site. These findings have been endorsed by the Historic
Environment Team from ECC.
13.309 Whilst fieldwork has been carried out for the Phase 1 part of the site, it has not for
Phase 2. Since there is the potential for archaeological remains to be present on the
Phase 2 part of the site, ECC’s Historic Environment Team has requested a planning
condition be attached to any consent to ensure that a full programme of archaeological
work is undertaken in accordance with a written scheme of investigation prior to any
groundworks being carried out on site.
13.310 This condition will ensure that the proposed development is compliant with policy DM
7 of the LPSV and the proposals would not have a detrimental impact on heritage
assessments of significance.
Ecology
13.311 The LPSV sets out that new development proposals should seek to deliver a net biodiversity gain in addition to protecting existing habitats and species. This approach is
set out in Policy DM 1 of the LPSV.
13.312 The application is accompanied with an Ecological Assessment which sets out the
baseline ecology of the application site and assesses the potential impacts of the
development and mitigation and enhancement measures which may be required.
Baseline ecological surveys
13.313 The findings of the Phase 1 Habitat Surveys demonstrate that of the habitats present
on the site, the hedgerows on the boundaries as well as the mature trees are important
at a local level.
13.314 Three species of bat were identified as being present on the site, however no bat roosts
were found to be present on the site. Thirty-two species of bird were recorded on the
site, all of which are considered to be common and widespread locally and nationally.
There were no invertebrates species of conservation concern recorded on the site and
no hedgehogs, brown hares or harvest mice were observed.
Impacts, mitigation and enhancement measures
13.315 The construction of the development proposal has the potential to cause harm to
existing habitats on the site and therefore it is recommended that a planning condition
is attached to the application to ensure that a Construction Environment Management
Plan (CEMP) is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to the commencement of works.
13.316 Similarly to the construction phase, the operational phase of the development and its
potential impacts on habitats will need to addressed in a Landscape and Ecology

64

Page 96

Mitigation and Management Plan (LEMP). This can be secured through the use of a
planning condition.
13.317 The Ecological Assessment identifies that the construction phase of the development
will cause the total loss of all habitats within the site other than the sections of boundary
scrubland.
13.318 This loss equates to approximately 10ha of arable land, including 3m on the southern
margin. According to the Biodiversity Net Gain metric, in order to achieve a net
biodiversity gain of 10% as recommended by Defra a financial contribution of £69,000
is required towards an offsite Priority Habitat restoration project. This figure has been
calculated based on the Biodiversity Impact Assessment Calculator, in accordance
with paragraph H of Policy DM 1. The applicant would provide the proposed financial
contribution that would be secured through the S106 agreement by the Local Planning
Authority.
Ground contamination
13.319 The LPSV seeks to ensure that new forms of development avoid unacceptable risks
from pollution to humans and other species. Paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV
requires that potential contamination risks are properly considered and adequately
mitigated before development proceeds.
13.320 The application is accompanied by a geo-environmental and geo-technical
interpretative report, which considers the potential contamination risks present on the
site.
13.321 The reports conclude that the topsoil and head deposits are unlikely to present a
potentially significant risk to human health; no gas protection measures are considered
necessary and the risk to controlled waters is low.
13.322 The Councils Geo-technical Team have considered the reports and agree with their
findings in principle. The team have added that:
‘records indicate that the site (Phase 1 and 2) formed part of a field throughout the
duration of time that the Council have maps and aerial photographs for, however there
may be some made ground near the road (Dowding Way)…As potential contamination
risks are likely to be low and the proposed commercial use is lower risk compared with
a residential development, it should not be necessary for these risks to be regulated
under the Planning Regime by way of standard conditions’
13.323 The standard condition suggested by the Geo-technical Team seeks to ensure that if
discoloured or odorous soils are encountered on the site, or if hazardous materials or
significant quantities of non-soil forming materials found during development works,
then development will cease until the risks are fully investigated and evaluated. If
necessary, an appropriate scheme to mitigate the potential risks will be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
65

Page 97

13.324 The proposed condition will ensure compliance with the provisions of paragraph C of
policy DM 21 of the LPSV.
13.325 Following this advice and on the basis of the evidence submitted by the applicant, the
proposal is compliant with paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV.
Energy and climate change
13.326 The LPSV sets out that the Council is committed to providing proactive strategies with
regard to climate change resilience. This approach is based on the NPPF which
encourages Local Planning Authorities to adopt a proactive strategy with regard to
sustainable development and climate change.
13.327 On 19th September 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency for the District and
set out a pledge that the Council will do everything in its power to make the District
carbon neutral by 2030.
13.328 This approach is encapsulated within Policy DM 20 of the LPSV which seeks to
encourage new developments to be of a low carbon energy use. Renewable energy
measures in new and existing development is also to be encouraged as far as possible.
13.329 The application has been accompanied by an Energy Statement and a Sustainability
Statement, the latter incorporating a BREEAM pre-assessment.
13.330 The submitted energy statement contends that the development seeks to minimise
energy consumption as far as possible through the inclusion of specific design
measures including:


Reduced air permeability



High efficiency air source heat pumps



HVAC system controls to ensure equipment is operating efficiently, including
automatic alarms for out of range values



High efficiency LED lighting, utilising low energy control systems such as
daylight dimming and occupancy sensing



A 2,341kWP south facing solar photovoltaic array

13.331 In terms of site wide Carbon Dioxide emissions, the applicant asserts that these
measures will constitute a 63% reduction in emissions over and above the
requirements of Building Regulations Part L (2013).
13.332 Part L of the Building Regulations require that the calculated C02 emission rate for the
building must not be greater than the target C02 emission rate which is defined as the
minimum energy performance requirement for a new building based on a standard

66

Page 98

methodology. This figure is expressed in terms of the mass of C02 emitted per year,
per square metre of the total useful floor area of the building.
13.333 In this case, the development across both proposed phases must either equal or be
lesser than 1,328.9 tonnes of C02 per year in order to comply with Part L of the Building
Regulations.
13.334 The submitted energy statement contends that the energy efficient measures, when
taken as a whole, including the installation of the photovoltaic array on the roof of the
Phase 1 warehouse will result in a 64.1% saving in energy consumption, which results
in a carbon saving of 995 tonnes annually, or a 75% saving over and above the
requirements of Building Regulations Part L.
13.335 The BREEAM briefing paper for assessing carbon emissions (2015) sets out that the
average C02 saving for BREEAM assessed buildings is 22% when compared against
Part L of the Building Regulations. The guidance further sets out that C02 savings of
over 55% in comparison to the Building Regulations, amounts to a BREEAM
‘Outstanding’ rating in terms of carbon emissions.
13.336 On the basis of this analysis it is reasonable to conclude that in terms of energy
consumption and C02 emissions, the proposal is compliant with Policy DM 20 of the
LPSV.
Sustainability
13.337 The NPPF sets out that the overall purpose of the planning system is to contribute to
the achievement of sustainable development which is defined as:
Meeting the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs
13.338 In order to achieve sustainable development, the NPPF sets out three overarching
objectives:


An economic objective



A social objective



An Environment objective

13.339 The NPPF is clear that each of these objectives are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways.
13.340 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF is clear that decision making should apply a presumption
in favour of sustainable development and Policy SP 1 of the LPSV follows this
approach.

67

Page 99

13.341 In support of the application, a sustainability statement has been submitted which
presents the sustainable aspects of the proposed development.
13.342 The development aspires to achieve the Building Research Establishment’s
Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) rating of ‘excellent’.
13.343 BREEAM is a sustainability assessment method used to consider development
projects through design, specification, construction and operation phases based on
performance benchmarks.
13.344 Developments are rated and certified on a scale of:


(<30%) Unclassified



(>30%) Pass



(>45%) Good



(>55%) Very Good



(>70%) Excellent



(>85%) Outstanding

13.345 As previously discussed, the submitted Sustainability Statement sets out that the
development aspires to achieve a rating of ‘excellent’ which is within the top 10% of all
UK non-domestic buildings.
13.346 In order to achieve this rating the Sustainability Statement highlights a number of
aspects of the scheme which contribute to the sustainability credentials of the
development. In short these are:


Sustainable transport initiatives and travel planning measures, including the
provision of the DRT



Phase 1 of the development resulting in an annual 995 tonne reduction in C02
emissions over the requirements of Building Regulations Part L.



Installation of 2.34 MWp Photovoltaic array on the roof of the Phase 1
warehouse



Installation of electric charging points for 10% of the car parking spaces on the
site with the capability for further charging points in the future.



Installation of low water use features and rainwater harvesting to achieve an
excess of 50% improvement over baseline consumption.

68

Page 100



Installation of new ecological habitats including native landscape and bird and
bat boxes



Use of low impact materials for the construction of the Phase 1 development



Adopting measures for waste reduction during construction



The production of a CEMP to be submitted and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of building works.

13.347 On the basis of the measures which have been advanced it has been demonstrated
that the development proposal is capable of achieving BREEAM ‘excellent’ and
therefore would be within the top 10% of all non-domestic buildings in sustainability
terms. It is recommended that a planning condition would be imposed to ensure that
the development achieves this rating.
13.348 The proposal is therefore concluded to be a sustainable form of development and is
therefore compliant with Policy SP 1 of the LPSV, Policy CP5 of the ALP and with
paragraph 11 of the NPPF.
Infrastructure
13.349 In order to deliver the sustainable and balanced growth which has been identified in
the LPSV, significant investment in infrastructure is required to meet the needs of
residents and businesses.
13.350 Infrastructure includes a wide variety of elements including transport, utilities, flood and
surface water management, open space and social and community infrastructure.
13.351 To outline the infrastructure requirements which are necessary to meet the needs of
the growth outlined in the Plan, the Council has complied an Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP). The IDP identifies:


The organisation responsible for delivering each piece of infrastructure



The period over which the relevant investment will be required; and



The cost of each item and how it is going to be funded

13.352 The IDP has been developed in consultation and cooperation with infrastructure
providers and will ensure that infrastructure is delivered in a timely, predictable and
effective manner. The IDP has also considered high level issues of viability and
therefore delivery of policy compliant new development.
13.353 The IDP is split into development areas and identifies the various interventions
necessary within each area. In this case, the most relevant of these are the
infrastructure requirements identified within Waltham Abbey.

69

Page 101

Highway interventions
13.354 As previously identified, the highway intervention regarding the improvement to
junction 26 of the M25 is a crucial piece of infrastructure to facilitate the proposed
development and must be delivered in full, prior to the operation of the Phase 1
development. The need for this to be delivered should be afforded significant weight
in the decision.
Sustainable transport measures
13.355 In order to promote sustainable forms of transport, the applicant has proposed
amongst other things, the DRT initiative which as previously discussed is an essential
piece of infrastructure in order to ensure that sustainable forms of transport are
facilitated as far as possible.
13.356 The requirement to provide the entire package of sustainable transport measures
should be afforded significant weight in the decision.
Early years and Childcare
13.357 The IDP identifies that over the Plan Period, 180 new early years spaces are required
to meet the needs arising from the proposed residential growth identified within the
LPSV.
13.358 In terms of its methodology, the requirements for these new places is based on the
residential development alone and does not take existing surplus or deficit of places in
the local area into account. Neither does the methodology consider the potential need
for early years and childcare spaces arising from significant new employment uses
such as the development proposed in this application.
13.359 In the absence of this information, ECC who are responsible for ensuring that adequate
places are present within a local area has commented that this proposal would create
an additional need for childcare spaces in the area, beyond those which have been
identified in the IDP.
13.360 The calculation of need has been derived from the ECC Developers Guide to
Infrastructure which considers the potential level of need created through employment
led development proposals which are likely to generate in excess of 50 FTE
employees. The guidance states as an example of likely demand:
150 employees x 0.04 places per employee = 6 places
13.361 Since the application form which accompanies the application set out that the
development across both phases would create up to 1,066 new jobs, ECC calculated
that this would result in a demand of 42.64 new places in the local area.

70

Page 102

13.362 Each place which would be required has been calculated to cost £17,422 and so based
on this demand ECC are requesting that a financial contribution of £742,874.10 is
made by the developer to assist in their delivery.
13.363 The Council has a responsibility to ensure that financial contributions are used
effectively to ensure that necessary infrastructure required to make a proposal
acceptable in planning terms are secured and delivered effectively.
13.364 Furthermore, financial contributions to be secured through the use of planning
obligations can only be done so if it is compliant with the Community Infrastructure
Levy Regulations (CIL).
13.365 Paragraph 122(2) of the CIL regulations states that:
A planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission for
the development if the obligation is—
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.
13.366 In the case of Early Years and Childcare, ECC has not provided any information of
existing surplus or deficit in the local area, neither does the LPSV or its evidence base
identify this.
13.367 As previously discussed, the identified need for 180 new early years and childcare
spaces as noted in the IDP is based entirely on the proposed new residential
development in Waltham Abbey and does not include new employment sites.
13.368 It is therefore reasonable to suppose that the requirement for these spaces will be
delivered through the residential schemes proposed for allocation in the LPSV as set
out in the IDP.
13.369 On this basis and given that ECC have not provided any information on existing surplus
or deficit in the local area and that no specific projects have been identified by ECC to
meet the supposed additional need, it is concluded that this proposed financial
contribution fails to comply with part 2 (a) and (b) of paragraph 122 of the CIL
regulations since it cannot be demonstrated that the obligation is necessary to make
the development acceptable in planning terms, nor that it is directly related to the
development.
Alternative use of financial contribution
13.370 Paragraph F of Policy D 1 of the LPSV states that the Council may consider prioritising
contributions in line with the IDP schedule to ensure that the most crucial infrastructure

71

Page 103

is provided in the local area at a rate and scale appropriate to the level of growth in
that area.
13.371 As has previously been identified, the need to facilitate sustainable methods of
transport are crucial for a development of this nature, particularly due to the capacity
of the local and strategic road network and the delicate nature of the Epping Forest
SAC and the proposed developments proximity to it. Of the sustainable initiatives
proposed, one of the most important to encouraging a modal shift is the provision of
the DRT.
13.372 Currently, the applicant proposes £650,000 towards the provision of the DRT, which
the operator Arriva estimates will fund the service for two years. Given its importance,
it is concluded that any additional financial contributions should be attributed towards
this initiative to assist in achieving a modal shift across the District.
Conclusion relating to Infrastructure
13.373 Subject to the infrastructure interventions as noted in the previous section being
secured through appropriate planning obligations, the proposal is compliant with policy
D 1 of the LPSV.
Impact on the Epping Forest SAC
13.374 Biodiversity features within, or associated with, a Special Area of Conservation enjoy
a high level of protection under UK and EU law, and national planning policy in
England. The provisions of the EU Habitats Directive are given effect in UK law by the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended ("the Habitats
Regulations").
13.375 Under the Habitats Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC is classified as a ‘European
Site’ and, as such, any plans and projects (including applications for planning
permission) that are likely, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects,
to have a significant effect on the SAC must be subject to an assessment, known as
an Appropriate Assessment ("AA"). The purpose of an AA is to ascertain whether any
development plan or proposal, either alone or in combination, will not harm the integrity
of the European Site.
13.376 The Council has a legal duty as the ‘competent authority’ under the Habitats
Regulations to protect the Epping Forest SAC from the effects of development (both
individually and in combination). Two specific issues relating to new development
within the District have been identified as being likely to have a significant effect on the
integrity of the Epping Forest SAC. Firstly, the increased levels of visitors using the
Forest for recreation arising from new development (referred to as "recreational
pressure"). Secondly, damage to the health of the protected habitats and species of
flora within the Forest, including trees and potentially the heathland habitats, from air
pollution generated by increased motor vehicle usage (referred to as "air quality").

72

Page 104

13.377 Policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the LPSV provide the policy context for dealing with the
effect of development on the integrity of the Epping Forest SAC outlined above.
13.378 The Council commissioned a Habitats Regulations Assessment (January 2019) of the
LPSV ("the 2019 HRA"), produced by AECOM, which has been published on the
Council Local Plan Examination website. The 2019 HRA includes an Appropriate
Assessment of the planned development within the LPSV and the effect of that
development on the Epping Forest SAC. The 2019 HRA concluded that, subject to
securing the urbanisation/recreational pressure and air quality mitigation measures to
which the Council, the adoption of the Local Plan will have no adverse effect on the
Epping Forest SAC.
13.379 However, following their review of the 2019 HRA, Natural England (NE) maintained
their objection to the Local Plan, citing a number of specific concerns about the HRA.
The Local Plan Inspector has advised that it is not currently possible to conclude
beyond reasonable scientific doubt that the LPSV will not adversely affect the integrity
of the SAC and has advised the Council of the actions considered necessary to resolve
this.
13.380 Since receiving the Inspector’s Interim Advice, the Council has been working with its
professional advisors and NE to identify the most appropriate way forward. The
Council’s proposals are contained in its response to the Inspector dated 11 October
2019.
Recreational Pressure
13.381 As regards recreational pressure, on 18 October 2018 the Council adopted an ‘Interim
Approach to Managing Recreational Pressure on the Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation’ (“the Interim Approach”) as a material planning consideration in the
determination of applications. The Interim Approach was developed in conjunction with
NE and the Conservators.
13.382 This Interim Approach identifies that any additional residential development located
within a 6.2km zone of influence of the EFSAC would be likely to have a significant
effect when considered in combination with other plans / projects. Any such
developments are therefore required to mitigate the impact of this recreational
pressure.
13.383 The Interim Approach identifies that this is most appropriately and equitably achieved
by the payment of financial contributions from all developments resulting in a net
increase in dwellings within 3km of the EFSAC towards the implementation of Site
Management and Monitoring Measures (“SAMMs”). The cost of the implementation of
the Interim Approach has been apportioned across three local authority areas – Epping
Forest District and the London Boroughs of Redbridge and Waltham Forest. For
relevant residential developments within the Epping Forest District area, the
contribution is currently set at £352 per net additional dwelling

73

Page 105

13.384 Since this application does not propose a residential development, there will be no
additional visitor pressure on the forest and as such no contribution is required. EFDC
has an interim approach to recreational management in place as agreed to by NE,
officers are content that this development would be dealt with in accordance with the
principles set out in that approach. It is also considered that the geofencing mitigation
strategy would deal with any staff or visitor vehicle movements during their
commutable hours.
Atmospheric Pollution
13.385 Turning to atmospheric pollution, having regard to advice from Natural Engalnd (NE),
the Council’s view is that a likely 'in combination' significant effect on the EFSAC from
proposals for new development anywhere within the District that may lead to an
increase in vehicle movements on roads within 200m of the EFSAC cannot be ruled
out
13.386 Unlike with recreational pressure, the Council has not yet agreed a District-wide
approach with NE to mitigate or avoid the potential adverse effects to the integrity of
the EFSAC arising from atmospheric pollution. In the absence of an approved air
quality mitigation strategy, the Council’s position is currently therefore that all
development proposals that result in a net increase in vehicle movements must be
subject to an Appropriate Assessment (AA) in accordance with regulation 63 of the
Habitats Regulations, which includes the appropriate statutory consultation with NE
and taking into account any advice received.
13.387 NE’s current advice on AA’s is that any identified in combination effects are best dealt
with by way of a strategic solution and the level of assessment required is overly
onerous for it to be dealt with on a case-by-case basis and the most effective forms of
mitigation are unlikely to be deliverable by individual applicants.
13.388 In this instance the applicant has provided a project level HRA which includes an AA.
13.389 In terms of air quality, the potential impact of the Phase 1 development is from the
potential increased number of commercial vehicles as well as staff and visitor vehicle
movements through the SAC. The report will deal with these aspects in turn.
13.390 With regards to Phase 2, this part of the application is for outline permission with all
matters reserved. Although the end user of Phase 2 is unknown at this stage, the s106
obligations will apply to the application site as a whole and any obligations expressed
in a negative manner within the s106 would be binding upon any user of Phase 2 in
the usual manner. In addition it is recommended that the s106 obligation include a
requirement on the part of the landowner to ensure that any sale or lease of the Phase
2 part of the site includes a requirement that any positive obligations given in the s106
are enforceable as against a new owner of the Phase 2 area.
Commercial vehicles

74

Page 106

13.391 The submitted HRA acknowledges that commercial vehicles travelling through the
SAC which would increase the pollutant burden, which NE consider is already at critical
levels throughout the SAC.
13.392 In response, the applicant proposes to control all commercial vehicle movements
through the submitted Route Management Plan (RMP), which was discussed earlier
in this report.
13.393 As previously discussed the RMP would effectively create a virtual ‘geofence’ around
the edge of the SAC + 200m and to restrict all commercial vehicles from entering any
route within its boundaries.
13.394 The end user of the Phase 1 development, Next, has indicated that the RMP is
enforceable since all their drivers are Next employees rather than contractors and can
therefore be instructed not to use routes through the geofence.
13.395 In relation to the proposed RMP and geofence with regards to commercial traffic
Natural England have advised that:
Natural England does not consider that assessment of the effectiveness and
enforceability of these plans falls within our remit or area of expertise but has
previously advised that developments which lead to no net increase in traffic
movements through roads within 200m of the SAC compared to existing usage could
be considered to have no likely significant or adverse effects and can therefore be
screened out. Your authority should therefore satisfy itself that the measures proposed
would result in no net increase in traffic. To achieve this EFDC as the competent
authority will need to be certain that the measures being proposed are enforceable
(both legally and in practice), quantifiable and effective beyond reasonable scientific
doubt.
13.396 Officers consider that since the commercial vehicles are owned and operated by Next,
the RMP and associated geofence is enforceable both legally and practically and can
be monitored effectively.
13.397 This could be secured through the use of a planning obligation to ensure an effective
and robust means of monitoring to ensure compliance.
13.398 On the basis of the submitted evidence, the advice from NE and the analysis
undertaken it is concluded that commercial vehicles in relation to the Phase 1
development will not use routes within 200m of the edge of the SAC. As such, adverse
impacts in relation to air quality can be ruled out beyond a reasonable scientific doubt
both alone and in combination with other projects.
Staff and visitor vehicle movements
13.399 Similarly to the management of commercial vehicles, the applicant proposes to utilise
the geofence technology to restrict the movement of their staff as they travel to and
75

Page 107

from work, as with the commercial geofence, it will be set around the boundary of the
SAC + 200m.
13.400 Staff members and visitors who travel to the site in a non-electric vehicle will be entirely
restricted from using routes which pass through the SAC. The applicant proposes this
to be monitored through a planning obligation with the Council which includes regular
monitoring. The Council is still negotiating with the applicant in respect of the exact
mechanism through which vehicles would be monitored and therefore the resolution is
subject to this being fully resolved prior to issuing a decision. Officers are also seeking
advice of the legality and enforceability of this approach
DRT offsetting
13.401 The provision of the DRT which was discussed previously in this report is regarded as
a key initiative to facilitate modal shift as far as possible. The scheme will be open to
members of the public as well as employees of the new development and the applicant
contends that it will cause a net reduction in the number of vehicles using routes
through the SAC. The following sections of the report will examine the potential trips
made to the site from staff members and visitors.
Staff Travel movements
13.402 Technical note 9, contained within the HRA appendices sets out that since only 123
parking spaces will be available on the site for staff when Phase 1 first becomes
operational, the maximum level of breach arising from staff members would be 123
vehicle movements.
13.403 This level of breach is considered by the HRA to be an overestimation since this would
require all 123 cars to travel through the SAC unsustainably. Since travelling to work
through the SAC using unsustainable transport methods would be a disciplinary
offence and that sustainable transport alternatives are proposed, the HRA assumes
that only 5% of staff will realistically breach this policy and this amounts to a total of 24
journeys through the SAC per day. The HRA concludes that this is very much a worstcase scenario sine it is unlikely that staff would persist in travelling this way when it
breaches company policy.
Visitors to the distribution warehouse
13.404 The HRA concedes that the movement of visitors to the site cannot be controlled
through the geofence which is proposed to control the movements of employees.
13.405 Within this context, it is estimated that there will be an average of 8 visitors to the
distribution warehouse on a typical day. This estimation is based on the similarly sized
Next distribution warehouse located in Bristol. Were each of these visitors to utilise
unsustainable methods of travel through the SAC it would result in a total of 16 trips
on a typical day.

76

Page 108

13.406 The HRA considers this to be an overestimation since approximately half of visitors
will be Next staff and will be aware that restrictions on travel are in place and the other
half will be regular contractors whose movements will be controlled commercially
through contract.
Visitors to the photo studio
13.407 As previously identified, the photo studio will provide a shuttle bus to the site from
Waltham Cross station. This dedicated service will be run by Next and will provide a
means of transport for visitors to the photo studio.
13.408 Next forecast that there will be a maximum of 225 people appointed by the photo
studio, which includes a maximum of 101 potential visitors.
13.409 Since some of these visitors include children and their chaperones, it is estimated that
there will be a maximum potential of 79 visitors on any one day travelling by car.
13.410 The HRA assumes that of these 79 possible vehicle movements, 52 (66%) of people
could realistically travel in this way and this is based on a worst-case scenario. This
equates to 104 total trips through the SAC.
Summary of SAC vehicle movements
13.411 Based on the assumptions set out in the HRA, which are based on a worst-case
scenario, the maximum level of breach from staff and visitors is 160 vehicle trips per
day.
Predicted impact of DRT
13.412 The HRA indicates that the identified potential harm through these vehicle trips will be
entirely offset by the provision of the DRT, indeed it is predicted that the DRT will
reduce the number of existing vehicles from using routes through the SAC.
13.413 The operator of the DRT Arriva Click, have confirmed that it would expect to obtain
patronage from Waltham Abbey, Loughton and Chigwell which contains approximately
65,000 residents. Given that existing bus routes between these areas is relatively poor,
it is seen as a significant opportunity to delivering sustainable transport options.
13.414 It is difficult to predict the potential impact that a DRT service will have in the area with
regards to taking existing traffic off the network since the concept is relatively new,
however the HRA uses two previous examples as a baseline.
13.415 Arriva Click began a service in New Lubbersthorpe located just outside Leicester. In
this example, 300 new homes have been erected approximately 6 miles from Leicester
city centre. In the six months the DRT has been operating, 5000 journeys have been
made to and from the new development.

77

Page 109

13.416 A further example is also provided for Liverpool, where statistics from Arriva Click have
demonstrated that 39% of its users previously either drove their own vehicle or ordered
a taxi. This suggests that the provision of a DRT can help to facilitate modal shift for
existing road users.
13.417 For the purposes of this application, the submitted HRA uses a conservative estimate
that the DRT will remove half of one percent of all existing vehicles currently using the
SAC.
13.418 This amounts to a total of 240 trips from the network, which when compared to the
total number of predicted breaches caused by the Phase 1 development of 160 trips
per day would have a net benefit of removing 80 vehicle trips through the SAC per day.
13.419 As previously identified, the net benefit derived from the provision of a DRT is difficult
to quantify, however based on its catchment area of 30km2 and its coverage of a
significant amount of population, it is likely that a significant number of people will be
able to use the DRT once it is in place. In terms of sensitivity therefore, a reduction of
half of one percent of existing traffic is a reasonable assumption.
Conclusion relating to the air quality issues in relation to the SAC
13.420 As previously discussed, it is reasonable to conclude that there will be no increase in
commercial vehicles travelling through the SAC as a result of the Phase 1 development
subject to an appropriately worded planning obligation.
13.421 In terms of staff and visitor movements, the Council is currently negotiating with the
applicant on the exact form and mechanism the proposed ‘geofence’ would take to
ensure that it would be robust and legally enforceable.
13.422 On the basis of the analysis undertaken and with due regards to the proposed
mitigation and potential offsetting of existing vehicles from the road network, it can
reasonably be concluded that there would not be an increased number of non-electric
or carbon free vehicles moving through the SAC.
13.423 Therefore, the Council as Competent Authority would be in a position to conclude
beyond reasonable scientific doubt that there would not be harm caused to the SAC
as a result of air pollution arising from this proposed development. It is recommended
that the s106 agreement should have a review mechanism in respect of the air quality
mitigation strategy to ensure compliance with the envisaged outcomes.
14.

EQUALITY DUTIES AND HUMAN RIGHTS

14.1

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires that a public authority must exercise its
functions having due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
(age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief;
sex; and sexual orientation) and persons who do share it and foster good relations
78

Page 110

between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not share it.
14.2

In making this recommendation, due regard has been given to this Public Sector
Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics. It is considered that there will
be no specific implications and that, if approving or refusing this proposal, the Council
will be acting in compliance with its duties.

14.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for a public authority to act in a way
which is incompatible with any of the Convention rights protected by the Act unless it
could not have acted otherwise. Careful consideration has been given to the rights set
out in the European Convention on Human Rights, in particular Article 6 (right to a fair
trial); Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life; Article 14 (prohibition of
discrimination); and Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of
possessions).

14.4

The Council is of the opinion that the recommendation does not interfere with any such
rights except insofar as is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others. The
Council is permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the public interest
and the recommendation is considered a proportionate response to the submitted
application based upon the considerations set out in this report.

15.

THE PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSON

15.1

The general effect of paragraph 11 of the NPPF is that, in the absence of relevant or
up-to-date development plan policies, the balance is tilted in favour of the grant of
permission, except where the policies within the NPPF that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a "clear reason for refusing the development proposed”
or where the benefits of the proposed development are "significantly and
demonstrably" outweighed by the adverse impacts when assessed against the policies
in the NPPF taken as a whole.

15.2

As previously discussed, the proposal must be considered to be inappropriate
development in the Green Belt and cause substantial harm to its openness, which
carries substantial weight against the proposal. However it has also been found that
VSC exist which clearly outweighs the harm to the Green Belt.

15.3

The potential adverse impacts on the SRN and the SAC as a result of the proposed
development cannot currently be ruled out. However further work is currently ongoing
to consider these potential impacts.

15.4

Notwithstanding the outstanding issues discussed above, the analysis conducted
through this report has demonstrated that subject to those matters being adequately
resolved subject to the imposition of conditions and obligations, the development as
proposed is in accordance with the provisions of the relevant policies of the LPSV, the
relevant saved policies of the ALP and with the requirements of the NPPF.

79

Page 111

15.5

It is therefore recommended that planning permission is granted subject to
appropriately worded planning conditions and obligations and subject to the issues
relating to the SRN and the SAC being suitably resolved

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: James Rogers
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564 371
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk
Appendix 1 – Planning conditions
Appendix 2 – Neighbour representations

80

Page 112

APPENDIX 1: LAND AT DOWDING WAY: PROPOSED DRAFT CONDITIONS
TIME LIMIT
1. The PHASE 1 development hereby permitted and as shown outlined in red on plan nos.
4356 A100 P22; 4356 A112 P4; and 4356 A115 P2; shall be begun before the expiration of
3 years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
2. Approval of the details of the access, landscape, layout, scale, design and external
appearance of the buildings, and the landscaping of the PHASE 2 site as shown outlined in
red on plan nos. 4356 A112 P4 and 4356 A115 P2 (hereinafter called "the reserved
matters") shall be obtained in writing from the local planning authority before any
development within the relevant phase is commenced. The reserved matters shall accord
with the following parameter plans: 4356 A114 P6; 4356 M101 P5.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 (2) of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
3. Application for approval of the reserved matters for PHASE 2 (pursuant to Condition 2)
shall be made to the local planning authority before the expiration of three years from the
date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 (2) of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
4. The PHASE 2 development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration
of three years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the
date of the approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.
Reason: To prevent the accumulation of planning permission; to enable the Council to
review the suitability of the development in the light of altered circumstances and to comply
with the provisions of Section 92 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
APPROVED PLANS
5. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the details
shown on the approved plans listed below: A100 P22; A103 P2; A112 P4; A115 P2; A136
P4; A200 P4; A201 P5; A202 P5; A203 P4; A204 P6; A205 P5; A207 P2; A209 P2; A210
P10; A211 P4; A300 P5; A311 P7; A400 P5; A410 P2; A413 P4; M101 P5.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
FINISHED FLOOR LEVELS
6. Prior to the commencement of the PHASE 1 development, details of the finished floor
levels of the building of the development hereby permitted in relation to existing ground
levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development or shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to
drainage, access, the appearance of the development, the amenities of neighbouring

Page 113

occupiers and existing trees, hedgerows and other landscaping, in accordance with Policies
T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policies
DBE2, DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11 and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
7. Prior to the commencement of the PHASE 2 development, details of the finished floor
levels of all of the buildings within the development hereby permitted in relation to existing
ground levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to
drainage, access, the appearance of the development, the amenities of neighbouring
occupiers and existing trees, hedgerows and other landscaping, in accordance with Policies
T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with DBE2,
DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11 and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
MATERIALS
8. Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, samples of the materials to be
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the PHASE 1 development hereby
permitted, including any external cladding, decorative fascia or panels, balustrades and
glazing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. Please do not
send materials to the Civic Offices. Materials should be kept on site and arrangements made
with the planning officer for inspection.
Reason: To ensure a high quality design and satisfactory appearance to the development as
a whole in accordance with Policies DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with
Policies DBE1 and DBE4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
9. Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, samples of the materials to be
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the PHASE 2 development hereby
permitted, including any external cladding, decorative fascia or panels, balustrades and
glazing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. Please do not
send materials to the Civic Offices. Materials should be kept on site and arrangements made
with the planning officer for inspection.
Reason: To ensure a high quality design and satisfactory appearance to the development as
a whole in accordance with Policies DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with
Policies DBE1 and DBE4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
PHASE 1: DESIGN & LANDSCAPE
10. Prior to the commencement of the PHASE 1 development hereby permitted (including
ground works, vegetation clearance), a construction environmental management plan
(CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
(b) Identification of ""biodiversity protection zones"".
(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or
reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).

Page 114

(d) Measures to protect badgers from being trapped in open excavations and/or pipe
culverts.
(e) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
(f) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site
to oversee works.
(g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
(i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction
period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the local planning authority.
Reason: To avoid or mitigate the effects of the construction of the development on ecological
receptors, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission
Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
11. Prior to the commencement of any above ground works of the PHASE 1 development
hereby permitted, full details of both hard and soft landscape works shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority and these works shall be carried out
as approved. These details shall include means of enclosure; car parking layouts; green wall
on the eastern elevation and south west corner of the multi storey car park; other vehicle and
pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard surfacing materials; minor artefacts and
structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting etc);
proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage power,
communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.); and existing
trees to be retained.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment
of the site. To safeguard the visual character of the immediate area in accordance with
Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and
LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
12. Soft landscape works pursuant to Condition 10 shall include planting plans; written
specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass
establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate; implementation programme. All planting, seeding or
turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first
planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of
the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5
years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar
size and species, unless the local planning authority gives written approval to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment
of the site. To safeguard the visual character of the immediate area in accordance with
Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and
LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

Page 115

13. Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the PHASE 1 development
hereby permitted, details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority of:
a) The trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are to be retained;
b) A scheme for the protection of the trees, shrubs or hedges to be retained, produced in
accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction.
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and:
i. No operations shall be undertaken on site in connection with the development hereby
permitted (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving, temporary
access construction and / or widening or any operations involving the use of motorised
vehicles or construction machinery) until the protection works required by the approved
protection scheme are in place;
ii. No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take place
within any area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the approved
protection scheme;
iii. Protective fencing shall be retained intact for the full duration of the development hereby
approved and shall not be removed or repositioned without the prior written approval of the
local planning authority;
iv. No tree, shrub or hedge shown to be retained shall be felled, uprooted, wilfully damaged
or destroyed, cut back in any way or removed without the prior written approval of the local
planning authority. Any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without such consent, or which die
or become severely damaged or seriously diseased within five years from the occupation of
any building or the development hereby permitted being brought into use shall be replaced
with trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local planning
authority gives written approval to any variation.
Reason: To protect existing trees during the construction works and to ensure that the
character and amenity of the area are not impaired, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5
and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted
Local Plan and Alterations 2006. .
14. Prior to the first occupation of the PHASE 1 development hereby approved, a landscape
management plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out
as approved.
If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree that tree, or any tree
planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies (or becomes, in the
opinion of the local planning authority, seriously damaged or defective), another tree of the
same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place in the
next planting season, unless the local planning authority gives its written consent to any
variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and to safeguard the
visual character of the immediate area, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of
the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

Page 116

15. The development hereby permitted shall proceed in accordance with the terms of the
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Tyler Grange,
September 2019). Its implementation shall include the supervision of the tree protection
during the demolition and construction phases by an Arboricultural Consultant (provided by
the applicant with the agreement of the local planning authority).
Reason: To protect existing trees during the construction works in order to ensure that the
character and amenity of the area are not impaired, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5
and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted
Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
16. Prior to the first occupation of the PHASE 1 development, a landscape and ecological
management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following.
(a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
(b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
(c) Aims and objectives of management.
(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
(e) Prescriptions for management actions.
(f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled
forward
over a five-year period).
(g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
(h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the mechanism(s) by which the long-term
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies)
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring
show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies
and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development
still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme.
The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure habitat enhancement within the landscape of the development, in
accordance with Policies DM 1, DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version
and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
PHASE 2: DESIGN & LANDSCAPE
17. Prior to the commencement of the PHASE 2 development hereby permitted (including
demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance), a construction environmental management
plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
(b) Identification of ""biodiversity protection zones"".
(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or
reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).
(d) Measures to protect badgers from being trapped in open excavations and/or pipe
culverts.
(e) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.

Page 117

(f) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site
to oversee works.
(g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
(i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction
period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment
of the site. To safeguard the visual character of the immediate area in accordance with
Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and
LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
18. The details to be submitted for the approval of the local planning authority in accordance
with
Condition (2) above shall include:
(a) hard surfacing materials;
(b) car parking layouts;
(c) other vehicles and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
(d) means of enclosure;
(e) retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration where relevant;
(f) existing trees and hedgerows to be retained;
(g) soft landscape works which shall include planting plans; written specifications (including
cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules
of plants (to include structurally diverse habitat and local species of provenance), noting
species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate. Details shall
include replacement hedgerow planting;
(h) tree/hedgerow removal;
(i) tree planting, including species, planting location, timing of planting, specification and
maintenance. Details shall include:
(j) tree protection measures;
(k) measures for biodiversity enhancement;
(l) programme of management for the soft planting;
(m) proposed finished levels or contours;
(o) external lighting;
(p) secure cycle storage facilities;
(q) refuse facilities;
(r) minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, refuse or other storage units, signs etc.);
(s) proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage, power,
communications cables, pipelines) including heating strips, indicating lines, manholes,
supports etc.
The approved hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out prior to the first occupation
of any part of the PHASE 2 development hereby permitted. The trees, shrubs and grass
shall subsequently be maintained for a period of five years from the date of planting and any
which die or are destroyed during this period shall be replaced during the next planting
season and maintained until satisfactorily established.

Page 118

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment
of the site. To safeguard the visual character of the immediate area in accordance with
Policies T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with
Policies DBE2, DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11 and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.
19. Prior to the first occupation of the PHASE 2 development hereby approved, a landscape
management plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out
as approved.
If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree that tree, or any tree
planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies (or becomes, in the
opinion of the local planning authority, seriously damaged or defective), another tree of the
same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place in the
next planting season, unless the local planning authority gives its written consent to any
variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and to safeguard the
visual character of the immediate area, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of
the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.
20. Prior to the first occupation of the PHASE 2 development, a landscape and ecological
management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following.
(a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
(b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
(c) Aims and objectives of management.
(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
(e) Prescriptions for management actions.
(f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled
forward over a five-year period).
(g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
(h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the mechanism(s) by which the long-term
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies)
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring
show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies
and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development
still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme.
The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure habitat enhancement within the landscape of the development, in
accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and
with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
21. Prior to the first occupation of the development, a staff and visitor accessibility strategy
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy
shall include details of the way in which all staff and visitors will have access to the on-site

Page 119

café, outdoor amenity and other key facilities. The agreed strategy shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interest of good design and accessibility, in accordance with policy DM 9 of
the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1 and DBE4 of the Adopted Local
Plan and Alterations 2006.
HIGHWAYS
22. Prior to the commencement of each phase of development hereby permitted (PHASE 1
or PHASE 2), a Construction Management/Method Plan and Statement with respect to the
construction phase of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. Development works shall be undertaken in accordance with the
approved Construction Management/Method Statement. The details shall include, amongst
other things; hours of work/piling; contractors parking areas, compounds, storage areas and
details of wheel washing facilities including location of petrol/oil interceptors in all car
parking/washing/ repair facilities; the management of crossings of the public highway and
other public rights of way; minimisation of dust emissions arising from construction activities
on the site; post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and any
temporary access to the public highway; and details of the responsible person (site
manager/office) who can be contacted.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance
of the development. To prevent oil-polluted discharges entering local watercourses. To
ensure satisfactory provision in relation to adjoining properties and circulation within the site,
in accordance with Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with
Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
23. Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for each phase of the
development hereby permitted (PHASE 1 and PHASE 2), a highways management plan
with respect to that phase of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The highways management plan shall include the
management responsibilities and maintenance schedule for the private access road; the onsite car and cycle parking; servicing, loading and unloading, turning and waiting areas. The
management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and its
requirements adhered to thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance
of the development, in accordance with Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission
Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations
2006.
24. Prior to the commencement of the PHASE 2 development hereby permitted, full details
in the form of scaled plans and written specifications shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority to illustrate the following:
i. Roads, footways, foul and on-site water drainage.
ii. Existing and proposed access arrangements including visibility splays.
iii. Parking provision in accordance with adopted standard.
iv. Cycle parking provision in accordance with adopted standard including details of lighting,
accessible pass gate specification (including width and weight), location and specification of
bike stands, electric bicycle charge point, and bike maintenance stand.

Page 120

v. Servicing areas, loading areas and turning areas for all vehicles.
Thereafter, the development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: In the interests of maintaining highway efficiency and safety and the character and
appearance of the development, in accordance with Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan
Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.
25. Prior to commencement of each phase of the development hereby permitted (PHASE 1
or PHASE 2), swept path assessments for the specified phase of development shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include the
following:
a) Large car accessing car parking spaces to demonstrate that they can be safely entered
and departed from. This should be demonstrated for the car parking spaces that are in
corners and for one midway in a row. This will be necessary for any public or employment
car parks;
b) Swept path assessment for a fire tender manoeuvring within the site to demonstrate that a
fire tender can safely manoeuvre within to access all units;
c) Swept path assessment for a public transport bus to demonstrate that, should a bus route
be diverted through the site, the internal network can accommodate a bus;
d) Swept path assessment for a refuse vehicle to demonstrate that refuse collection and
servicing can take place within the development site;
e) Swept path assessments for servicing and delivery vehicles for any commercial land uses
to demonstrate that servicing and deliveries can be accommodated within the development
site and within the respective land use sites. Thereafter, the development, or the specified
phase(s) of the development (whichever is the sooner) shall only be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public
highway and rights of way, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission
Version and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
ECOLOGY
26. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological
Appraisal (Ecological Assessment, Southern Ecological Solutions, September 2019) and the
Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Measures (Table 20. Summary of impacts,
mitigation and residual effects and as detailed in the Ecological Assessment, Southern
Ecological Solutions, September 2019). Prior to the commencement of above ground works
a timetable for the implementation of the ecological mitigation measures shall be submitted
to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To enable proper consideration of the impact of the development on the
contribution of nature conservation interests to the amenity of the area, in accordance with
Policy DM 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with CP1 of the Adopted Local Plan
and Alterations 2006.
SUDS/GROUND CONDITIONS

Page 121

27. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development hereby permitted
(PHASE 1 or PHASE 2), details of earth works proposed as part of that phase of
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
These details shall include the proposed grading and mounding of land areas including the
levels and contours to be formed, showing relationship of proposed mounding to existing
vegetation and surrounding landform. Development or the specified phase of the
development (whichever is the sooner) shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to
drainage, access, the appearance of the development, the amenities of neighbouring
occupiers and existing trees, hedgerows and other landscaping, in accordance with Policies
T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policies
DBE2, DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11 and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
28. No development on the PHASE 1 site approved by this planning permission shall take
place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme has been submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the local planning authority. The surface water drainage system will be based
on the submitted Flood Risk Assessment carried out by Adept Civil and Structural
Consulting, ref: 03.18004-ACE-ZZ-ZZ-RP-C-001 and the Drainage Strategy indicated on
drawing nos. Phase 1 Drainage Layout P2; Site Wide Drainage Strategy P1.
The surface water drainage scheme should include:
(a) Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the 1 in 100 year + climate change critical
storm so that it will not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site and not increase the
risk of flooding off-site;
(b) Providing attenuation to ensure no increase in surface water run-off volumes for all
rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change event;
(c) Implementing the appropriate drainage strategy based on attenuation and discharge,
using appropriate SuDS measures;
(d) Details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed after completion;
(e) Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS measures.
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with
the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period
as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface
water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
users, in accordance with Policies DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version
and with Policy RP5A and U3B of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
29. No development on the PHASE 2 site approved by this planning permission shall take
place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme has been submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the local planning authority. The surface water drainage system will be based
on the submitted Flood Risk Assessment carried out by Adept Civil and Structural
Consulting, ref: 03.18004-ACE-ZZ-ZZ-RP-C-001.
The surface water drainage scheme should include:
(a) Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the 1 in 100 year + climate change critical
storm so that it will not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site and not increase the
risk of flooding off-site;

Page 122

(b) Providing attenuation to ensure no increase in surface water run-off volumes for all
rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change event;
(c) Implementing the appropriate drainage strategy based on attenuation and discharge,
using appropriate SuDS measures;
(d) Details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed after completion;
(e) Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS measures.
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with
the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period
as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface
water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
users, in accordance with Policies DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version
and with Policy RP5A and U3B of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
30. Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority, prior to
commencement of development, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has
been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that adequate protection of human health is maintained and the quality
of groundwater is protected, in accordance with Policy DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan
Submission Version 2017, the Thames River Basin Management Plan, Planning Practice
Guidance and the National Planning Policy Framework.
31. No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the
express written consent of the local planning authority, which may be given for those parts of
the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to
controlled waters. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval
details.
Reason: To ensure that adequate protection of human health is maintained and the quality
of groundwater is protected, in accordance with Policy DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan
Submission Version 2017, the Thames River Basin Management Plan, Planning Practice
Guidance and the National Planning Policy Framework.
32. The proposed use of this site has been identified as being particularly vulnerable if land
contamination is present, despite no specific former potentially contaminating uses having
been identified for this site. Should any discoloured or odorous soils be encountered during
development works or should any hazardous materials or significant quantities of non-soil
forming materials be found, then all development works should be stopped, the local
planning authority contacted and a scheme to investigate the risks and/or the adoption of
any required remedial measures be submitted to, agreed and approved in writing by the
local planning authority prior to the recommencement of development works. In such
instances, following the completion of development works and prior to the first occupation of
the site, sufficient information must be submitted to demonstrate that any required remedial
measures were satisfactorily implemented or confirmation provided that no unexpected
contamination was encountered.
Reason: To ensure that the issue of contamination is adequately addressed and to ensure a
satisfactory development. To ensure that adequate protection of human health is maintained

Page 123

and the quality of groundwater is protected, in accordance with Policy DM 21 of the Local
Plan Submission Version and with Policy RP4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations
2006.
SUSTAINABILITY/ENERGY
33. Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for each phase of the
development (PHASE 1 or PHASE 2), a method statement that demonstrates the way in
which the development will meet the minimum sustainability levels and standards as set out
in the Energy Statement (Envision, September 2019) and Sustainability Statement (Envision,
September 2019) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The details shall include both passive and active sustainability measures to be
incorporated into the built fabric of the development and those measures to be carried out
during the construction phase of development. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interest of delivering positive sustainability and environmental benefits. To
support the move towards a low carbon economy, in accordance with the National Planning
Policy Framework and Policies DM 20 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policy
CP8 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
NOISE QUALITY
34. The use hereby permitted must cease during any period that the rating level of noise (as
defined by BS4142:2014) from any fixed mechanical plant on site exceeds the prevailing
background noise level. The measurement position and assessment shall be made
according to BS4142:2014.
Reason: To protect nearby noise sensitive residential and commercial premises from
significant loss of amenity due to noise, in accordance with Policy DM 9 of the Local Plan
Submission Version and policy DBE9 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
LIGHTING
35. Prior to the occupation of the development, a lighting strategy shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall include details of lux
levels, lighting design and when all non-essential external lighting for the PHASE 1 shall be
non-illuminated.
Reason: To protect nearby light sensitive residential and commercial premises from significant
loss of amenity due to excessive lighting. To protect the character and amenity of the area, in
accordance with Policy DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and policy DBE9 of the
Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
ARCHAEOLOGY
36. No development shall take place on the Phase 2 site before the implementation of a
programme of archaeological work relating to that phase in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation that shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Page 124

Reason: To ensure that adequate opportunity is provided for archaeological research on this
historically important site. To ensure the appropriate identification, recording and publication
of archaeological and historic remains affected by the development, in accordance with
Policy DM 7 of the Local Plan Submission Version and Policy
RESTRICTIVE CONDITIONS
37. The maximum gross internal floorspace hereby permitted for the Phase 1 development
shall not exceed the hereby approved figure as specified in the below table.
Phase 1 Accommodation
Warehouse – Level 00
Ancillary accommodation – Level 00
Ancillary accommodation – Level 01
Ancillary accommodation – Level 02
Ancillary accommodation – Level 03
Ancillary accommodation – Level 04
Mezzanines
Gatehouse
Total Storage & Distribution Floorspace
(Class B8)
Photo Studio Level 1
Photo Studio Level 2
Total Photo Studio Floorspace (sui generis)

Gross Internal area (GIA) (sqm)
25,718
2,006
472
751
173
608
22,868
25
52,621
2,323
2,323
4,645

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, this includes floorspace created by the installation of an
internal mezzanine the details of which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to any above ground works to ensure compliance with Policy T
1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policy ST6 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.
38. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without
modification), no fences, gates, walls or other means of enclosure shall be constructed
without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to retain control of the development in the
interests of maintaining the character and appearance of the area. In the interests of
residential and visual amenity, in accordance with Policy DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission
Version and policy DBE9 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
39. Notwithstanding the hereby approved plans any extract/air conditioning/refrigeration and
/or ventilation system proposed for installation outside of the approved roof plant enclosures
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its
installation within or on any individual Unit. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect nearby noise sensitive residential and commercial premises from
significant loss of amenity due to noise, in accordance with Policy DM 9 of the Local Plan
Submission Version and policy DBE9 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

Page 125

INFORMATIVES
1. The Local Planning Authority has been positive and proactive in its consideration of this
planning application suggesting improvements to the development during the course of the
application. The applicant submitted amended plans and additional and revised information
resulting in a form of development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the District.
2. Any advertisements and / or signage shall be agreed separately under the Town and
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 2007.
3. The applicant is advised that no waste materials generated as a result of the proposed
demolition and/or construction operations shall be burnt on the site. All such refuse shall be
disposed of by suitable alternative methods.
4. The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Control of Pollution Act 1974 relating to the
control of noise on construction and demolition sites.
5. Thames Water Advisory: No properties shall be occupied until confirmation has been
provided that either:- all water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional
flows to serve the development have been completed; or - a housing and infrastructure
phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to allow additional properties to be
occupied. Where a housing and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no occupation shall
take place other than in accordance with the agreed housing and infrastructure phasing plan.
Reason - The development may lead to no / low water pressure and network reinforcement
works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made available to
accommodate additional demand anticipated from the new development. The developer can
request information by visiting the Thames Water website at thameswater.co.uk/preplanning.
6. Environmental Protection and Drainage Advisory: The applicant has provided a surface
water drainage strategy and the general principles of the design are acceptable. The
Environmental Protection and Drainage Team will require further information/clarification at
the discharge of conditions stage on the following:
- Evidence of the required water quality treatment for the southern part of the access
road in line with Chapter 26 of the SuDS Manual.
- Details of mitigation measures in place for the overall site in relation to fuel and oil
spillage.
- Evidence of a permit to discharge into the main river from the Environment Agency.
- Details of pump contingency.
- Health and safety precautions to be included in relation to the open water features.
- Survey of the existing watercourse and its ability to take the additional surface water
from the development.
- Details of where any flooded volume for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% will be contained
within the site as per the planning statement.
- A detailed drainage plan must be supplied including details of any interceptors for
fuel spillage, silt traps, catch pits, exceedance routing, in addition to details already
covered in the Flood Risk Assessment.

Page 126

7. All work within of affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior
arrangement with, and to the requirements and satisfaction of, the Highway Authority. The
applicant is advised to contact the Development Management Team by email at
development.management@essexhighways.org or by post to SM03 – Essex Highways,
Childerditch Highways Depot, Hall Drive, Brentwood, CM13 3HD.
8. The Public Right of Way network is protected by the Highways Act 1980. Any
unauthorised interference with any route noted on the Definitive Map of PROW is considered
to be a breach of legislation. The public’s rights and ease of passage over public footpath no
62 Waltham Abbey, shall be maintained free and unobstructed free and unobstructed at all
times to ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive right of way.

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

Address

Comments
I completely object, as I don't think Waltham Abbey, is big enough as a town for another large development, as we already have great
traffic problems in the relief rd of the town and lights etc is going to cause more and more chaos. The buildings itself if they look as the
architect predicts are not that bad to look at, as long as the fit in the wild life and the environment.

12 Ruskin Avenue,
Waltham Abbey

Hello, I use this road everyday to travel to work and currently have to leave earlier than required to avoid traffic and this means less
time spent with my children before they go to bed if traffic becomes worse. Also me and my neighbour use this road for bike rides
which will be spoilt. There is plenty of land around Essex and around the m25 which could be used which wouldn’t affect small
communities like Waltham abbey.

78 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

We strongly oppose the next development being built near our home. We feel adding that amount of traffic on top of what's already
around us will be bad for my two children's and our health. Traffic is already a problem. Seeing that there is on 300 parking spaces
for600+ employees will ring extra cars onto our road as a footpath will made near our home. So employees will have no choice but to
park on our street. The fields have abundant wildlife the next development will ruin the wildlife. This development will impact my
families life with regards to health and wealth please do not build this development.

17 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

I and my family strongly object to this Next Development on the following grounds: 1) This development is not in character for this
heritage and forest dominated area & will be a blot on the landscape. 2) This development will cause immeasurable delays for local
residents & environment due to congestion of traffic caused by huge supply lorries. This will gravely impact access by local residents to
M25 motorway due to downstream congestion with people taking to local roads like Daws Hill and Avey Lane to avoid this stretch.
Narrow & winding local roads with limited carrying capacity will lead to congestion caused by vehicles seeking alternative routes and
increase many fold the risk of serious accidents and disturb the flora & fauna of the area. 3) In addition to congestion there will be a
significant negative impact on environmental pollution caused by vehicular emissions from huge lorries and additional congestion in
downstream local back roads. This pollution will adversely impact the delicate ecological balance of this forest & bird life conservation
area comprising of Epping Forest and Lea Valley Park, designated as Areas of Special Scientific Interest (ASSI). Disturbing this delicate
eco balance would invite grave irreversible environmental damage for the woodland, heath, rivers, bogs, ponds and wildlife. 4)
Sewardstone Road - a main road connecting with Dowding Way - is already creaking under the weight of excessive traffic. It will be
badly impacted & will become a living nightmare of snarling jams & potential accidents. Even currently snarls in this section lead to
chaotic traffic jams lasting up to one hour. 5) Local residents are already suffering due to poor public transport links to rail & metro
services. This will worsen the access. In brief this Next development seems to be ill thought out in terms of the environmental and
social costs to local residents. We plead to the Council to reject this application due to our strong objections detailed

Page 129

22 Victoria Road,
Waltham Abbey

Address
52 Howard Close,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
My mother and I object to the council allowing this horrendous plan to invade more on the green belt land. We don’t need more lorries
on our roads. There is enough already. There is wild life that would be destroyed as a result. It is money grabbing and a total disregard
to our surroundings.

Page 130

17 Deer Park Way,
Waltham Abbey

Having lived in Deer Park way since 2002, I have continually seen an increase in the disruption to my life and that of my children's lives.
This has come from the ever increasing amount of lorries and cars that use Meridian way from the M25 junc 26, past my estate and
then onto McDonalds and vice versa. If there is an accident or something that has happened to either side of M25 then you can not get
in or out of our estate due to the sheer volume of traffic and that's not to mention the air quality and dust particles in the air. I apposed
the Next building application before and I will continue to oppose it. This area is already overloaded with traffic and just because Next
have made the original planning application look "Pink and Fluffy" does not mean that I shall agree with it this time. I say NO NO NO NO
NO to this application as I am sick and tired of the quality of life that my family and I are having to deal with, with ever increasing
amounts of lorries and industrial traffic that we have to put up with, it is just not fair and not acceptable.

4 Hayden Road,
Waltham Abbey

I would like to object to the above proposed planning application, on the grounds of increased pollution and the impact it will have on
an already highly congested local traffic issue. My wife and I live with our young family on the meridian park development and feel that
we will be highly impacted by the increase in air pollution due to the enhanced emissions from the large increase in HGV’S on the local
roads. This is also likely to cause considerable issues in the local area with regards to traffic congestion, as the m25 has weekly traffic
problems, resulting in vehicles coming off at j26 to cut through Waltham abbey and re-join at j25. With new traffic signals stopping
traffic on the A121, Waltham abbey, will grind to a halt, making it difficult to carry out our day to day lives, especially getting children
too and from school. I urge you to take into consideration, our views and concerns.

10 Rush Drive, Waltham
The roads are already far too busy! And the impact on the environment will be disastrous!
Abbey

Address

Comments

Wren Drive, Waltham
Abbey

The affected area is Honey Lane and its surrounding roads, like Wren Drive, Old Shire Lane etc. The south roundabout at J26 and Honey
Lane (A121) during rush hour (morning and evening) is horrendous at the best of times. It can back up from Honey Lane (A121) down
to the roundabout, under the M25 to the second roundabout and either up to other part of Honey Lane or onto the slip road (in some
cases back onto the motorway itself). The inclusion of this Next site will add considerable more traffic and congestion during peak
times, which already causes delays. In addition are already numerous lorries travelling down Dowding Way to Sainsbury's, we don't
need more. Adding a set of traffic lights on Dowding Way again on adds to congestion. Plus Dowding Way is in a terrible state. It is
sinking in places and breaking up. The proposed road amendments are at best a waste of paint, and in most cases only add to more
congestion. Two into One as a traffic management process are a waste of time. Having pointless (short) merge schemes only add to
congestion. Merge schemes have never worked on congested roads (the A10 is a prime example). There is also the Junction 26 Lorry
park and dinner, which when busy, lorries park on the road between both roundabouts.

Page 131

15 Thaxted Way,
Waltham Abbey

Ecologically this is a disaster for Waltham Abbey whose District Councillors recently declared a climate emergency. The impact on
wildlife and green land cannot be underestimated. The knock-on effect to local residents health can only be detrimental. The number
of additional vehicles using this already busy stretch of road mean this heavily congested area by the M25 will basically be at a
standstill for much of the day. The longer journey time for existing residents daily commute will only mean the air quality will decline
further. Our children have grown up in Waltham Abbey during the time the Sainsbury's depot has been in situ with the resulting
pollution we feel contributing to both girls now having asthma. I can't imagine how Councillors can justify making air quality even
worse when they are due to be looking at ways to minimise the impact of climate change. How would passing this application be in any
way helping the district become carbon neutral in 10 years time? Unless the declaration was a hollow promise, I don't see how any
decision to destroy green belt and replace with another distribution centre, could be construed as a positive for the local area and the
residents the councillors should be representing. I fail to see the proposed increased spend in the local economy. This would have to
mean every employee spending approx. £50 per week in Waltham Abbey. Due to the location by the M25, those workers would be
unlikely to travel into the town to shop. I find this upside very misleading. I also find the use of language like 'Green Corridor' in the
Next proposal quite divisive as this concerns having some green areas on site rather than acknowledging the destruction of large areas
of green space / green belt if the work were to go ahead. The range of eco-friendly measures on site I would expect as a minimum for
any new building however they do nothing to counter-balance all the negative effects on the environment surrounding the planned
centre.

Address

22 Hayden Road,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
I wish to oppose the planning development re: land to the north of Dowding Way. The warehouse would be over-bearing, out-of-scale
and out of character compared to existing buildings in Waltham Abbey. The impact of the development on the landscape and
environment would be disastrous, spoiling the few green areas left around Waltham Abbey. As a resident of Meridian Park, we have
one access road in and out of a large estate which is already busy with cars and lorries accessing the M25. This development would
cause excessive traffic making the already busy area even harder to travel through during peak rush hour times. Road safety would
become even more dangerous. There will be an adverse effect on the residential amenity of neighbouring residents, including noise &
disturbance.

Page 132

40 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey

I am absolutely sick and tired of the area in which I have lived all my life being constantly blighted by development. It has all added to
more traffic congestion in the area, more noise and the roads are in constant need of repair due to the HGV lorries travelling on the
roads near me. I also think it is disgusting that more and more of green and brown belt land is being taken up by development.
When are the government and local authorities going to start thinking about how all this development impacts on peoples lives? I am
strongly opposed to it.

40 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey

Further to receipt of your letter to me dated 16/12/19, I wish to state that I am still strongly opposed to this planning application, for
the reasons I have given in previous correspondence to you.

12 Deer Park Way,
Waltham Abbey

I live on meridian park and the traffic is horrendous enough as it is trying to get out of the estate when every day their are lorries from
the existing Sainsbury's warehouse and traffic coming off the M25 and M11. I am also concerned as I have a child and a husband with
health issues on the reduced air quality this will bring and also the loss of greenbelt - it was this green belt that we moved to Waltham
abbey for and put our taxes into this community. Please do not let this planning application go through.

Address

104 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

Page 133

41 Honey Brook,
Waltham Abbey
41 Honey Brook,
Waltham Abbey
11 Grange Court,
Waltham Abbey
45 Millhoo Court,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
My house backs onto the public footpath and my security on my house will be threatened by the increased number of people allowed
to walk past without challenge. The footpath that the developer has proposed should be re-routed away from the back of our houses
for a more direct route to the proposed development. If Next are planning on spending money on a footpath the direct route from
Roundhills is coming off the bridge and heading straight or to the left that way our houses and gardens are not infringed on. There are
plenty of brownfield sites to be built on and re-developed if this is the start of building on valuable greenbelt it will be highly
regrettable for the local community. The link Road suffers enough and is poorly maintained due to the wrong construction in the make
up of the road and this is bad even with the HGVs that use it now if this warehouse goes ahead the road will be even poorer no matter
how much its repaired. On a normal day the roundabouts and the queues on them are terrible with the amount of current traffic using
these roads with additional vehicles will be catastrophic. When the M25 suffers from delays and accidents on a weekly basis between
25, 26,and junction 27 Waltham Abbey suffers that is bad enough without the extra vehicles going to this proposed development. I
don't believe the Next Warehouse will provide local people work as it says it will. Sainsbury doesn't employ all its staff from the local
area they commute so the extra commuters and extra cars and extra vehicles will be affecting the increased pollution in our local area.
I cannot see the bus service financed by Next for the whole duration of them occupying the site who will fund it otherwise.
We do not need this in the Abbey. Traffic is a nightmare now let alone with extra lorries. The slightest bit of trouble in the M25 and the
abbey is gridlocked to get in and out off. The land host home to many wonderful wildlife, these will go and many lose their habitat. The
extra jobs will not go to local people but to those already employed by next!!
I still strongly object to these plans, as previously stated - these new plans will make no difference to what I have previously said. **NO
TO NEXT** we do not need this in our little community, the roads cannot cope as it is !!!!!!
I strongly object to the planning of next plc ,traffic is bad enough around Waltham Abbey, will bring in more pollution, will effect the
wildlife ,would like to keep what's left of our green belt
I feel this would effect myself and my husband every day due to all the traffic that will be coming through our town making us late even
more than we are sometimes due to the congestion getting to Brimsdown and Waltham Cross. This used to be a green belt area where
children and adults can go. It’s now becoming a very up area with a massive housing complex being built. Which has increased traffic
over the town. Now putting in a Next with lorries and people travelling in from work.

Address

Comments

Page 134

8 Hayden Road,
Waltham Abbey

I am upset that this application is being put forward AGAIN given that residents objected to this only a year ago. We already have huge
traffic issues around Waltham Abbey whenever the M25 has a problem. All the roads surrounding Waltham Abbey then become
terribly congested. Sewardstone Road is only one example of this which results in constant temporary traffic lights being put in place
due the pot-holes that appear because of the heavy traffic it has to deal with. This results in even more congestion for people getting
to and from work. It is unthinkable that you would be considering adding to this heavy traffic when the small town struggles to cope
with what is currently in place. The Government is currently looking at air quality and I would like to know what effect this might have
on the area in terms of this worrying issue. Has this even been considered. All of these very serious points do not even take into
consideration the loss of Green Belt, damage to the forest and displacement of wildlife. I am sure this is something that Extinction
Rebellion would need to be made aware of and I intend to make sure this issue is raised. I wrote to the local authority about the
condition of the pavement along Meridian Way which poses a health and safety hazard, two years ago, they can and put barriers
around the huge pot-holes in the pavement. They never returned to carry out the repair! the barriers have long since fallen over and
have created another hazard in themselves. If the local authority can't deal with these small issues in terms of up-keep and safety
issues, how on earth do they propose dealing with much bigger issues that this plan would potentially pose to our local area? As a local
home-owner, this would be enough to make me consider leaving the area. I intend to to contact the Extinction Rebellion movement
for their support.

268 Round hills,
Waltham Abbey

I object to this building works as I do not think the local area and the local road infrastructure is adequate - to an already small road
system and area, will cause more delays, accidents, traffic congestion and pollution and road maintenance. these big lorries are already
blocking up the locality.

I strongly object to this application. I live locally to the site, within 1 mile. The traffic routes around the area are already at breaking
point, traffic amounts along Sewardstone road and Honey Lane EVERYDAY. Dowding Way is already a HGV paradise with hundreds of
lorries a week using this road to access the Abbey (mainly Tesco and Sainsburys lorries). The purposed development will make traffic
16 King Williams Court,
around the area unbearable, this will effect everyone's day to day lives. It will take people longer to get to work and will delay
Kendall Road
everyone's jobs. The scheme offers little in the sense of 'jobs' as almost none of these will be given to local people. And will more than
likely be handed to agency workers who will commute from afar, this will add to the traffic issues. The development during
construction will cause major issues for people wanting to use the M25.

Address

5 Burrows Chase,
Waltham Abbey

38 Walton Garden ,
Waltham Abbey
60 Amwell Court,
Waltham Abbey

Page 135

74 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
I wish to strongly object to this proposal. As a home owner in the neighbouring street I feel this would have a huge impact on our dayto-day living with the added traffic to the already high number of vehicles travelling down Dowding Way, Sewardstone Road and
Meridian Way, not to mention the days when the M25 is gridlocked. There is no advantage to jobs for the local area as I am aware of
the relocation of current employees, thus preventing jobs for local residents. With the local busy roads and the M25, more and more
traffic will also have a negative affect on the pollution in the area and destroying the greenbelt.
Far too much traffic and pollution coming through our little town as it, let alone taking up all our green space.
I am strongly opposed to this plan. Waltham Abbey cannot cope with anymore pollution and traffic. The wildlife is under far too much
stress as it is, the deer in Epping Forest suffer enough without more lorries and cars coming into the town.
I object most strongly to this application for the following reasons:- it is destroying the environment around Beechfield Lane/Lodge
Lane, as we already have Sainsbury Distribution Centre/M25/Dowding Road/Sewardstone Road surrounding our small estate. The
amount of traffic will increase considerably despite what the management at Next are saying. The M25 is a very busy road and at a
standstill at least twice a day on both sides every day so adding Next vehicles will make it worse. When the M25 is at a standstill it is
nigh impossible to get out of Waltham Abbey because of the traffic leaving the M25 and blocking our roads. The amount of traffic has
increased considerably on Sewardstone Road over the last year and it can sometimes take up to 15 minutes to get out of Beechfield
Walk.

5 Hayden Road,
Waltham Abbey

As a resident on the Meridian Park Estate in Waltham Abbey I strongly object to this application, The traffic situation, being on an M25
junction where we already have a huge Sainsbury's distribution centre, is often chaotic. Incidents on the motorway have a huge knock
on effect on all local roads, most of which run through a forest we all need to preserve. The added burden of thousands of lorries will
only make the situation worse. The promise of local jobs is a false pretence, Waltham Abbey fortunately is not exactly a hot spot for
unemployment, in reality few local people will end up working there. Please note there is strong local opposition to these plans.

39 Fairways, Waltham
Abbey

There is already enough lorries and disruption in the Waltham Abbey area without adding even more!

2 Ashleigh Court,
Waltham Abbey

The roads around the area in question are already heavily congested and this will only make them worse, not to mention the increase
in the already noticeable air pollution. There are times when the nearby roundabout is near impossible to use, due to the heavy traffic
on the roads. Many people from Woodford to Epping, use this as their access to the M25, so the roads are already under heavy stress.
The locals who live in the area do not want these changes and do not want the great stress these changes will inflict on the local area.

Address
27 Broomstick Hall
Road, Waltham Abbey

Comments
Please do not destroy the green belt areas that have historically been preserved. This community is systematically destroyed by
building pollution, transport fumes, roads that are already struggling with the enormous influx of traffic. And for what gain. Another
warehouse. More of this country's land to be torn apart in a time when we are all increasing awareness of preserving what is good
and worth saving. Of preserving our air quality and environment.

Page 136

31 Upshire Road,
Waltham Abbey

The roads are already too busy with people speeding regularly.

1 Wrangley Court,
Waltham Abbey

I object to the plans as I don’t feel Waltham Abbey can cope with the increased traffic flowing along our road network which is already
strained especially in rush hour. It will cause extra pollution and increased noise pollution which is already high due to the proximity of
the M25. I don’t believe it will create extra jobs for local people as most jobs will be minimum wage jobs and instead it will mean extra
people travelling in from outside the area which will add to my points above. If the application is successful it seems like we are
opening the gates for Waltham Abbey to become a major distribution hub when in reality we are a small town surrounded by green
and brown belt land that should be protected.

42 Millhoo Court,
Waltham Abbey

I object the plans and building work! We want to keep out green space! It will cause major traffic through and around Waltham Abbey.

5 Hockley Court,
Waltham Abbey

Our town is too small to cope with the influx of traffic this will bring. The roads are already of poor quality due to the lorry’s that use
Dowding way. The traffic at rush hour is awful and a small journey which would normally take 10 minutes can take up to an hour when
the M25 is gridlocked. The site itself has wildlife what will be disturbed should these plans go ahead. We do not have much green space
left in Waltham abbey and these plans need to be stopped.

15 Tillingham Court,
Winters Way

Disgusted that more jobs will not be generated for our local residents as promised.

2 Shingle, Waltham
Abbey

I am horrified that these plans are even being considered! I live on the housing estate by the Marriott Hotel and every day have to
battle to get through the traffic spilling from the M25 junctions, which is even worse when there has been an accident near the
junction as additional cars try to exit and take the “back route” to the next junction. We also have HGVs parked up all along the
Marriott hotel road, opposite Junction 26 cafe/expo and actually all along Farthingale Road, which will be even worse with the
additional HGVs passing through the area. It’s so dangerous as they park obscuring corners so cars are swerving out to pass them! I
also have 3 young children and the air pollution from the additional traffic will make our garden completely unusable during the
summer.
The area cannot handle the traffic that it has daily now how on earth will it cost with more cars and lorries. The m25 junction already
struggles daily.

11 Elm Close, Epping

I object to this project because the traffic in the area is already terrible. Adding this will make it much worse. It is also a green belt area.

9 Merlin Close,
Waltham Abbey

Address

Page 137

Comments
Although these plans bring jobs, they will also bring in people from outside so less parking will be available. When there is trouble on
44 Fairways, Waltham
the M25 Waltham Abbey is gridlocked so with more traffic and lorries it will make the situation worse. This will increase the pollution
Abbey
and we will lose more green areas.
Although we don't live in Waltham Abbey we do live in Epping Forest and use the M25 junction near this proposed development
frequently as do my children. This junction already gets gridlocked at certain times of the day, not just rush hour Monday-Friday, often
23 Middle Boy, Abridge,
on the weekend traffic queues around the roundabouts for us particularly it queues around the roundabout and up Woodredon Hill.
Romford
To have a development like this will mean more traffic as people commute to get to work there and also the extra lorries coming and
going during the building phase and after.
I live on Farm Hill Road, I have 2 dogs and a baby and am pregnant with our second. The number of HGVs that travel along my road,
(although not supposed to!?!) through the town and around the parks we use is unacceptable and this is at all times through the day.
We already have to tolerate the increased car traffic, the pollution and noise as if there is any disruption on the M25 we are used as a
37 Farm Hill Road,
cut through. Walking our dogs on gunpowder park means traffic noise and pollution from the number of lorries and cars used around
Waltham Abbey
this area. I can’t imagine what this will be like with another depot and what the impact to wildlife. I am supportive of opportunities to
improve Waltham Abbey for its residents but I do not believe this depot will bring in jobs for the local community but will bring us
more pollution and traffic.
41 Forest Heights,
I am totally opposed to this application. It is green belt land and should be kept as such. This will have a huge impact with more lorries
Buckhurst Hill
and traffic putting even further pressure on Epping Forest (the actual forest not the district).
I totally object to the updated proposal to concrete over valuable green belt land.
Epping Forest, a site of Worldwide importance sits extremely close to this site. Already the roads running through the forest have very
41 Forest Heights,
high traffic levels (which are increasing yearly). This complete overdevelopment of this green belt area should be dismissed out of
Buckhurst Hill
hand. Any goods and warehouse areas should be sited near public transport and on brownfield site. There are plenty of these sites
situated near the A13 which could and should be used.
13 Gilsland, Waltham
Have you ever tried to get out of Waltham abbey when there's trouble on the m25 no chance! Like Sainsburys, people from the abbey
Abbey
won't get jobs. That's green belt once one in the whole road will be built on. NO!!!

25 Wren Drive,
Waltham Abbey

The traffic at the roundabout at the top of Honey Lane is already a nightmare in the morning and evening rush hours and now Next is
proposing to add another roundabout and traffic lights to the bypass road which will only cause more traffic to back up Honey Lane and
the M25. With the proposed clean air tax on the A10 at Junction 25 of M25, Waltham Abbey is going to have even more traffic trying to
avoid that charge getting off at Junction 26 instead of Junction 25 and using our roads to get to Waltham Cross, etc and using the
Crooked Mile to avoid the ever increasing traffic through Waltham Cross. We don't need any more lorries in Waltham Abbey!

Address

Comments

3 Alison Close, Waltham We are very concerned about the amount of heavy traffic this will create in the area especially if the M25 is closed as it is quite often.
Abbey
The route through to Waltham Cross is bad enough in these circumstances and with this extra traffic it will be impossible.

Page 138

5 Hayden Road,
Waltham Abbey

The traffic on Dowding Way on the approach to the M25 roundabout is already heavily congested every day. If you are approaching the
roundabout from Dowding Way to go up Woodridden Hill it is almost impossible to gain access to the correct lane and it is constantly
jammed with cars. Even though you have right of way. The traffic congestion to that area of Waltham Abbey would be chaos along with
the added pollution of the extra lorries. It is also on Green Belt land. We already have the noise and constant use of the Sainsburys
distribution centre to deal with right opposite our Estate. We live near a beautiful conversation area of Epping Forest, why would you
allow another large Warehouse development to be built in this area which is already suffering from pollution of the M25. To allow this
planning application to go ahead would be a failure to all the residents of the immediate area.

3 Harveyfields,
Waltham Abbey

As someone who uses junction 26 morning and evening I object completely to this application. There is already massive pressure on
this junction due to the Sainsbury's depot and it is frequently backed up on both roundabouts. As soon as there is an incident on the
M25 Waltham Abbey becomes grid locked impacting everyone who lives and works there.

52 Newteswell Drive,
Waltham Abbey

This will have such vast negative impact to the lives of this small community I live in. It already has a heavy load of traffic etc. More
pollution and taking away of green land. No one wants this!!

2 Mayfield, Waltham
Abbey
Barnfields Riding
School, Sewardstone
Road, Chingford
19 Bradley Road,
Waltham Abbey

The building of the depot will take away some of the fields land and will do nothing for the town. It will bring more traffic with lorries
and how can they be certain that it will bring jobs to the local people? People will park on the roads, clogging up the pavements and
roads too.
We are residents and own a riding school on Sewardstone road - our business struggles due to traffic congestion and clients missing
appointments. The Sewardstone road is already hazardous and has many accidents, making it an unpleasant place to live alongside.
There’s a lot of noise from the road already.
I strongly disagree with any more kind of warehouse building in our small town. Townsfolk are imprisoned when there are problems
on the m25 and our roads cannot take anymore!!

Address

Comments

I use Dowding way and the M25 on a daily basis as I am a sales rep and am increasingly finding my job more stressful and difficult as
the traffic getting in and out of the Abbey is ridiculous. Coming off the M25 going into the Abbey anti clockwise the slip road is always
backed up and blocked as cars are heading towards Epping and Loughton and the road can't deal with the traffic. This in turn blocks the
99 Roundhills, Waltham whole roundabout and creates gridlock, with this problem already there with more traffic and lorries the road wouldn't be able to
Abbey
cope. By adding this extra pressure with lorries and traffic you will be creating misery to the residents of the Abbey and traffic chaos.
On top of that, what effect will it have on wildlife? I'm sure thousands of animals homes will be destroyed? I moved to Waltham Abbey
for its easy links to London and the M25, M1 but these links are being destroyed by the amount of traffic travelling through here, sadly
if this goes ahead I may have to move and up route my children.
19 Orchard Gardens,
Waltham Abbey
43 Paternoster Hill,
Waltham Abbey

Page 139

28 Paternoster Close,
Waltham Abbey

51 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

The plans next have submitted will ruin the town if anything. More traffic, more cars, less jobs for locals.
I strongly oppose this application on the grounds of traffic volume. The area is already at breaking point with the roads heavily
congested. I have lived in Waltham Abbey for 6.5 years and the congestion has significantly got worse in that time. If this new
warehouse opens with the increase in traffic it will be catastrophic. The increase in pollution will also be detrimental to the health of
everyone in our community.
I strongly object to Next building here as the wildlife need somewhere to thrive whilst competing with the M25 and mass of traffic
caused by the humongous Sainsburys depot. Also the fact they are relocating staff for this location so not even jobs, at minimum wage,
for Waltham Abbey residents.
Significant pollution further affecting air quality and compounded with additional traffic which will only make it worse.
I can't even get out of my turning of a morning as it is. Traffic already backs up from sewardstone road through to the abbey. HGVs
clogging up the roundabout.
I don't believe it will bring any opportunity to the town or economic benefit to the town. Workers will come in from Enfield via
agencies and it's too far for the town's local businesses to feel a benefit from the staff. With the area having just elected Dave Plummer
there should be a much stronger recognition of the environmental concerns of residents.
Additionally, the retail sector is under pressure. What happens when Next follows a long line of brick and mortar retailers to go bust?
All this without mentioning the unforeseen impact on local residents. Take a visit to town mead of a night and pass the daily lorry
convention or walk through the litter trail in gun powder park that leads to Enfield.

Address

Comments
The local area already suffers immensely whenever there is a problem on M25, the whole town becomes gridlocked. This happens on a
regular basis as anyone who listens to radio can testify to - Junction 26 is frequently mentioned in traffic reports. Local people cannot
76 Monkswood Avenue, enter or leave the town.
Waltham Abbey
My main objection is with regard to the increased traffic problems such a development would incur.
However, I strongly object also to the use of green belt land for unnecessary commercial buildings in a small residential town. The
development would not benefit local people in any way.
I object to the application by next. The traffic on the roundabout at the m25 junctions is horrendous as it is, another 1000 lorries a day
87 Rounton Road,
will make it impossible to leave Waltham abbey using woodreddon hill.
Waltham Abbey
It would also have a large negative impact on the local wildlife and forest.
In an age when climate change is more prevalent do you think it is acceptable to take away green belt land and introduce 100s of 1000s
of extra traffic into Waltham abbey? The economy of our town isn't going to grow as a result of Next building a warehouse if anything it
will be detrimental to the businesses thanks to more traffic jams preventing shoppers from visiting our ever depleting high street!

10 Cullings Court,
Waltham Abbey

I am a resident of Waltham abbey. My son goes to school in Waltham Cross. The traffic through the Abbey, most mornings makes a
10min drive into a 30mins drive. On bad days, because the M25 has come to a stand still, it can be and has been a three hour journey. I
reject the application by Next building on Dowding way for a number of reasons. I don’t believe the locals will get jobs that are
promised. I don’t believe the bus service will be suffice. People who can not park on site for work will end up filling the residential
roads with cars. Our green built is much more important for our futures that the Next new build. There are protected species in the
fields that are protected for a reason. The shear volume of traffic already going through the town to Enfield and to Epping can be
horrendous and will be made worse with the high number of lorries. The level for pollution is going to damage not just the adults
health but the children of Waltham abbey, which will increase demand of the NHS. The roads will be damaged by the very high
number of lorries coming and going to the depo, Next won’t be fixing them!!. I/we do NOT want this build because it brings nothing
positive to the town. I request this planning permission be declined on the true realistic reality of what would be to come, the damage
it will cause the area and our long term health.

6 Osprey Road,
Waltham Abbey

What plans have been made to improve the M25 junction 26 and Honey Lane junction towards Wakes Arms roundabout? There are
already regular delays and congestion at this junction. A further increase in traffic will increase air and noise pollution. If not enough on
site parking is available where will employees park?

Page 140

8 Caterham Court,
Waltham abbey

Address

Comments

29 Nursery Rise,
Waltham Abbey

I object to the proposed development. The traffic in and around junction 26 of the M25 and the M25 itself is already horrendous especially when there is poor weather or an accident. Adding the volume of lorries this development will bring to an already crowded
area will gridlock Waltham Abbey. This is unacceptable. The loss of the green belt is also not appropriate to this area. We should not
build right up to the borders of the Forest. Any development on this land needs to be sustainable and sympathetic to the environment,
as well as supportive to the local economy. I do not consider this proposal to succeed on either count.

Stonyshotts, Waltham
Abbey

Objection to proposing works. Influx in traffic. Climate control. Green belt lane

Page 141

22 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey

12 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey
12 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

If this development goes ahead I believe it will have a detrimental effect on the local area. The installation of traffic lights on Dowding
Way will cause gridlock at times. When there's an accident on the M25, the traffic uses Dowding Way as an exit route. Traffic lights will
make the jams worse.
There's no guarantee that Next will recruit workers from Waltham Abbey. Many (most?) workers at the Sainsbury's warehouse don't
live in the area, so I doubt this will be any different.
As for generating extra business for local shops, this is nonsense. There will be a staff canteen so Next workers won't need to leave the
premises to have lunch. And I doubt they will have time to go shopping on their break, especially if they are coming in by bus, as the
walking distance would be too far.
One large warehouse is enough. If this goes ahead it will give the green light for other businesses to follow and the character of the
area will completely change for ever.
The land is part of the greenbelt and shouldn't be touched.
Please do not pass this because of the major traffic disruption this will cause at Dowding Way either the roundabout at Waltham Cross
or at the M25 roundabout. It’s bad anyway. Traffic lights will make it worse and we on the meridian estate will be Made to suffer.
The carbon footprint will be worse with the lorries going up and down.
I am still refusing permission to build a distribution centre and its extras on this land which is "GREEN BELT" ...I dont understand why
you are pursuing this ,it is protected land or have I been misinformed.
The road dowding way is being used as a short cut whenever there is an incident on the m25, which is a regular event that's beside
the 1000 lorries a day using the sainsbury's depot.

Address

Email/none given

Page 142
76 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
I have lived in Waltham Abbey for over 30 years and this latest planning application is beyond belief.
Waltham Abbey has changed from a quiet market town into an industrial estate and the infrastructure is sorely lacking if this proposal
should go ahead.
Apart from the chaos that we have to endure every day from the M25 - we live behind the Marriott hotel and I can assure you that this
is a daily occurrence.
In addition to the problems of the M25, we have to suffer the problems that the lorry park 'Junction 26' brings. Often the lorry drivers
are confused and turn down Old Shire Lane and then cannot turn around causing more chaos.
The development is not appropriate for this area and will be detrimental to the community of Waltham Abbey. The building will be
bulky and the lorries will bring pollution, noise and cause the M25 roundabout to be blocked.
I am a resident in Beechfield Walk and have been for almost 59 years!! I totally oppose the above plans as it will almost certainly affect
our lives in Beechfield/lodge lane and also the whole of Waltham Abbey.
There are numerous reasons why we oppose it!
1) it is very close to us and concerns for noise 24 hours a day!
2) use of public footpaths behind us and cycling links will no doubt bring a flow of employees through our road constantly!
3) the weight of traffic will almost certainly increase through Waltham Abbey though we are assured it wont this is rubbish as only
have to get a problem on M25 and our roads in and out of Waltham Abbey are nightmare. Most days there is a problem somewhere!
4) the loss of another area of land which is so important to wildlife ....these fields were our playground and are now being swallowed
up. Since I have lived in Beechfield we had our King George playing fields taken from us to make way for M25....the link road for
Sainsburys depot was put at the back of us so cut off more rural fields....the garages at top of our road are being pulled down for
houses or flats.
We have totally been cut off and made to feel like an island...there has been no thought for the residents whatsoever over the years.
We have been trampled on and treated very appallingly..
This is supposed to be progress and good for the Town but all it will do is swallow more green belt and turn it into an industrial estate!!
This is so sad when once it has gone it will be gone forever!!
We are happy where we live and have been for many many years since Beechfield/lodge lane were first built and we don't want the
quality of our life to change because of a terrible decision to build this monstrosity so near our home.

Address

Comments

Page 143

101 Broomstick Hall
Road, Waltham Abbey

I strongly object to this application, due to the potential destruction of green belt land. This is a continuation of the gradual erosion of
greenbelt land around Waltham Abbey. The traffic will increase following this construction. Waltham Abbey Town Council have
declared a climate emergency and this proposal is contrary to this declaration. There are already major queues daily in this area of
traffic and this proposal will worsen the problem. The suggestion that the site will offer jobs to the local area is tenuous and that staff
will bring millions of pounds to Waltham Abbey is also tenuous. I doubt that staff will travel into Waltham Abbey because of the
existing travel and parking charges in the town. Will a cycle path be provided throughout the whole of Waltham Abbey to provide a
cycle network? I doubt it. Please do not further destroy our beautiful, historic town.

45 Woodland Street,
Waltham Abbey

I am against the loss of the green belt land and the wildlife living there. I do not want the Next warehouses and buildings destroying the
landscape. The other important issue is the traffic. The traffic is already bad around the M25 exit junction 26. This development will
make it much worse with hundreds of additional lorries / cars using this area. The junction is regularly a bottle neck so will make it even
more dangerous and clearly cannot take additional volumes of traffic. I also do not want a traffic light system on Dowding Way creating
traffic build up. The gridlock will be unbearable in Waltham Abbey. The pollution caused by all these extra vehicles will also be horrific totally environmentally damaging. This application by Next is totally unacceptable.

20 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

I strongly object to the proposed development of the land north of dowding way for the following reasons: Having purchased my
home in Waltham Abbey earlier this year I would have been highly put off if there was another depot close by because of the extra
time it would take me, due to traffic, to get to and from work. If I feel this way then other prospective buyers looking to move into the
local area will likely feel the same.
The traffic in the area especially at peak times of day is already a nightmare for residents. More HGV's on the roads will only add to the
traffic jams and make Waltham Abbey, a small market town, a less desirable place to live and visit. Access via the M25, Sewardstone
Road and Dowding Way itself will be put under further pressure and we already have more than enough HGV's for a small town with
the Sainsburys depot opposite Meridian Way.
Developing on more of our green belt will destroy wildlife habitats and the emissions caused by all the extra vehicles on a daily basis

109 Honey Lane,
Waltham Abbey

We strongly object to this going ahead. Waltham Abbey does not have the infrastructure to cope with this level of traffic. Waltham
Abbey was at a complete standstill on the 14th November 2019. It took an hour and a half to get from Waltham Abbey to Loughton.

27 Wren Drive,
Margherita Road

The existing road network at M25/Honey Lane and Woodridden Hill is struggling to cope with the current traffic levels throughout the
day. The additional traffic during construction and then by the new employees (circa 1000) will make the current situation worse. Due
to the poor public transport links to the proposed location, employees will be driving to the facility for convenience.

Address

64 Honey Lane,
Waltham Abbey

Comments

Page 144

The proposed site is greenbelt/agriculture land and should remain so. The other major issue is traffic. I do not intend to comment here
in detail on the Transport Assessment carried out by Vectos in support of the application except to say that it would appear it has been
written by someone not local to the area. An example is the advice given to Waltham Abbey residents to get the bus to Debden for the
tube. My comments are based on first-hand experience and observations by both living in and utilising the road systems in and around
Waltham Abbey for over fifty years. Actual, not theoretical or allegorical. The roads round Waltham Abbey act as a conduit for traffic
across the Lea Valley and north/south via Sewardstone Road and the Crooked Mile. The volume of traffic has grown tremendously in
recent years with the development, in Waltham Abbey, of the Sainsbury Depot, Tesco’s and Lidl’s. The pressures on Junction 26 of the
M25 are considerable; far more than envisaged when first built. Limited access and egress to the motorway regularly cause tailbacks.
Traffic jams stretching from under the motorway bridge right up Woodridden Hill to the Wake Arms roundabout are not uncommon.
Next propose putting traffic lights at the junction of their site with Dowding Way. The disruption and hold ups this is likely to cause will
just add to the overall problem. A good example of what can happen can be seen frequently at the junction of Meridian Way and
Station Road/ Highbridge Street. Tailbacks to the Sewardstone Road roundabout are frequent. Likewise, to the east, on Abbey View.
Add to all this the recurring gridlock on the roads around Waltham Abbey when something disrupts the traffic flow on the M25! Exiting
Waltham Abbey at peak periods can, at times, be a nightmare! It is interesting that Next do not mention anything about the number of
HGVs and smaller distribution vehicles entering and leaving the proposed site on a daily basis in the recent PR mailshot sent to
Waltham Abbey households. This is not a balanced document. One positive addition to the original application is the proposed photo
studio. Surely, though, not on this site away from the centre of population and the Town’s shops. Whatever Vectos conclude, the result
of the present proposal will be more traffic generated by people travelling to and from the site. Employment in the Town and a reason
for people to come to Waltham Abbey would, though, be welcome. Taking all the foregoing points into account I cannot see how EFDC
can approve this amended planning application.

Address

4 King William Court,
Kendall Road

Page 145
26 Maynard Court,
Waltham Abbey

26 Maynard Court,
Waltham Abbey
34 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey
34 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
I express concern of this application with the impact that this would have for a number of reasons, I summarise these below.
1) Traffic and infrastructure - the applicant (Next) has submitted plans that would have a detrimental affect on local traffic in the area.
The proposals for the distribution centre would require over 700 HGV movements a day. Dowding Way experiences heavy traffic at
most hours of the day, with the traffic spreading onto Meridian Way and into Waltham Cross. A usual 10 minute trip into Waltham
Cross can take 45 minutes to an hour. Additional vehicle movements, would significantly increase congestion around the area
2) Air Quality/ Noise - residents of Meridian Park already suffer from lower levels of air quality with the proximity of our homes to the
Sainsbury's Distribution Centre. A new Next Centre would cause a marked reduction in our air quality and quality of life. In the Summer,
those of us with south facing windows, have to leave the windows open in an attempt to stay cool. More vehicles on Meridian Way will
affect not only our air quality but cause an increased noise impact too.
3) Loss of Green Belt land - whilst I am in favour of appropriate development on Green Belt where it is desperately needed, the
developer has failed to demonstrate the justification for building on Green Belt and this is inconsistent with NPPF guidelines.
It is clear that Next have chosen to submit the application, with the view that if they receive a recommendation for approval and it is
refused, they will win on an appeal basis. An appeal would cost Epping Forest District Council tens of thousands of pounds and this will
fall on us taxpayers. This does not demonstrate a commitment to the local community and the various concerns that have been made
about this application which are outstanding.
I strongly object to more destruction of our valuable green belt land, this will have detrimental effects to our wildlife, and also the
mental health of those that live and walk along our fields. The increase of traffic which will not only pollute our airs, which in turn will
cause to be detrimental to our respiratory system, increasing problems for those with Asthma, COPD who already struggle with
breathing. Also a large amount of this increase traffic is big lorries, they already have some difficulties travelling in our small town, this
will lead to traffics gridlock, we are already limited with access to our small town, the traffic on the M25 and Highbridge St will show
our exiting troubles, please don’t add to them.
Updating my strong objections since planning amended. Our small town can not cope with anymore HGVs driving through it, we need
to protect our green belt for the sake of our wildlife and the environment. I’m against anymore large development that increases our
environmental problems and interferes with the natural wildlife.
No substantial changes to plan. Still will be too much traffic, not enough parking, too many lorries. Non locals using estates for parking.
Too big for a small town. Not needed will create more pressure on the roads. Air pollution and wildlife in danger

Address
34 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey
34 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey
118 Honey Lane,
Waltham Abbey

23 Harrier Way,
Waltham Abbey

Page 146

17 Willow Path,
Waltham Abbey

51 Greenfield Street,
Waltham Abbey
60 Greenfield Street,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
No, no, no. Abbey is under enough pressure on roads and air pollution. Green belt land being taken???? Not enough parking or local
jobs
There will be too much traffic, the town is too small to cope with. Not enough parking for staff. Green land being taken and making our
estate vulnerable.
Roads are already gridlocked in the rush hour. Particularly along honeylane heading for the M25 roundabout. Also abbey view,
Dowding way and Highbridge bridge Street are stationary by 7am. Trying to get a minicab to pickup from Waltham abbey is impossible
during the morning rush hour as no-one wants to sit in the traffic and the bus service is non existent due to the traffic. Really poor idea.
Huge amounts of investment into the roads network is needed before Any more expansion. The air quality is also a major concern as is
the threat to wild life.
We don’t want an additional building to take away our green-space. This will destroy the environment, add additional pollution, add
more traffic than Waltham abbey can handle and not be a positive in any way! I am objecting to this and would like to be listened to as
a resident. We want the wildlife to stay and this not to go ahead.
W/A hasn’t got the infrastructure to cope. It’s already gridlocked when there is an issue on M25/M11as it is. Once a small historic
market town, it’s now becoming an industrial estate and the dumping ground for Epping and beyond. Over the years l’ve witnessed
trees uprooted, green areas, football Pitches/ recreation areas being dug up and built on, that seems to be the norm amongst the
people who plan the development here. People who don’t have to live or work here. It would be nice to keep a little bit of greenery
but somehow l don’t think you will stop until every blade of grass disappears and is replaced with concrete.
As a family and household - We oppose this plan. It will not bring local jobs to the community it will bring pollution, congestion and
destroy more of our free belt.
I am shocked that this is even being considered. Anyone who lives in Waltham Abbey knows that the road system cannot cope with
the existing traffic. The roads are frequently gridlocked. I don't believe that this development will be of any benefit to our local
community.

Address

Comments

Page 147

24 Roman Way,
Meridian Park

I would like to object to this application on a few grounds.
1. it would be a blight on our rural landscape, we already have to look at the Sainsbury depot at meridian park which is a ridiculously
large development for our small town.
2. the extra traffic would make things even more difficult to navigate the junction of the A121 and M25, which at peak rush hours is
ridiculous, sometimes the traffic backs up the slip road and onto the motorway itself which is very dangerous.
3. More pollution, much of it caused by large lorries and more often from idle traffic would impact the health of those who live and
have to work in the area.
4. invasion of greenbelt which would set a dangerous precedent for the area.
5. destruction of environments which would be detrimental to our local wildlife
6. reduced visitor numbers to our town. we have a very interesting and beautiful town with lots of history. Large developments would
be off-putting to potential visitors.
7. road infrastructure is already compromised by large lorries etc, potholes are already a problem and will only get worse.
8. living on meridian park, I see many workers from Enfield walking through the estate on their way to work at Sainsbury, dropping
litter, spitting chewing gum etc, this will only be worse with this development.

2 Old Forge Court,
Lamplighters Close

Already too much traffic by m25 junction. Extra pollution.

70 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

The proposed buildings will have a negative environmental impact on both wildlife with the loss of habitat and humans with the
increased pollution caused by the exponential increase of traffic on an already busy road. This application goes against the mandate
of climate change emergency announced recently by the council.

14 Dale Gardens,
Woodford Green

I have studied the planning application for the proposed Next warehouse and can only see that if this goes ahead it will have a very
long lasting and profoundly detrimental effect on the environment and roads in Waltham Abbey. At present the roads surrounding and
leading into the town are constantly gridlocked. I work in Highbridge Street and every morning am jammed in trying to get to where I
work. Unfortunately the town itself is being neglected as it is often too time consuming and difficult to get to the shops there so people
bypass it and shop elsewhere. There is so much publicity and anxiety worldwide about our environment and how wildlife and nature is
being eroded at a frightening rate, yet this company is completely ignoring all this and is happy to destroy a valuable piece of land
which is home to our flora a fauna.

Address

Comments

31 Harrier Way,
Waltham Abbey

I do not agree with this proposal as Epping forest is a key habitat for lots of wildlife and this development will damage their habitats.
This land is still Green Belt and therefore needs protecting. There will be increased traffic which at the moment is already bad enough,
it has made my journey time to school longer than necessary (I am 18). This will also damage the air quality which can be detrimental
to health. In addition, the council have declared a climate change emergency which they need to consider. By going through with this
development, it goes against the emergency and puts everyone at risk. The increased number of lorries that will result from this
development will release lots of fumes, which will further the climate change emergency.

115 Howard Close,
Waltham Abbey

I strongly object to this proposal. The roads around here are already unable to cope with the level of traffic without adding to it. The
required building works alone will make travelling in the area impossible. Dowding Way is already busy enough due to its proximity to
the M25, arguably the busy road in the country. I also object to green belt being built on. That land is important to the local wildlife and
once it is gone it is gone forever. Furthermore I do not see what another large warehouse will bring to this community, since it is not
for public use.

Page 148

39 Roundhills, Waltham
My concern is the amount of traffic it will bring to the area,
Abbey
Waltham Abbey and J26 of the M25 will not cope with all the large vehicle traffic that this would bring to the area. When the M25 is
18 Kestrel Road,
closed it will all re-route through the town which does not have the capacity.
Waltham Abbey
Also this as a wildlife ecosystem which should be left for the benefit of the species inhabiting it. Lastly this will reduce quality of life and
increase air pollution for those living nearby to the site.
I do not think our town has the capacity to cope with the extra traffic (and pollution) this development would bring. At rush our,
1 Mead Court, Waltham Waltham Abbey is already gridlocked at least 3 times a week.
Abbey
In addition, the land proposed to be built on houses lots of rare plants and wildlife. These should be protected. As a resident, I am
against the NEXT development in Waltham Abbey.
It’s a joke. We don’t have the roads and infrastructure to cope as it is - we’re often brought to a standstill by a single accident on the
40 Woodford Court,
motorway - without the added pressure of a huge warehouse being built and subsequently serviced on top. Additionally, Waltham
Waltham Abbey
Abbey was once a green and pleasant place, hence so many people living here, but slowly it’s being taken away from us. STOP
BUILDING for goodness sake! Not every blade of grass has to be developed.
Please do not go ahead with this development. Think of the huge amount of traffic in and around the Abbey. It is awful as it is. The air
39 Milhoo Court,
pollution will be worse. Children will be affected. Noise pollution will increase disturbing all homes and gardens nearby. Nature (green
Waltham Abbey
belt land, wild animals and birds) will all be affected. Please don't allow this to go ahead.

Address
20 Orchard Gardens,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
This planning will be very detrimental to Waltham Abbey and its residents. The traffic is already too much, and the number of accidents
involving lorries on this stretch of the motorway is high and fatal. The increased pollution is not good for my children either. I don't
believe that this will create more jobs for residents, more likely more commuters to the area where other centres are closing. Less
green space for the deer who are already herded into town where they get injured.

Page 149

I spend a lot of time in Waltham Abbey with my daughter and find the traffic congestion significant. My worry is the effect of such a
large development would have on the area overall. I am 91 and fully aware of the issues we are facing in regards to climate change. An
extra 700 HGV vehicle journeys per day plus staff vehicles, would surely have a significant detrimental impact on the air quality and
cause extra burden on the local roads. The government is going to enormous lengths to mitigate the effects of air pollution and
generally to improve living conditions for their residents. The numbers of wildlife are greatly decreasing and there are many initiatives
to slow the decline and therefore it seems incredulous that quite the opposite is being considered.
20 Waites Court, Priory Having lived in the area for many years I love the forest and the pollution from such a development would have an impact on this rare
Road, Hamstead
and beautiful area. It saddens me that the animals and birds and trees will suffer for this development and I cannot see how this could
be in reality mitigated.
I also think the extra traffic would deter people coming into the Abbey to shop and the bus service only runs at certain times, is not
particularly reliable and there in no tube or train service.
I understand that the council has now made a climate change declaration so would hope this means this development cannot go ahead
on that basis alone.
I therefore strongly object to this development it is inappropriate in this area.

3 Horseshoe Close,
Waltham Abbey

We totally disagree with this application -the roads in Waltham Abbey CANNOT take more lorries. Dowding Way is always in need of
repair due to the volume of lorry traffic. The pollution created will be detrimental to human health plus the loss of habitat for nature.
The dirt particles in our air is the worst I have ever experienced and I had a railway line at the end of my garden in Surrey which gave
off less dirt/pollution than the M25. The lorry park at Junction 26 must be covered with tarmac or cement also. Any accident on the
M25 means the local population cannot get out of their streets as these are totally congested with M25 traffic - twice I have had to
cancel appointments in Enfield as it was impossible to get there due to road congestion. We need less lorries on the road here not
more. Plus this land should be farmed as we need all the areas we have to produce food locally. NO MORE INDUSTRY IN WALTHAM
ABBEY. It is not necessary and not needed. We need to Green Belt to be left as it is or to plant more trees to aid the air quality

Address

3 Horseshoe Close,
Waltham Abbey

Page 150
84 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

82 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
Thank you for your letter dated 16th December concerning the amended plans for the warehouse on Dowding Way. We are still
objecting most strongly to this application as we can only see negative results from this. Dowding Way is in no way capable of taking all
this extra traffic that will be on that road. It is full of potholes all the year round with winter being the worst as it is now, they are at
least 6 inches deep in most places and are caused by the numerous lorries that already go to the Sainsbury's Depot. How much worse
will that get? Also if this should go ahead where will all the traffic go while this is being built where will all the traffic go while this is
being built as we are sure that there will have to be a partial road closure while this is ongoing. Will these lorries be diverted through
the town itself? Also it is stated there will be new traffic lights here. We assume to allow the Next lorries easy access to the deopt
without a thought for the congestion this will cause for other traffic. The roundabout leading to the road going up to the Epping New
Road is 90% of the time backed up to the Marriorr roundabout now - what will it be like in the future - we will be captives in our
homes. The infrastructure in Waltham Abbey cannot take anymore commercial traffic, the roads are too narrow to allow huge lorries
easy access. As I mentioned before the M25 is often at a hault due to accidents - everyday there is something on this stretch of it and
this has terrible effects on the surrounding areas. There is also the pollution factor as this area is filthy already with the M25 traffic
plus the lorry park that churns up so much dust and all the lorries come to this area as there is nowhere else for them to go - we do not
need more lorries here. We strongly recommend that this is not passed, especially using a green area. There must be many brownfield sites, dis-used industrial areas that could be used. I would like to ask why Next cannot relocate to the Midlands or the Nroth
where people are in need of jobs and there are plenty of available plots for them to use. This idea is pure madness.
My main objection, which I have contacted Next directly with, is the increase in traffic. Whilst it has been commented on that there will
be no through traffic within Waltham Abbey I live on the Meridian Park state, opposite Sainsburys depot and whenever the M25 is
closed or congested I cannot get into or out of the estate. This is only going to get worse. We are being ignored and not considered.
What will be the contingency? How will I be able to do the school run or leave my estate in an emergency if the roads are blocked? This
is a major factor for a lot of people within the estate,
Will there be local jobs for local people? Who guarantees this? There will also be a reduction in air quality. There will be air pollution
from HGVs, how will you reduce this?
We object to this development proposal by Next retailer for the following reasons:
Serious impact on the local infrastructure;
Environmental damage and destruction to the land and wildlife;
Traffic increase in terms of large HGVs causing exposure to fumes and traffic congestion - especially when there are problems on the
M25 which impacts seriously on Waltham Abbey with traffic coming to a standstill;
Access and egress to Meridian Park estate where we live will be impacted and cause stress to residents and risks where emergency
vehicles may need to access and cannot due to weight of traffic.

Address

Comments

20 Farthingale Lane,
Waltham Abbey

My biggest concern is the traffic, the traffic backs up onto the motorway at least a couple of times a week which is a major safety issue,
the traffic between the Marriot Hotel and the Woodbine pub is terrible and for the traffic coming off the M25 from the M11 direction, I
feel this really needs to be addressed now, let alone if and when the Next development is approved.

One Horseshoe Close,
Waltham Abbey

I live in Horseshoe Close and the rear of my property is in Old Shire Lane. We are forever plagued with the overflow of huge lorries who
cannot get into the lorry parkM26 at the top of the lane. They have their engines running all night and it has caused my husband and I
many sleepless nights. We have approached them on several occasions and pointed out the no parking signs and a few have gotten
quite confrontable and ignore us, the police have been called on numerous occasions but it hasn't t solved the problem. This is a quiet
residential area which is being spoiled by these juggernauts.
Don't put other residents through this nightmare.

Page 151

Address

Page 152

Waltham Abbey
Residents Association

Comments
•Residents have informed us they wish to maintain the Green Belt status of this land for future generations. However, as mentioned above we
understand this land is earmarked for industrial use in the new Local Plan, at present not approved, but until it is, developers need to demonstrate
special circumstances to justify removing the land out of the Green Belt and we do not see within this application any special circumstances
submitted or demonstrated. • It is publicly stated that Air Quality tested in the local area is at an all time low. Will the council please take into
account what the additional traffic planned for this site will mean to these already extremely high levels. Will you please insist on measures to be
implemented if this application is approved in order to mitigate this serious existing problem? • At the public meeting held by the developers in May,
2018 (Waltham Abbey Town Hall) it was highlighted by residents that Waltham Abbey has a serious sewerage issue with antiquated drains no longer
fit for purpose and not updated for over 100 years. I do not see where developers, after having been advised of the problem have tackled this issue in
their application. Were they to connect to our existing system, this will exacerbate current problems facing in the Town. We know from previous
experience that Thames Water will probably not object to any application, as they see this as additional revenues streams to be generated. They will
only deal with the matter when a critical emergency arises. Drainage in Waltham Abbey, whether foul or surface water drainage is at maximum
capacity and this needs to be addressed before new developments are permitted. So will you please ensure there is a condition to negate this
problem, if you deem to approve the application? •Dowding Way is the designated access road that would be used should this application be
approved. Developers propose a new roundabout layout to support the entrance to the site to be constructed on Dowding Way. The current
condition of this road is extremely poor, our residents inform us that they do not consider the road was built to the standard required to accept the
volume of HGV traffic from the Sainsbury’s site when constructed. It badly needs to be updated before any additional traffic is taken into account. I
presume that this site comes under the auspices of Highways England rather than ECC Highways as this site and its access route is on a main junction
with the M25. Has the authority been advised and have they seen the condition of Dowding Way. Our residents inform us, it is subsiding in many
places and has pot holes generated by commercial vehicles using this road and is in constant in need of repair. • Next stated at their public meeting,
that they anticipate 700 vehicle movements daily in and out of the proposed new depot. They also state they will employ up to 955 workers on the
site. Whilst we appreciate these workers will be on shift rotation and will not all arrive and leave at the same time, it is still huge amount of additional
traffic on a poorly constructed road. • If, in your wisdom you choose to approve this application then, we insist that as a condition of approval,
Dowding Way be uprated to a dual carriageway from J26 of the M25 to at least the new proposed roundabout, this would improve the section used
by the Next transport and not exacerbate the road situation further. • WARA understands that the huge volume of deliveries will arrive and be stored
in the warehouse, then later to be dispatched in smaller delivery vehicles on a 24 hours daily basis to the area surrounding London.

Address

Comments

Page 153

28 Burrows Chase,
Waltham Abbey

Living in close proximity to both the proposed development and the M25, as the local area is already heavily congested with traffic at
various times of the day with roads blocked up as traffic often comes off the motorway several times a week due to delays both
towards Waltham Cross and Harlow, the area can often come to a standstill as traffic comes onto the local roads towards Waltham
Cross, Cheshunt and Sewardstone Road. This new development will only add to the congestion - both when the proposed building
work is carried out and afterwards - as the amount of works traffic coming into what is already a heavily congested area for traffic. I,
for one, do not want to live in an area where traffic grinds to a halt, my feeling is the development will have t detrimental effect on
those of us who live here - both through traffic and pollution. Secondly, there are special areas of conservation in Waltham Abbey,
ancient woodland and so on that would be heavily impacted by this being built. One of the first things that attracted me to live in
Meridian Park in the first place was its close proximity to the Gunpowder Park - ideal for walks and my partner and I enjoy taking the
grandkids for walks and to play in the park - but my honest opinion is, if the Next development goes ahead, the area will be beseeched
by lorries and increased traffic flow all day so that when we make even the short walk to the park we'd be going past even more
congested roads than has ever been the case in last 2-3 years. I have lived here for 7 and a half years and in the last couple have
noticed even before any development has been built how much the volume of traffic has increased in the area. I conclude that this
development will heavily comprise mine and my family's enjoyment of living in the area.

105 Church Hill,
Loughton

my objection is that this is further erosion of Green belt provision. Either we have a Green belt we do not.
This is a further intrusion into open land and although there is a massive documentation submission (as always when you employ a
Planning Consultant and expert reports) there will still be some habitat loss and increased pollution.

Address

Comments

13 Townmead Road,
Waltham Abbey

The whole concept of turning this land into anything other than agricultural farm land should be opposed. The chaos that this proposal
will cause in disruption and quality of life alone far outweighs any potential benefit. The emissions and danger to local wildlife will
amplify in future generations. Next, need to look at industrial areas elsewhere and stay off green belt areas. We already have a very
unwelcome Sainsbury's distribution centre in Waltham Abbey and another one from Next should not be approved.

88 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

I most strongly object to this being built due to the extra pollution, excessively traffic in an area which is already burdened to the limit
and feeling penned in with traffic as it is... In addition loss of green belt, wildlife habitat and reduction in air quality.

30 Woodgreen Road,
Upshire

This application due to its environmental impact to all aspects of the local communities daily lives should not be allowed. The prospect
of an exceptionally large transport warehouse with all the heavy lorries and their pollution and excessive road use is not warranted in
this locality, The council may benefit from extra revenue and some infrastructure improvements but to the detriment of their
residents, myself included. Epping Forests a place of exceptional beauty and is within one kilometre of the proposed pollution.

Page 154

31 Harrier Way,
Waltham Abbey

I object strongly to this development. Firstly the removal of the land from Green Belt status is contentious and I would submit does not
meet the exceptional circumstances test and the onus is on the developer to do so. Then there is the issue with the poor air quality in
the area (untested by Next but confirmed by Friends of the Earth) adding to this with the burden of over 700 extra HGV vehicles, a
multi story car park, and a traffic light system seems to be an environmental and logistical nightmare for Waltham Abbey. A previous
SAC Position Statement" document on the council LP web site released following conclusion of a planning appeal for a 105 apartment
care home near Roding school in Loughton (900m from the SAC boundary) states at para 20". Therefore, for the time being, the Council
cannot lawfully grant planning permission for any development proposals within the District that may increase atmospheric pollution in
the vicinity of Epping Forest. Following the examiner's comments the HRA also needs revisiting. Waltham Abbey has a very poor
transport system comprising of an irregular bus service and no tube or train. This development, far from bringing investment would
only deter people to come here as the character will be changed and the traffic congestion will put people off coming. This will
adversely affect local business. The employees will not be spending the over estimated amounts claimed in the town as they will not be
able to get there easily and if they drive they will only add to the pollution. Wildlife numbers are in steep decline and this area
according to their own ecological report is rich in wildlife and hedgerow all supposedly protected by legislation. The council have
declared a climate emergency and now must follow this declaration through in their decision making.

Address

Comments

Page 155

35 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

Our quality of life will be severely affected of this development goes ahead.
Health issues are already a worry in respect of the air quality and noise levels. We are not able to sleep with our windows open
(specially during the summer) due to the noise generated by the traffic in the area and the air quality is a concerning point. If the Next
development goes ahead both will severely increase. I strongly believe that our health and child's health will be negatively affected. We
will not be able to rest and the air we breathe will slowly poison us.
Building on green belt will lead to loss of wildlife habitat.
There is no proof that the proposed development will bring any economic benefit to the area.
Increased traffic generated if the development goes ahead will only increase pollution, noise pollution, congestion and damage to the
roads that are already in a bad state.
Influx of people that are not connected to the area and no public transport availability will only generate more traffic and accidents.

Email/none given

I was horrified to be told that there would be, if this planning application were to be approved, 350 car parking spaces in a multi-storey
car park – all this on the Green Belt, which Epping Forest District are committed to protect. Also, there would be 500 lorry movements
by day and night, which would add greatly to our already congested roads.
I am seriously concerned about the effect that this would have on our beautiful Epping Forest – the Forest, designated “ancient
woodland” would suffer from atmospheric pollution if this application was allowed. The notorious Dick Turpin started his criminal
career in High Beach and Queen Victoria in 1878 handed over Epping Forest to her people for their future leisure and enjoyment. The
forest is a Site of Special Scientific Interest and a Special Area of Conservation, home to many species of wildlife, including 500 rare and
endangered species, and more than a million trees.
Waltham Abbey already has two enormous developments – the Sainsbury’s Distribution centre and the Truckstop in Honey Lane. The
surrounding roads are frequently blocked by the lorries. We simply cannot cope with any more.

Address

Comments

Honey Lane, Waltham
Abbey

This distribution centre is proposed for Green Belt land and Epping Forest District Council is committed to preserving the Green Belt.
This proposal is for an enormous construction and includes a multi-storey car park for 350 vehicles on Green Belt land. At the exhibition
in Waltham Abbey Town Hall, my wife was informed by the architect for the scheme that there would be 500 lorry “movements” by
day and night. Waltham Abbey Town Council are committed to reducing CO2 emissions.
I am concerned about the impact that this proposal would have on our town and the surrounding areas. There are many, many traffic
hold-ups around the town, also affecting surrounding roads. The A10, M11 and the M25 are frequently at a standstill. People are
unable to attend hospital, medical, dental and optician appointments. The M25 has no hard shoulder through Waltham Abbey and we
frequently hear of serious accidents involving lorries on “smart” motorways.
I live in Honey Lane which is also home to the Truckstop. This lorry park is usually packed late afternoon and overnight and lorries
double park opposite, in the bus stop areas and under the motor way bridge, on the pavement. Residents of the Meridian Way estate
are already plagued by the constant hold-ups from Sainsbury’s distribution centre. Any further lorry movements would completely
choke Waltham Abbey.
I am concerned about the effect of pollution on our beautiful Epping Forest.
Because of all the above reasons, I feel that this planning application should be turned down.

Page 156

Email/none given

Waltham Abbey is fast becoming a sprawling metropolis and it already has serious traffic congestion. Another extensive development
(just like the Sainsbury Distribution Centre – but perhaps even larger – and the huge lorry park in Honey Lane (which I would add
already creates traffic chaos), would generate even more traffic bedlam – roads would grind to a halt, bumper-to-bumper, particularly
as we are told, with an influx of over 700 extra HGVs per day which will be needed to service the development. Roads would be at a
stand-still, especially if there were problems on the M25. Some days it can take us up to 30 minutes plus just to reach the Wake Arms
roundabout because of volume of traffic. When I first moved to Waltham Abbey 57 years ago, it had an idyllic country village
atmosphere. Gone are the days. I appreciate that over the years things have to change, and the populations grows, but I believe
Waltham Abbey is being thoroughly spoilt – where will it end?
We strongly object to this development being built on Green Belt with an irreplaceable loss of farm land where we understand there
are bats, red-listed birds (meaning they are endangered) and other wildlife. How come it is so easy to build on Green Belt when it
suits? We would similarly lose trees and hedgerows – and who wants to look at huge building developments rather than green trees
and bushes? At the rate we are going there will be no Green Belt left in this area.
We similarly believe the extra vehicles needed to serve this development would cause further damaging emissions and thus, a
reduction in air quality – something that is meant to be high on everyone’s agenda for improvement at the present time. It therefore
seems that the air quality in Waltham Abbey will be very much worse than it already is.

Address
28 Hayden Road,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
I strongly object to the planning application for the NEXT development on Downing Way. It will increase the traffic which is already bad
in the local roads. Increase the pollution And diminish our green space it will feel like we are living in an industrial estate what with the
Sainsbury’s depot only down the road.

Page 157

8 Osprey Road,
Waltham Abbey

I am strongly opposed to this planning application due to the impact of the proposed development to traffic & the environment, both
of which are already under extreme pressure. The area around Dowding Way is constantly congested as the surrounding roads have
links to major routes being the A10, M25 & M11 & also Woodridden Hill which links Waltham Abbey to Epping Forest. The roads are
constantly busy & congested & this is directly impacted if there are incidents on any of these roads then the whole of Waltham Abbey
becomes gridlocked. This is without the increased traffic that the development will undoubtedly bring. Waltham Abbey cannot cope as
it is & the proposed development will be catastrophic to traffic congestion & the surrounding area. We are lucky to live in an area with
green spaces which go someway to minimise the environmental impact of the M25 being so close to our town. I have grave concerns
with respect to the pollution levels currently & also how this will be affected by the proposed development, as well as the loss of green
belt land which is so important. I hope my comments will be taken into account along with others & also the petition on change.org.

4 Osprey Road,
Waltham Abbey

As an incomer to WA some 51 years ago at the age of 6 I have seen the village turn to a now gridlocked town skirted by the M25.
Traffic congestion has increased exponentially in particularly around the M25 junctions causing daily gridlocked roads and high levels of
pollution. The Abbey does not need additional congestion and I strongly resist the view this development will add any benefit to the
area but simple further degrade further our current environment.

20 Farthingale Lane,
Waltham Abbey

I object to this planning application because I feel the building of another depot close to the town will cause an unacceptable amount
of pollution & an increase in local traffic. The road between The Marriott Hotel and the Woodbine PH already suffers terribly most days
of the week inc Sunday. Extra HGV's during construction will add to the misery locals already face every day. Once completed there will
be an increase in both HGVs & cars visiting the depot. I constantly struggle to exit the anti clockwise M25 at J26 due to queues on the
roundabout blocking the exit. This will in no way be helped by a large depot within a few hundred metres of the exit. Also, there is
already a massive problem with HGV's parking inconsiderately near Junction 26 lorry park, Old Shire Lane & lorries driving along
Farthingale Lane despite clear signage. This application is going to affect air quality, wildlife and safety

12 Denny Avenue,
Waltham Abbey

The traffic is already a nightmare. Been living in the Abbey for just over a year & if the traffic around the m25 junction gets any worse i
cant see myself living here in a couple if years. Also i strongly disagree with removing our green spaces. Birds of prey are a great site
on the outskirts of our town. Destroying their prays habitats will have a detrimental effect. I Strongly disagree with this application

Address

18 Harold Crescent,
Waltham Abbey

73 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
This development will cause traffic chaos especially when there are problems on m25.
Waltham Abbey regularly grinds to a halt through traffic problems and this development would add to that.
There are no benefits to the town employment levels as the staff would come from the two depos they are closing.
The position this development is in means people working there won’t venture into the town at all to spend money and support
businesses.
This development will also take away valuable green belt land that we need to preserve as we become more over developed and
nearer to London.
Waltham Abbey already suffers from traffic issues, adding more lorrys when we already have the Salisbury's Depot bringing many in.
This land is green belt which should be protected and this would be irreplaceable loss of both farm land and wildlife habitat. Air quality
will be negatively affected by this development, the vehicles serving the distribution centre are responsible for highly damaging
emissions which is a danger to the health of residents and contributes to global warming.

Page 158

Waltham Abbey becomes gridlocked every time the M25 experiences traffic jams.
Any new development which will bring even more HGVs on to Dowding Way will exacerbate all the current problems.
The roundabout junction with the M25 and Honey Lane/ Woodridden Hill is blocked every morning and evening during the rush hours.
Residents in Waltham Abbey are already suffering with both noise and air pollution from the proximity of the M25. Increase volume of
traffic will exacerbate this problem.
As a resident of Meridian Park we also suffer from the additional noise pollution coming from the Sainsbury's depot - at the time of
construction we were assured that refrigerated lorries would not be used at the loading bays facing the housing development to try to
6 Rush Drive, Meridian
minimise noise disturbance. In addition we were told that lorries would not be permitted to turn right out of the distribution centre
Park, Waltham Abbey
heading towards Waltham Cross in an attempt to minimise the traffic problems at the traffic lights junction of Hghbridge Street and
Meridian Way. Neither of these 2 assurances/commitments have been been upheld, which leads me to doubt that any new assurances
made in order to secure planning permission will be kept.
The proposed design of the building is unsightly and will impact on the small amount of green belt land that we have to protect
residents of Waltham Abbey from the noise and pollution of the M25. It will be out of keeping with the surrounding land which is
arable farm land/greenbelt. Clearly the loss of green belt land will impact on the biodiversity of the land and cause loss of wildlife
habitat.
Email/none given

I believe the current depot we have has caused huge pollution and clearly damages the road. We already have a huge lorry depot
which causes huge traffic jams and now you want another one.

Address

Comments

Page 159

Email/none given

1) There are significant traffic problems daily in and around Waltham Abbey. It is a small town and can not cope with congestion and
pollution. There are times when a 2 minute journey takes half an hour from the bottom of Honey Lane to the M25. Daily the M25 from
junction 26 to 25 is at standstill. The ring road through to Waltham Cross is also at a standstill, how will this development help local
traffic? It wont, it will only be a lot worse for residents. 2) It will have a devastating impact on the wildlife in this area. More and more
land is being built in locally and destroying their natural habitat. 3) Increased health issues for residents throughpollution causing
respiratory issues in young and older people therefore putting a strain on our local GP surgeriesand costing the NHS millions. 4) The
town has become more industrial over three years spoling its outlook. HGV lorries constantly ignore signs down Honey Lane and block
local roads as they are too big to get down. This has to stop! I do not want this development to go ahead.

2 Cobmead Grove,
Waltham Abbey

I live off Honey Lane and have lived in Waltham Abbey for 12 years and in that time have seen the level of traffic increase dramatically.
The amount of lorries around the roundabouts by the M25 is beyond ridiculous now and then they all drive down by the Marriott and
park.it can take 20 mins just to get round these 2 roundabouts in the morning or evening. Having a next warehouse will increase that
level of lorry traffic enormously.

2 Cobmead Grove,
Waltham Abbey

I have previously raised my objections but I am now doing so again to the amended proposal by Next. This is a rural and community
based area. We are already suffering the results of many more lorries with traffic and the disgusting state of our local roads around the
m25 turnoff where we live. I have lived in the area for 12 years and it is getting worse and worse every year with traffic and illegal lorry
parking. We are very close to Epping Forest and have a lot of local wildlife close by on the green belt area surrounding the motorway
and this would be terrible to uproot it’s natural habitat. I totally object to ANY building on the surrounding green belt land and an
industrial development is the worst scenario. We do not want to be living in what would end up being an urban/industrial area as
against a semi rural one now. There is also the transport issue as we have no train or tube access, only one bus route so all the staff
working in these buildings would be driving in so clogging up our already overstretched road network along with their fleet of lorries.
Terrible terrible idea and the council MUST stop this type of development in our town. No No No to Next or any development of our
local green belt.

10 Stoney Bridge Drive,
We have enough damage to our Estate with HGV vehicles parked down our roads.
Waltham Abbey

Address

Page 160

9 The Glade Way,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
1) The land has for many years been part of the Metropolitan Green Belt and this development erodes a significant part of the green
belt that not only is advantageous to my community but complements the nearby Epping Forest special area of Conservation. The
proposals do not in my opinion do enough to mitigate the impact of this proposal for me and my neighbour’s environment. 2) The land
has for many years developed its own ecology and wildlife habitat and so doing complementing the farm land south of the site. In
addition according to the Environment Agency the road and land immediate south are part of an area designated a High Risk flood
area. In view of the recent flooding elsewhere in The UK it is now apparent that poor planning will impact on a natural flood plain,
would this development not reduce natural capacity? Although I note there appears to be a new brook within the sites landscaping but
how robust or useful will this be? 3) In view of the two above observations I understand the Council has recently acknowledged and
declared a “climate emergency”. So on one hand the Council recognizes the fragile environment we have yet is considering this
development proposal which will have a significant impact on the Waltham Abbey community, for example what will happen when the
adjacent M25 is closed? What contingency measures does the Council propose without affecting the environment around Epping
Forest and Waltham Cross? I note the development has space for 30 container Lorries so how many vehicles a day will this factory have
passing thru it and in our neighbourhood ,will it operate 24/7? 4) I note with extreme concern that the Council will gain a significant
business rates injection to its budget , which appears anomalous when the Government has indicated it wants business rates to come
direct to the Treasury( less the councils handling fee) .Furthermore the suggestions this will drive local employment opportunities is I
suggest false on two accounts .The storage and distribution industry is leading in the use of robotic and mechanical aids so what
would be the employment levels upon opening and say five years later?
My second concern is that due to its location and current lack of public transport the staff will have to either cycle,walk or drive the
latter adding to the impact of vehicle omissions in the locality alongside the commercial vehicles.. 5) In central London the current ULEZ
zone will be extended to both the North and South circular roads in October 2021 .Discussion has already occurred I understand that it
will be further extended up to the edge of the M25 motorway some two years later. So in 2023 will this development be viable if
lorries are subject to a daily local levy. 6) I note that air quality samples have only been taken on current conditions not future vehicle
emissions , which suggest tolerable levels , no calculation has been made of the local flood plain being eroded ,or existing ecology and
wildlife levels being reviewed. Consequentially I feel no comprehensive Environmental impact assessment has been made on and
around the site and in particular its operational impact on Epping Forest a special area of conservation.

Address

Comments

Page 161

According to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the Metropolitan Green Belt assists in safeguarding the countryside from
encroachment and preventing neighbouring settlements merging into one another. This proposal brings development closer to both
Epping Forest and Sewardstone so clearly conflicts with these points. Any development of this site is unacceptable in terms of its visual
impact and effects on the character of the surroundings. It would have a harmful and irreversible impact on the open, rural and
undeveloped character of the Green Belt. Once it is gone, it is gone forever. Epping Forest is a precious commodity which deserves our
protection and its borders should remain free from development. A far better choice would be to plant the Dowding Way site up with
trees to buffer the pollution arising from the adjacent M25.
Dowding Way was designed to relieve traffic passing along Honey Lane and, indeed, locally it is known as “The Relief Road”. At the
moment, you can usually drive along this road without delays (as long as there’s not a Sainsbury’s truck ahead) and think you’re in the
country. It really does live up to its name. When the road layout and speed limit changes and congestion increases owing to the Next
Development, it is likely that traffic using Dowding Way to go beyond the area will revert to the historic route through the town. Traffic
coming up Sewardstone Road on the way to Epping/Loughton is likely to instead make its way up through Avey Lane or Mott Street,
adding to pollution in the Forest. The proposed development includes a signalised junction or junctions to the A121 which will
obviously destroy the flow and lead to increased vehicle emissions. It s also worth pointing out that the Sainsbury’s Waltham Point
Glen Iris, Sewardstone facility sends HGVs along Dowding Way in both directions. These vehicles already adversely affect the flow of traffic by their snail’s
Road, London , E4 7RH pace so it does not bear thinking about them having to come to a halt at a traffic signal. The development would therefore adversely
affect the convenience of road users.
There are no bus services which run along Dowding Way itself and any buses that do run (irregularly) nearby only have stops near its
junctions at its extreme ends with Honey Lane and Sewardstone Road. Certainly from the Sewardstone Road end this is not a short
walk to the site entrance so we can see that staff would be obliged to use their cars. Riding a bike or walking to work is not considered
a safe or valid option for many people, so this location is not sustainable.
Part of the social role of the NPPF is that open spaces should support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being. The proposed
development will be fenced off from the existing footpath across the Quinton Hill fields and will destroy the views and openness of the
countryside. There is a bizarre comment in the design document that the building should not be camouflaged and instead should have
a bold design. Surely that is the last thing suitable for something in this location.
Where consideration is made to release Green Belt land, the NPPF specifies that first consideration should be given to land which has
been previously developed or which is well served by public transport.
The suggestion that people can travel to Debden underground station then get a bus to somewhere from which there is still a walk to
the site is risible. Alongside the core planning principal whereby a development should contribute to conserving and enhancing the
natural environment and reducing pollution, it is evident this application should be rejected.

Address

Comments

Page 162

The applicant has claimed in their Planning Statement (document 00711403.pdf) : “If the emerging EFDC Local Plan had reached
adoption stage, the application site would already have been allocated for an employment development and removed formally from
the Green Belt.” This is not yet decided so the planning application is presumptuous. - The assessment of this site quoted in section
6.15 of the Planning Statement (document 00711403.pdf) as not contributing meaningfully to the greenbelt is erroneous. In fact this
land is a valuable buffer and should score at least “moderate” on all 5 main criteria. In our opinion the assessment does not meet the
main criteria for releasing land from the Green Belt but even if it is released, it is still greenfield land and local people do not want this
land to be built on. This proposed development is not appropriate for its location taking into account the likely impact (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts
that would arise from the build process itself. - The 100s of extra traffic movements will produce more exhaust fumes and pollution,
especially as vehicles sit stationary while waiting at traffic signals and roundabouts. But even if vehicles become electric in the course
of time they still require tyres and brakes which produce particulates during operation. It is a scientific fact that roads where vehicles
regularly apply their brakes are often the worst affected, usually around junctions, roundabouts and traffic lights. Vegetation absorbs
pollution and CO2 and building over greenfield will make matters worse. - We note that employees will be forced to route around the
Forest to and from the site and most commercial vehicle movements will occur outside of peak hours to avoid congestion. This implies
there will be more traffic along the nearby Sewardstone Road (including more overnight) and this is completely unacceptable. - At a
time when there is enormous fear around the loss of bees and other insects, this proposed development would mean a huge area of
natural habitat, home to many forms of wildlife species and the biodiversity that goes with that, will be destroyed. It can never be
replaced. The NPPF aims to limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and
Glen Iris, Sewardstone
nature conservation. Any development could significantly extend light pollution on the south edge of Waltham Abbey and pollute a
Road, London , E4 7RH
dark-skied site.

Glen Iris, Sewardstone
Road, London , E4 7RH
Address

Comments

Page 163

- In agreement with the CPRE we think development of this site will further compromise the setting of our historic town. This
development would be visible over a wide area, especially across the fields north of Avey Lane, thereby encroaching visually far beyond
the site itself. Sainsbury’s depot at Waltham Point has already destroyed views of the Abbey Church approaching the town from the
south. Waltham Point’s sole saving grace is that it was built on contaminated former military establishment land. The proposed
monstrous Next development is on previously undeveloped farmland and has no such mitigation. Waltham Abbey has suffered a
massive legacy of industry and contaminated land in and around the town (PBI, ERDE/PERME, Royal Gunpowder Mills). These days we
have thankfully moved away from this and we should be hanging onto our green spaces. Building on greenfield at this location would
bring about a continuous corridor of development to Waltham Cross. This will cause unacceptable urbanisation up to the fringes of
Epping Forest. - The applicant claims the development proposal to be sustainable. Sustainable development is defined as the
integration of social, economic and environmental objectives that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of
future generations to meet their own needs. So by extension unsustainable development occurs when present progress is at the
expense of future generations. Development at this site would cause environmental degradation through loss of biodiversity and
creation of vehicle pollution that damages ecosystems. Building materials will need to be brought in from outside the local area.
Economic issues would be caused by extra HGV traffic bequeathing future generations with personal vehicle damage and Highways
debt from extra road repairs. Local views would be despoiled, leading to deterioration in the quality of life and affecting the area for
ever. Therefore the proposed development is not sustainable. It is evident this application should be REJECTED.

Email/none given

The development is not appropriate for this area and will be detrimental to the community of Waltham Abbey. The building will be
bulky and the lorries will bring pollution, noise and cause the M25 roundabout to be blocked. The increase of lorries on Dowding Way
will affect residents living near the M25. In addition to the problems of the M25, the lorry park 'junction 26' also bring its own problems
in the respect that often the lorry drivers are confused and turn down Old Shire Lane and then cannot turn arond causing more chaos.
For the sake of the residents of Waltham Abbey this planning application should not be allowed to go through.

28 Burrows Chase,
Waltham Abbey

I would like to object to these plans on the basis of traffic and effect on the environment. The traffic, going towards Waltham Abbey, is
not great at the best of times. But with extra traffic that will be going through the town I feel it will come to a standstilll in certain
places. A;sp wotj tje fgoe;ds ypi want to build on you will dsrupt the nature wildlife there.

Address

Loughton

Comments
Although this site is outside of Loughton the main impact is the introduction of over 700 HGVs per day plus around another 1000+
vehicles for small deliveries and staff. This means there will be a much wider impact on traffic in the district. The worst of this will be
around junction 26 but this will spread as drivers search for other routes to avoid the most congested areas. High Beech will see a
substantial increase in traffic attempting to avoid Dowding Way.
Of particular concern in the application is that Next are proposing that the additional traffic is fine as it will be routed to avoid Epping
Forest SAC plus a "200m buffer". It is unclear how they have arrived at a "200m buffer" but if this application were to be approved it
would have significant implications for other proposed developments in Epping Forest.

Email/none given

Detrimental effect on air quality -my understanding is the area has poor air quality and 700 + more HGV movements will add to this
significantly. This in turn will have an adverse effect on Epping Forest and its ecosystem.
Climate change - the council have alluded to its significance by making a declaration on these terms. Obviously such a development will
adversely affect the climate so they should not pass it or they would be acting in conflict with their own declaration.
The local plan examiner has raised concerns over the Habitats Regulations Assessment because such developments cannot be said to
avoid damaging Epping Forest SAC.
The traffic situation - its is especially bad in the area Next want to build on. The traffic seems to be getting worse month by month. If a
clean air tarrif in Broxbourne proposal gets the go ahead it is likely to drive traffic into Honey Lane. Next will add further to this chaos.
Wildlife is in serious decline. Undisputed fact. Surely the council will not allow their habitat to be built on for purely commercial gain.
I do not buy the assertions that Waltham Abbey needs jobs of this kind. There are lots of available unskilled jobs being advertised in
this area. This development risks being a white elephant and far from enhancing this town will probably be beginning of the end of it as
it will not attract visitors if they have to sit in traffic to get here - public transport is scant.
The assertions that the HGVs will not use the forest roads are unenforceable and disengenous, as proven by previously made promises
by developers desperate to get the green light but of course are not followed through.

Page 164

23 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

The road is already overloaded with lorries from the Sainsbury's depot. With an additional depot the road will be blocked. Living in the
area for around 5 years now Waltham Abbey roads are already overloaded with lorries trying to bypass the M25 during traffic jams.
This will just add to the already poor situation. Also the air quality review is terrible. How can it be claimed to be negligible difference
when open and operational despite the large amount of lorries and vans plus the new traffic light junction with will stop the flow of
traffic during rush hour creating slow moving flow and stationary traffic. That creates more pollution.

Address

Page 165
64 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
Is the new building or proposed use appropriate to the area? This new Next development will create a wall of warehousing units
completely blocking the entrance to the abbey and changing its personality from a market town to an Industrial area. `The Green belt is
there for the enjoyment of animals, plants and people and should therefore be left as it was intended not by building a warehouse on.
The new development is being built 300mtrs from a housing development of approx. 150 houses that have been here since 1950, we
have been cut off gradually over the years from the Abbey by the M25 to our North, then Sainsbury warehouse to our west and
Dowding way (A121) to our South, with the Next development to our East we will be completely encapsulated by roads and
warehouses.
I feel that if the Next development and roads already surrounding Beechfield walk & Lodge lane where here already then a housing
development would not be considered to be built so close to them so why is it ok to completely enclose a housing development which
is already there?

Address

Page 166
64 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
Will the development cause pollution, noise, flooding or other environmental problems? With the development only 300mtrs from my
back garden it will create Air and Noise pollution, I have read the documentation from Next and they talk about minimal noise but I can
hear forklifts and lorries from the Sainsburys distribution warehouse which is further away and shielded by houses so this is not true,
we do not get any noise from the open fields at the moment so how can they say there will be no impact?, again after reading the Next
documents there is going to be approx. 900 lorries a day coming in and out of the centre and travelling along Dowding way, even with
the new Euro 7 lorries there will still be air pollution from the lorries as again at the moment we do not have them going past the back
of my house. I have read the various reports from the different agencies such as water and highways to yourselves regarding the
matter of waste water and that the existing infrastructure will not be able to cope with such a large development so again this will have
an impact on my family as they will only do the bare minimum to get it past planning. The area concerned is a Green belt area and has
been open land for centuries, thus creating a wildlife habitat and plants that are naturally at home in this environment, again how can
they say this will be a minimal impact when they are completely destroying the green belt and covering it with concrete. The section of
M25 from Jct 28 to Jct 24 is one of the busiest sections with daily road traffic incidents causing Waltham Abbey to become gridlocked,
with the proposed 900 extra lorries a day and the air and noise pollution from these again this will greatly impact the area please come
along to Dowding Way and see how long it takes to go around the M25 roundabout in rush hour. There will also be an enormous
impact on surrounding roads, especially Avey Lane. Cars already use High Beech as a cut through in the mornings, afternoons and
evenings to avoid the horrendous traffic at the M25 roundabout (at times there are 3 lanes of cars trying to merge into one to proceed
up Woodriddon Hill). With the addition of more traffic in this area this will become worse with Avey Lane and High Beech becoming
even more of a ‘rat run’. High Beech is the ‘jewel in the crown’ of the Epping Forest district and this is unacceptable. It is also
dangerous. With cars speeding through the forest, horse riders, cyclists and other forest users are at risk and it would only be a matter
of time, in my opinion before a serious accident occurs. Not only that it would spoil the enjoyment of the area for a great number of
people. Next say they have plans to improve the M25 roundabout but no matter what improvements you do will make any difference
as they are only adding 900+ lorries and the infrastructure will not take that demand.

Waltham Abbey

Address

Comments

Page 167

Will the development overlook and create loss of privacy? I have read the proposal from Next about their contribution in section 106
towards providing a bus service for their workers to get to work and that they will only have enough parking spaces for approx. 50% of
their workforce, their plan is also to spend £150,000 on improving a public footpath for the remaining workers to walk to work, with
the wages they pay a warehouse worker the likelihood of someone from Waltham Abbey actually working there (2 bedroom privately
owned house in Waltham Abbey approx. £300,000) can you get a mortgage for £300,000 on £10 per hour? Your report stating that
Waltham Abbey had a low employment rate and poverty only depicted 2 small sectors of a ward to show this which does not give a
clear picture of the residents within the Abbey. Sainsburys added a bus service for approx. 2 years when they built their warehouse, it
soon stopped after the funding and the same will happen with Next proposal. Next have not been open about the 2 warehouses they
will be closing down in Hemel Hempstead and South Ockendon, this will again either make staff redundant or they will travel to our
town, but with no direct links from these towns they will drive and bring congestion and noise and pollution.
Workers will be driving into the Abbey and parking in my already congested road and then walking through to the development, with
this in mind I will have approx. 800 workers walking past my front door and side alleyway to the new footpath they are proposing, they
will be walking past all times of the day and night which to me is completely breaking my rights under Article 1 (see below) it also
causes a security risk for me and my family as we do not currently have anyone walking past our house or overlooking our house or
garden which is the reason why I purchased it 30 years ago for the privacy and security and the surroundings. The noise at any time of
day and night of 800 people past your house will cause complete loss of privacy and impact upon my family’s wellbeing. Why does the
new footpath not come straight from the footbridge across the M25 and then directly to the Next development so therefore not
pushing potentially 100’s of people past a private resident’s front windows and then overlooking my garden as the existing footpath is
raised and people will oversee into my windows and garden causing an absolute loss of privacy and security risk. Please see below
article which you will be infringing. How can my family enjoy being in the garden during the warmer weather and have all these
strangers walking past looking over our back fence, the noise from the warehouse and the pollutants from the lorries. This whole
process is actually causing me anxiety and stress, you will destroy my home value, destroy my privacy and security, and in the end drive
myself and my family out of the Abbey along with others. The council need to respect the needs of their residents before destroying
their homes.

Address

Comments

Page 168

Is road safety or public footpaths adversely affected? Road safety will be greatly impacted by the introduction of 900+ lorries per day
along Dowding Way/Sewardstone road and the M25 jct 26, this road network is already congested and if an incident happens on M25
our road network is completely gridlocked with cars then trying to use the small country roads through Epping Forest. The Highways
agency has sent you a letter expressing their concern at what effect it will have on the local road network and has even gone on to say
to you to REJECT the plans!! Dowding way is a single lane highway and already is falling apart due to when it was developed it had a
poor substrate and is collapsing and constantly being repaired, Sewardstone road again is a single lane carriageway and is pot holes
beyond belief and you cannot even maintain this!! Next are proposing to do some road works on the M25 roundabout, they think this
will actually make an improvement, they have suggested painting white lines on the slip road off the M25 to show 2 lanes, this is
already a 2 lane slip road so painting a white line will not make any difference, they have also suggested painting “keep clear” signs on
the roundabout, these are not enforceable and will never be adhered to, the main reason for this roundabout is always busy is that
Woodridden Hill is a single lane road with junctions that hold up the traffic and cause the delays, by adding 900 lorries it will be utter
chaos and become very dangerous.
We as residents of Lodge Lane have daily problems with HGV’s entering our road which is a cut de sac, we have had the Police/Fire
service and large HGV wreckers try and get lorries out that have been stuck in our road and caused damage to residents cars, street
furniture and private property, they enter thinking of either having their daily rest or think that they are entering Sainsbury’s, by having
another 900 lorries entering the Abbey daily this will only exasperate the problems we already have to suffer.
I absolutely disagree with this monstrous planning application.
My reasons are as follows:
1. Complete devastation of a green belt area and wildlife habitat in an already horrendous traffic nightmare at M25 junction 26 which
has an awful record of serious accidents.
2. Extra pollution and ever worse air quality for all surrounding areas, including residential properties.
High View, Horseshoe
3. Extra HGV traffic to what is already an unacceptable level in my village of Upshire. Our road will be used as a rat run as will
Hill, Upshirebury Green
Woodgreen Road by both construction traffic and Next HGVs.
4. The devastating effect on the most important lifeline to us all -Epping Forest with its abundant wildlife which is already under severe
pressure. The trees are already suffering badly from pollution and emissions.
5. The government is committed to protect the green belt and reduce climate change. This development is a total reversal of these
policies.

Address

Comments

I wish to protest most strongly against this application.
First the land is green belt and should remain so for wildlife preservation.
High View, Horseshoe The volume of traffic in the adjacent area is already very heavy and would increase dramatically.
Hill, Upshirebury Green I live in Upshire village and we already suffer from lots of speeding vehicles and the noise and pollution from ever increasing heavy
goods vehicles. If the proposal goes ahead Upshire will be used as a "rat run" for Next HGVs as will Woodgreen Road.
Air quality would suffer and it is already subject to constant pollution from the M25.

Page 169

75 Winters Way,
Waltham Abbey

Significant negative impact on local infrastructure,environment and insufficient community benefit. The scale of the retained habitat
area(east) is a negligible,superficial gesture in context of the wider development. Scale of the massing impedes significantly on the
countryside character (adjacent to the SSSI Epping forest,lea valley park). Landscape plans are superficial. Whilst landscape within the
site might benefit workers it has no wider community benefit and nominal positive ecological benefit (undermined by the site massing
and use). Ponds are welcomed features but anything like this as with trim trail should be set in to a public space, a new park for
residents. This is a missed opportunity. Local jobs are not guaranteed,most come from north east London or further (sainburys depot
example) The road network is over capacity and suggestions for sustainable transport are unrealistic(bus supported by sainbury's
cancelled when funding run out, footpath in poor condition). New traffic lights will create knock on impact to surrounding junctions.
Traffic impact on wildlife will be worse. Cycle paths and footpaths would need to go way beyond the site boundaries if its expected to
be used and made safe to use. Not sure what 106 has been agreed but any investment should be focused on the long term. Enhanced
boundary Landscape is suitable but again outweighed. The DAS is comprehensive but as a landscape Architect I understand the process
all to well. The content and buzz words used are a box ticking exercise. 90% of plans get value engineered after planning and what is
shown in the DAS is often not what is built. Consultants are paid by the developer and reports are often "tweaked" in favour of the
development and cant be fully trusted to be unbiased. The land between Sainbury's and this proposal also becomes vulnerable in the
future. We MUST retain the greenbelt. This does not show special circumstances for a reason to build. We need to future proof our
farmland.

Address

21 Audley Gardens,
Waltham Abbey

Page 170

25 Margherita Place,
Waltham Abbey
5 Chartwell Close,
Waltham Abbey

5 Chartwell Close,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
I object to this development for the following reasons:
1 loss of green belt and natural wildlife habitat
2 There will be little or no job creation for local residents
3 Dowding Way is a well used ring road connecting Waltham Abbey to the M25 and this development will compromise that. Traffic will
be vastly increased and traffic flow for residents and other road users will be restricted. The roads around the town already get blocked
when incidents occur on the motorway, and the Next development will make these incidences much worse.
4 Increased pollution for residents living close by.
5 Next managers referred to Waltham Abbey as 'deprived' - good enough for an oversized warehouse but not for a retail outlet. I'm
sure other residents agree that Next can find somewhere more appropriate for their warehouse than our 'deprived' town. We don't
want or need it here.
This development is not wanted by local residents. The traffic will be even worse than it is already and air quality will decrease. Not to
mention the wildlife on this land.
I wish to confirm my objection to the Next development. I dont consider the amendments satisfactory at all. I believe the levels of
pollution in the area caused by the lorries will only increase and exacerbate the issues surrounding road safety - the roads are
gridlocked enough as it is and not helped by constant problems on the M25 - the additional traffic can only make this worse. It will
have a huge impact on the environment, and on the wildlife living nearby. Noise levels, particularly late at night, are bound to increase
with more lorries coming into the area and deliveries being made.
I believe that there will still be a significant impact in terms of additional vehicles using the roads in and around this development,
often at unsociable hours, which will not only disrupt the lives of residents living nearby but will also have an ongoing effect on the
traffic congestion already faced by motorists on a daily basis. The whole development can surely only increase levels of pollution and
road safety in and around the immediate area which in turn can only further damage the environment and increase the threat to
wildlife. The amendment still mentions a multi storey car park, but yet in an earlier proposal it was said that staff would be expected
to use public transport - so I do not understand why has this not been removed.

Address

Comments

Page 171

86 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

Myself and my husband strongly object to the proposed plans. The land in question is situated directly behind our property. We have 2
small children who will be effected significantly by the increased pollution levels that this development will bring. The beautiful views,
working farmland and wildlife habitat, which we are so lucky to live close to will be gone and replaced by poor air quality, hugely
increased traffic congestion and noise pollution. Over 700 HGV lorries constantly moving around the local area, will cause even more
congestion on our roads, which struggle to cope as it is some days. Junction 26 of the M25 will not be able to cope either, with such
increased traffic movement. With not enough parking spaces for the depot employees and a path way planned by our street into the
development, this will result in our street being more congested and parking will become even more of an issue than it already is. Why
does this development have to be located here! There are numerous land areas outside of Waltham Abbey that are NOT directly on
top of peoples home or green belt land, why cant these be used for such developments!! We moved to Waltham Abbey for its green
belt areas and yet more and more if it being taken away!! We will fight this to the very end.

Waltham Abbey
Historical Society

Waltham Abbey Historical Society is opposed to this proposed development for the following reasons:
Originally proposed in 1935 and confirmed in the Town and Country Planning act of 1947, an area outside London, beyond a Suburban
Ring would be “Protected Green Belt”.
Being surrounded by this green belt in the form of farmland, Epping Forest and Lea Valley Regional Park, Waltham Abbey has been
isolated from other urbanised areas and this has enabled the town to retain its rich historic identity. The land on which this
development is proposed is designated Green Belt and must therefore be protected. Any consideration of what the designation would
be under a future local plan would be entirely inappropriate. (We also oppose any re-designation of this land as it will eventually lead
to further developments adjacent to the M25.)
The scale of the proposal, the increased traffic flow for both goods and customers and the inclusion of a multi-story car park are all
unsuitable for this location.

1 Fountain Place,
Waltham Abbey

Currently the road infrastructure in Waltham Abbey is struggling to cope with the volume of cars running through it. Adding to this with
lorries and commuter cars will only add to this difficulty. This will also cause additional damage roads the council will not have the
budget to fix, leaving hazard that will cause damage and even be fatal. Waltham Abbey is lucky to have wonderful green spaces
throughout the town which are havens for wildlife and these should be cherished and protected by the local council to help teach the
future generation about the natural world. These are also vital spaces that help towards off setting existing carbon emissions in the
town. In the age of a climate emergency, please think about your children and grandchildren and if you wish them to grown up with the
benefits that cleaner air and open spaces can provide them. No amount of environmental statement will replace the habitat and spaces
we already have. Please don’t lose this.

Address
9 Hayden Road,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
I strongly object to this development application. The current infrastructure in Waltham Abbey can not support any more traffic.
Dowding Way is not fit for purpose with constant damage / potholes; traffic queues daily from M25 and also opposite end at
Sewardstone Road. My daily commute to work is already fraught with traffic delays and this proposal will only make it worse. There is
a negative impact on the green spaces this will replace, removing habitats for various wildlife. There will be additional noise and
pollution.

197 Honey Lane,
Waltham Abbey

We are in the midst of the 6th mass global extinction. Please look inside your heart and stop thinking only of the money. We need to
take responsibility and start acting in a way that will benefit everyone...not just ourselves! The earth is getting ready to wipe us out and
start again. We don't have long left.

2 Kings Meadow.
Horseshoe Close,
Waltham Abbey

·
I object to the class of the use. The location is not appropriate for a B2 industrial employment site.
·
I object to the size of the site. The size of the proposal is not in keeping with the local area. The application would be best placed
where there is further distance from residential sites and where there is better infrastructure to control the traffic. An example of this
would be the CEME centre in Rainham off of the A13.
·
The proposals to introduce a signalised junction on Dowding way will have a negative impact on the flow of traffic to the M25,
along the A roads within Waltham Abbey and along Sewardstone Road.
·
The mitigation proposals for the M25 junction 26 junctions are more than insufficient to deal with the impact on the
roundabouts. Line markings are not an appropriate method of mitigating the increase in traffic.
·
The negative impact to the existing network and the residents quality of life will be greatly reduced as a direct result of the
proposals.
·
The construction traffic will have a negative impact on the network.
·
This site would better be used for housing where the final frequency and the type of vehicles will be considerable lower and
smaller class of vehicles.
This application has a number of fundamental elements that will negatively affect the existing residents and commuter traffic. No
amount of road changes can successfully mitigate the impact therefore the application is fundamentally inappropriate.

Mulberry House,
Sewardstone Road,
Chingford

This appears to be on green belt land but the bigger problem is traffic congestion in the area. We have lived on Sewardstone Road for
45years and have seen many,many changes,but this seems the worst of all.

Page 172

9 Hayden Road,
Waltham Abbey

I strongly object to this application; there has been no significant change to the application since the prior submission to change my
opinion; all previous reasons for the objection still stand; including but not withstanding the impact to the local community from
additional vehicular traffic from both site operations and employees travelling to the site. The local infrastructure is inadequate to
support current traffic let alone additional however small their initial claims seem to be.

Address
27 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
God only knows what the air quality is like but the dust levels In the street are terrible and the traffic around the area is also awful
whenever there is any disruption on the motorway or any connecting roads. The addition of this with all the associated staff, deliveries
etc can only make these problems worse.
This is even before taking into account the environmental impact, loss of green belt land and damage to roads etc.
All for relatively little benefit to the local area and local people.

Page 173

Buxton Road, Waltham
This will have a big effect on our lifes with the roads that already have too many cars. The safety for our children with lorrys coming though. You dont li
Abbey
we do not need or want this next this will create lots more pollution and traffic jams Waltham Abbey is a small town with hardly any
135 Roundhills,
infrastructure stop spoiling our small town by adding something we don't want we need more decent shops instead of nail bars and
Waltham Abbey
cafes!!!!!!
I work in Highbridge Street Waltham Abbey facing the roundabout that leads to Waltham Cross. Every day I sit in a traffic jam to and
from work. Those are the busy times which can be expected. Unfortunately the time is of no consequence as the traffic is gridlocked
the whole day as I can see it from my office window. Surely adding more stress to our roads with a depot using countless more lorries
14 Dale Gardens,
in the area is a dangerous and contentious issue. To presume that this depot will bring more business to Waltham Abbey is highly
Woodford Green
unlikely, Sun Street will be bypassed and ignored. The ever pressing issue of the threat to our environment is talked about on a daily
basis with experts and high profile people trying desperately to slow down the impact of rapidly declining habitat for our wildlife. This
application to destroy yet more green belt is blatantly overriding all that is being said, so to allow this to happen is extremely disturbing
and irreversible.
Being a resident at Meridian Park it is near enough impossible to leave in the mornings without getting caught in traffic near
Sewardstone Road roundabout. My route to work is via the m25 and the traffic leading up to dowding way is also terrible and there
4 Little Street, Waltham
isn’t even a depot built yet. There is already a lot of lorries that use this junction for the Junction 26 cafe and also for the Sainsbury’s
Abbey
distribution centre. There is no need for another depot to cause the residents of the Abbey more distress not to mention that it’s also a
huge eye sore.
I live on Dowding Way and strongly object to the Next HGV depot development. The land is supposed to be protected as Green Belt so I
do not understand how they are allowed to make this application. The site is very close to Epping Forest and will add to the pollution
Inner Lodge, Dowding that is already causing harm to the forest. Being so close to the M25 air quality is already a problem and I have had to take my
Way, Waltham Abbey daughter for treatment for asthma. The traffic on Dowding Way is already very bad. In the mornings I can be stuck for 5 minutes or
more before I can even find a gap in traffic to turn out. There are regular queues at the junction 26 roundabout. Like many others I am
forced to re route via Avey Lane to avoid this.

Address

Page 174

Comments
I would like to strongly object to this as Dowding Way is not a major road and already carries large lorries on the way to Sainsburys
Dept. The increased amount of traffic and pollution is unacceptable. The traffic going down to Waltham Cross is sometimes at a
10 Hull Close, Cheshunt
stand still and this will just increase the amount of stationery traffic and therefore the pollution.
I wish to object in the strongest terms, as I am a constant user of this road.
I am worried about the knock on effect of more traffic to the area. During busy times the access roads between Waltham Abbey and
the M25 junction are excessively busy and on frequent occasions traffic jams occur. Occasionally driving through the area is very
difficult. Adding more traffic to this situation can only have a detrimental effect.
10 The Cedars,
I am also gravely concerned about the impact of the development on the existing trees and it's resident wildlife. They will be
Buckhurst Hill
destroyed to make way for the new roads and buildings on the site.
I also believe that in adding more development to this area will result in it becoming too industrialised and it would certainly
discourage me from visiting the area.
74 Crooked Mile,
We have enough trouble with traffic it’s a big fat No from me.
Waltham Abbey
87 Upshire Road,
The Traffic will be worse what with all the lorries in and out the truck stop .
Waltham Abbey
We already have far too much congestion through Waltham Abbey 7 days a week. I take the train from Waltham Cross every morning
11 The Dale, Waltham
for work which should be 12-15 minute journey but it sometimes takes up to 1 hour 15 minutes which is ridiculous! This construction
Abbey
would cause further delays which are totally unacceptable.
There has been no thought, as usual, as to the impact on the local community. The roads and through ways are not capable of
51 Haywood Court,
extending to this amount of new, hard traffic. As it stands, problems on the M25 cause Waltham Abbey to come to a standstill, this is
Waltham Abbey
definitely going to make matters worse!

42 Maynard Court,
Waltham Abbey

As a resident of Waltham abbey since birth in 1984 I have watched the road networks get worse and worse as the years go by and to
this age where it is chaos getting in or out of Waltham abbey especially via Waltham cross or up towards Loughton. God forbid that
there is anything wrong with the m11 or the m25 otherwise Waltham abbey becomes gridlocked. So unless there are plans to put a
few more junctions on the m25 to alleviate traffic I feel that a massive distribution centre with hundreds of lorries inc artics would have
a massive impact on the local roads which already struggle

Address

50 Cedar Walk,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
The development would blight the traffic, environment, wildlife and views of Waltham Abbey and Next’s claims about providing jobs
do not stand up to scrutiny.
Waltham Abbey barely copes with existing rush-hour traffic and the access roads to the M25 and the A121 are already overstretched.
The additional Next HGV’s and other vehicles would greatly exacerbate this.
Furthermore, Next have failed to address the concerns that led to their initial application being rejected. I urge you to reject this too,
for the good of Waltham Abbey and the District. It would bring far more harm than benefit.

11 The Dale, Waltham
Abbey

Strongly object due to it causing an overhaul of traffic and pollution to our small market town plus the disruption of our local wildlife.

11 The Dale, Waltham
Abbey

I am objecting this application due to the amount of traffic delays and pollution it will cause our small market town. It’s already chaos
getting to work. As I’ve lived in Waltham Abbey all my 52 years of life please leave our green belt land alone.

12 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

Page 175

Email/none given

40 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

I note the array of traffic lights but has anyone been along that junction at all to check the amount of traffic. Traffic lights will not help
with the extra lorries. The roads are not being maintained now and bollards are unlit and cannot be seen. It won’t be just the extra
lorries but the extra cars. The objections to this depot are the same. Our roads can not cope
Nothing mentioned re the air pollution and wild life habitats. These objections are still the same
I wish to object to this in waltham Abby ref EPF/2503/19
As a continuous/constant user of Dowding way, (by frequent user I mean using it twice per day, on my way to work and back home)
the main reason I would oppose approval of the development would be the road that is constantly congested and the state of repair
and unevenness of Dowding way. That road requires frequent maintenance just to put up to the HGV’s that travel to the Sainsbury’s
depot in Meridian Way. If a survey would take place these days, you would notice the impact the potholes have on the traffic build up.
There are potholes that appear overnight. The Highways agency requires 28 days to answer to any reports on fixing a situation. I
wonder what the condition of the road would be if the development goes ahead with other several HGV’s on the road. Not to mention
that at least once a week M25 is blocked for a reason or another and the journey from Junction 26 to home 40 Greenwich way can take
anything between 5min – over 30min, as every other driver would try to take alternative routes. When you run tight schedules that
isn't a favourable situation.
Cycles and motorbikes users – unsafe to use it due to the multiple HGV’s and the road not being that wide and uneven surface.
Nature conservation – green belt loss.

Address

62 Greenfield Street,
Waltham Abbey

28 Harrier Way,
Waltham Abbey

Page 176
Email/none given

Comments
There is already an appalling amount of traffic congestion and air pollution in the area. To destroy green belt land and create more
traffic can only cause further ecological damage and severely reduce quality of life for area residents and those from neighbouring
communities who pass through the area already.
When there is a problem on the M25 which happens often between junction 25-26,traffic in the area is at a complete standstill. Again,
area residents suffer. You must not add to this.
I urge the council to deny the application.
I completely object to this planning application because the area surrounding can not cope with the level of traffic NOW. Adding this
development will ruin the wildlife, which we enjoy very much. The traffic already comes to a standstill most days from 7.30am to 19.30
and the roads are being ruined. I've recently complained about the surface of the Rd in Dowding Way, which is awful and dangerous
and have video evidence. If the council/highways agency can't look after the roads now, how will they cope when double the amount
of traffic arrives with this development.
I'm also concerned about the air pollution. Living very close to M25, the increase in large vehicles will have some detrimental effect on
the way our town looks and how it effects the local community and their health.
I hope and pray this development does not go ahead. For the sake of our community and the wildlife.
I write to you to lodge my objection against the amendment to Planning application EPF/2503/ 19 Dowding Way Waltham Abbey. My
original objections stand and would like to re emphasise my concerns regarding the additional traffic and pollution this development
would bring. I do not believe the creation of a signalised junction would contribute to the control of traffic. As residents of Waltham
Abbey we are already subjected to high levels of pollution from the M25 and the increase in traffic will only add to this, contributing to
long term health problems. Secondly I am concerned (particularly with the recent unprecedented rain fall and flooding in the area) the
hedgerows which provide natural flood prevention and will be destroyed under this plan, exposing us to further flood risks. Once again
I would like to emphasise the development would give nothing of value to the area and would see the end of Waltham Abbey as a
characterful town

Address

Comments

20 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

This is outrageous. Where do you think the traffic of all this building and after will ever get out of Waltham Abbey? You can't get out
now. Especially if M25 has any problems. When Sainsbury's first came here we have and had all the lorries down our street still. Your
are crazy. Object yes we do and others.

Page 177

108 Roundhills,
Waltham Abbey

With regards to the amendment, I have number of concerns that I would like to highlight: 1. The height of the development - This
development should be not be visible from the Abbey side of the motorway to spoil the view. It should not be any higher than the
current sainsburys development. There should be no multi-story car park as this would be taller than anything currently about and is
not needed. There needs to only be enough parking for essential vehicles. Therefore, only a single story parking development should be
put in place. Any staff should be able to use public transport to help with environment and to not clog up already congested/over used
roads. This will be something that you the council will need to put in place or if necessary, taken from a hub somewhere by mini bus,
again to cut down on emissions and congestion. The developers or the council will need to make plans for this. 2. 2.
Congestion/Location - Where the proposed development is is right next to the motorway junction, which already has major hold ups, a
mini roundabout will not address these issues and would not doubt cause more hold ups! This junction is already heavily used and with
more vehicles who knows how much more congestion there will be. 3. Road not fit for purpose -Dowding Way is in a poor state of
repair (as are some of the roads leading to Dowding Way) and currently not fit for purpose and amount of traffic using it at the
moment, how can you guarantee it will be fit for purpose with the extra traffic that will be using it? 4. Benefits to the local area -What
are the benefits to the local area? Staff will not be spending any money in Waltham Abbey, so no benefit to the infrastructure in
Waltham Abbey. Is there any benefit to the education structure/photography studio? Are they planning to create links with the local
college to create jobs for the benefit of people living in Waltham Abbey? The only real benefit appears to be the business rates to the
council and any reduction in council tax will disproportionately benefit the rich areas of the district while it will have adverse effects on
Waltham Abbey residents. 5. Environment -There are a number of young families and older residents living in Waltham Abbey, the
extra traffic/heavy goods vehicles will create extra traffic emissions having an adverse affect on the health of these particular people,
as well as all of the residents of Waltham Abbey. Waltham Abbey itself is already a heavily polluted area because of proximity of the
M25 and the extra traffic from this development will only add to this situation. There is also the concern of carbon emissions and global
warming, what guarantees are the developers putting in to place to compensate for this?

Address

Comments

7 Foxwood Chase,
Waltham Abbey

I would like to register my objection to the Next depot being built on the grounds that due to the number of lorries pounding up and
down Dowling Way all through the day, and all through the night – Sainsbury’s lorries being the point in question. There are so many
depots in Waltham Abbey, the area is turning into an eyesore. I suggest you build the depot in Epping to even out the distribution of
lorries. How do you propose the staff get to Next? Epping Council have cancelled bus routes, reduced services over the last 10 years.
I’m assuming for this fact there will be driving to work – more vehicles on the road!

Email/none given

I am writing with reference to the planning application and the amended/additional information received. I was horrified to be told
that the planning proposal would include 350 vehicle parking spaces in a multi-storey car park – all this on the Green Belt, which Epping
Forest District Council are committed to protect. Also, there would be 500 more lorry movements day and night. I am most seriously
concerned about the effect of the atmospheric pollution on our beautiful Epping Forest. The forest, designated “ancient woodland”,
which is protected, would suffer if this application was allowed. The forest is a special Area of Conservation and Site of Special Scientific
Interest, home to many species of wildlife, including 500 rare and endangered species, and more than a million trees. I am a member of
the Royal Horticultural Society and have recently read a report of a lecture by Dr. Andrew Hirons on using plant traits for urban
environments. Dr. Hirons explained that urban greenspaces and trees help to cool the air, prevent urban flooding, encourage
biodiversity and support human health. With the ever increasing challenges of climate change and ambitious tree planting targets, it
has never been more important to create resilience in our urban forests. In closing, I feel, too, that the historic town of Waltham Abbey
and its residents has not received due consideration from NEXT.

Page 178

Email/none given

Thank you for the letter with the amended plans for the Next development on Dowding Way. My major concern which i still dont feel
has been properly addressed is the through traffic within Waltham Abbey. I live in the Meridian Park estate which is still part of
Waltham Abbey. When the M25 is closed or clogged with heavy traffic, Dowding Way into Meridian Way is used as the cut through into
Waltham Cross and the next junction of the M25. There has been numerous occasions when i cannot get out of the estate or have
been left queuing to get into the estate. How will this be addressed? Its hard enough with the Sainsburys lorries. Not to mention the
added pollution of more heavy traffic going past this estate when the M25 is closed etc.

Address

Email/none given

Comments
I refer to the above proposal and the amended/additional information received. This distribution centre is proposed for Green Belt land
– Epping Forest District Council is committed to preserving the Green Belt. The proposal is for an enormous construction, including a
multi-storey car park for 350 vehicles on Green Belt land. At the NEXT exhibition at Waltham Abbey Town Hall, my wife was advised by
the Architect for the scheme that there would be 500 lorry “movements” by day and night. Our Waltham Abbey Town Council is
committed to reducing CO2 emissions. I am concerned, too, about the impact that this proposal would have on our historic town and
the surrounding areas. There are many, many traffic hold-ups in and around the town, also affecting surrounding places such as Epping,
Harlow, Chingford and beyond. The A10, M11 and M25 are frequently at a standstill. The M25 has no hard shoulder at Waltham Cross
and Waltham Abbey and we hear of serious accidents involving lorries on so-called “smart” motorways. Honey Lane is also home to the
Truck-stop – this lorry park is usually packed and lorries double park on the pavement under the motorway bridge. Residents of the
Meridian Way Estate are already plagued by the constant hold-ups from Sainsbury’s distribution centre. The effect of pollution from
these lorries would be disastrous for our beautiful Epping Forest, ancient woodland and Site of Special Scientific Interest.

Page 179

I strongly object to the planning application for the erection of a building for use as a warehouse (use Class B8) on land North of
12 Queen Marys Court, Dowding Way (A121). An increase in traffic using the A121 to access the proposed warehouse will worsen the condition of the road,
Harrison Road,
and create more potholes. There will inevitably be a death or serious injury to a cyclist, motorcyclist or motorist caused by the
Waltham Abbey
incessantly increasing potholes. I will inform the Coroner, Director of the Health and Safety Executive and the news media of this
objection and that that the event was predictable and preventable.
39 Deer Park Way,
Waltham Abbey

I would like to inform you that we are strongly against the next development. This road is already highly congested with lorry’s and
traffic and would make the area more dangerous with lorries and heavy traffic not to mention the environmental issues! We / you as
the council should be making projects on how to improve our green areas and plant more trees to bring more life to nature not in how
to destroy it and add to the already bad air quality in the area, destroying the nature.

Email/none given

Please note that I’ve previously objected to this application and I still do. Waltham Abbey will not be able to cope with the traffic. The
roads are already congested and in a mess . The wildlife is much more important to myself than any warehouse. This would only bring
misery and no benefits to the community. I hope you will be listening too the people that live here.

Address

Email/none given

Page 180

Email/none given

Comments
I would like to strongly oppose the planning application that has been resubmitted by Next.
I have serious concerns regarding the impact of the proposed development to traffic & the environment.
The area around Dowding Way is constantly congested as the surrounding roads have links to major routes being the A10, M25 & M11
& also Woodridden Hill which links Waltham Abbey to Epping Forest. The roads are constantly busy, congested & in a terrible state of
disrepair. This is directly impacted if there are incidents on any of these roads which results in the whole of Waltham Abbey becoming
gridlocked.
This is without the increased traffic that the development will undoubtedly bring.
Waltham Abbey cannot cope as it is & the proposed development will be catastrophic to traffic congestion & the surrounding area. We
are lucky to live in an area with green spaces which goes someway to minimise the environmental impact of the M25 being so close to
our town. I have grave concerns with respect to the pollution levels currently & also how this will be affected by the proposed
development, as well as the loss of green belt land which is so important.
I simply cannot support a project that will destroy green belt land and wildlife habitats, including those of endangered species, which
we should be protecting rather than putting at further risk. I can see that proposals are giving lip service to address environmental
concerns, but would a ‘green corridor’ really benefit or promote wildlife, particularly if it’s cutting through a busy industrial unit...?
The area also struggles enough with pollution, being right on the M25; it doesn’t need more cars. The rush hour train service from
Waltham Cross is inconsistent and busy at the best of times and traffic can be awful, between the station and the Abbey at times,
particularly when there’s an issue on the M25, so public transport options for their staff are rather flaky.
In addition, I find it hard to believe up to £2.5m would be spent by employees in Waltham Abbey. It would probably take 20-25 mins
just to walk to Tesco, which is a business that really doesn’t need any extra help. It’s not exactly a town you can pop into in your lunch
hour from Dowding Way.

Address

Comments

Email/none given

As a resident in meridian park I wholeheartedly disagree with any aspect of building work to be carried out in Dowding Way, for
reasons that I will specify;
We do not need anymore of those great big lorries with there thunderous noise passing by meridian park, the traffic chaos they cause,
the fact that they seem to think they are a priority to any other traffic and we should all give way to them.

Email/none given

I wish to express my concerns re the NEXT depot proposal for waltham Abbey My main concern is the already incredibly high numbers
of lorries which we have at the Salisbury depot that all use the road to and from the M25 AND especially all night which disrupts our
rest /sleep when they use the roundabout at the entrance to Meridian way , it’s also a busy road during the day which becomes
impossible if there is any traffic problems on the M25 as it’s used as a cut through and we can not get to our homes at Meridian way. If
the above problem could be tackled by perhaps direct slip road into them from the M25 I could maybe re consider my stance on this
which is that I object

Page 181

Email/none given

I am frankly surprised that this “amended” application has even been allowed to proceed given the very small amount of additional
information and the lack of relevance to the very serious adverse impacts outlined in the initial objection responses. It is also extremely
likely that the application is not compliant with a number of policy an national requirements and is in breach of the relevant legislation
as outlined in the April 2019 cabinet report “Approach to Managing the Effects of Air Quality on the Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation”. I have outlined a number of the gaps and referenced 2 cabinet reports below.
It is simply not viable for this small town to support a second warehouse at all, and certainly not in such close proximity to the existing
one. We have already experienced an unacceptable and dangerous increase in traffic and journey times, affecting all aspects of life
(work, leisure activities and social activities. There has also already been a very large adverse impact on, health; as a result of increase
in traffic congestion and resultant pollution). Both our daughters have developed asthma during the period that the existing warehouse
has been in place. There has already been a severe adverse impact on the local environment (e.g. many instances of flooding and
surface water on the approach roads and surrounding areas).
A second warehouse would certainly result in a huge increase in all these extremely negative factors. Such a development would also
be in complete opposition to all the national development and environmental policies and principles:
•It will hugely increase traffic volumes
•It will cause increased CO2 levels.
•It will result in much worse air quality and pollutants
•It will add to health problems, especially respiratory tract , eye problems and sleep hygiene
•It will add to noise, light, heat and general environmental pollution

Address
12 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey
73 Fairways, Waltham
Abbey
206 Upshire Road,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
I object because the extra traffic will contribute to poorer air quality and I thought we were trying for cleaner air.
I strongly object to the proposed Next development due to the increased traffic, loss of green land, this brings no jobs or benefits to
the local community. The local arriva service 66 is appalling and has been for years, the delays near the m25 roundabout would
increase and cause further chaos during peak travel times.
As lifelong residents of Waltham Abbey my husband and I feel that this depot will put an unnecessary burden on our already busy
roads. The wildlife and air quality of our town will suffer. Over the years we have watched Waltham Abbey grow beyond recognition
and it now needs to stop.

Page 182

31 Harrier Way,
Waltham Abbey

Impact on the environment: This encompasses air quality. 700 +HGVs per day. Bad for humans and wildlife. Detrimental to Epping
Forest SAC. The application encompasses a multi story staff car park. Yet the new application states in the air quality report that their
staff will be disciplined for using cars?? Green Belt: The land currently has GB status and can on be developed on in 'very special
circumstances'. It is earmarked for removal however the Local Plan is in abayence until the question mark over potential damage to the
forest can be cleared up. Heritage: Waltham Abbey is a quaint market town quite unique in that it enjoys a picturesque town with
mainly independent shops. The transport system is poor with an infrequent and erratic bus service. Visitors to the town will encounter
industrialisation and traffic congestion which will only deter them. This development will do nothing for the town or surrounding area.
Next aim their staff will be using the town, however how will they get there? Not on foot it is too far, not by car as Next are not
allowing car journeys, bus rides impractical and too slow in a lunch break. Traffic: residents of Waltham Abbey know that the current
traffic congestion has worsened during the last year and people are often held in queues whenever there is an issue on the M25 which
is frequently. This has become a major issue for car journeys in and out of WA. Adding to this pressure even slightly is likely to lead to
daily unrelenting gridlock which is bad for the environment (emissions from idling cars) including the Forest and bad for WA which is a
small town with independent shops. Traffic gridlocking will deter visitors and therefore revenue coming into the town. Dowding Way:
nestling adjacent to the forest SAC and the road is currently unfit for purpose as it is. Residents have a right to peaceful enjoyment and
this is already questionable due to lorries from Sainsburys.

4 Osprey Road,
Waltham Abbey

This development will bring extra pressure to the areas already busy roads. Roads are already gridlocked and in poor condition with the
area around the M25 affecting the town when the motorway traffic is heavy. I can not see how roads around the proposed
development can be improved to ease traffic conditions. Also there will be a detrimental affect to the environment as well as increased
polution.

Address

Comments

51 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

This should not be allowed to happen. The lorries, the pollution, the very limited proposed economic benefit to the town which in
material effect will amount to zero. It's the unforeseen circumstances that planning doesn't account for that will really hurt the people
of Waltham abbey. Drive down to town mead at night, it's a lorry depot. Clean up after the lorry drivers that use lodge lane as a bay
and throw their litter out of the windows for residents/council to deal with. The amount of lorries for Sainsbury's is already ridiculous.
There are plenty of unused commercial warehouses in industrial areas sitting vacant in Harlow. Why not take one of them over?

28 Mowbrey Gardens,
Loughton

This development will cause a significant increase in commercial vehicle movements in surrounding roads. This will cause extra
pollution and be detrimental to the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (EFSAC). The effects of local development on EFSAC
have already been noted by the Planning Inspector during the Local Plan hearings and it has been stated by Natural England that there
should be no development in the District that would cause increased traffic and consequent pollution within 200m of EFSAC.

Page 183

64 Lodge Lane,
Waltham Abbey

The Next building is not appropriate to the area. Waltham Abbey is a historic Town and this is out of keeping with that. I live in Lodge
Lane which, along with Beechfield Walk is adjacent to the development. If this goes ahead we will be surrounded by huge industrial
buildings (Sainsburys distribution Centre is on our other side), the M25 and Dowding Way. As well as the pollution and environmental
concerns this causes, it will mean that we are cut off from the rest of the town. No one would build houses in the middle of all of this
so it goes without saying that it should not be allowed to happen by stealth. We already have HGV's coming down our road damaging
grass verges and cars- this last happened on 23rd Dec. They think our residential area is part of the industrial estate and who can blame
them! Another distrbution centre will make it worse.
I am also concerned about the pollution and damage to the forest and wildlife. This is green belt and I don't not believe that change of
use for the purpose of building this warehouse is ethical or acceptable. WA council have declared a climate emergency and this goes
against that. In light of the recent flooding experienced in the district, building on our green belt, a source of drainage is madness and
will only exacerbate the problems.
The public right of way they say people will be using runs adjacent to our property and the increased pedestrians will affect our privacy
as they path is higher than our house and they will be able to see right in. Also as they are discouraging staff from driving it is likely that
they will drive to roads near the the warehouse, especially Lodge Lane & Beechfield, park in out roads and then walk causing further
problems re parking availability and noise disturbance on the varied shifts. Traffic around the M25 roundabout is already horrendous
and the road improvements they plan will not help as the real problem is the bottleneck that is Woodredon Hill.

Address

4 Osprey Road,
Waltham Abbey

Comments

Page 184

I do not see this development bringing any benefit to the residents of Waltham Abbey, to the contrary I see this bringing yet further
traffic congestion and environmental pollution to the area. Any local employment and business opportunities generated will be
insignificant and only increasing commuter traffic to the area for Enfield and Waltham Cross. My objections are focused as bellow:
•Increase traffic congestion on M25 roundabouts which are already severely congested causing significant delays to on the A121 to
Eppin through Epping Forest. •Already we have constant pothole damage to Dowding Way which is a significant risk to vehicle damage
and accident potential. •Access to the M25 J26 is already dangerous due to the M25 layout of the short slip road, downhill gradient on
a bend. •Exit from the M25 J26 already creates tailbacks onto the M25 as the off slip road to the roundabout become congested. •The
M25 J25 to J27 are already bottlenecks with a disproportionately high percentage of accidents. •The planned development of
additional housing adjacent to the Marriot Hotel will bring still further traffic to the area. •There are already issues with HGV entering
the residential development via Farthingale Lane to Shernbrook Road at all hours of the night and day as they search for the services
and parking. •The proposal still further erodes the natural environment of the area and the expansion of London sprawl without care
for any buffer for wildlife and the well being of the local residents. •As I understand this development will be a consolidation of other
sites already so the net job creation numbers are insignificant.

Address

3 Heather Gardens,
Meridian Park,
Waltham Abbey

Page 185
17 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

304 Roundhills,
Waltham Abbey

26 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

Comments
1) Dowding Way (A121) is already very congested due to the Sainsbury RDC located at Meridian way and an excessive number of HGV’s
travel this road at all hours of day AND night (HGV’s were originally supposed restricted to 7am to 8pm but this has never been
enforced) resulting in serious and regular damage to the road as it is inadequate for the level of traffic. If the NEXT development in
allowed to go ahead this road needs MASSIVE improvement and extension to a dual carriage way with much stronger foundations to
carry this load.
In addition traffic congestion from the M25 J26 roundabout going up Honey Lane is already excessive and the roundabout is frequently
blocked between 7am and 10am and 4.40pm to 7pm each day. Additional HGV traffic from NEXT would make this worse. Lastly if the
NEXT HGV’s are allowed to travel towards Waltham Abbey from the proposed site this will cause significant issues at Sewardstone road
which likewise is heavily congested between 7am and 10am and 4.40pm to 7pm each day and has frequent road works due to the
damage caused by existing traffic volumes.
2) The proposed building if far to high and will be an eye-sore in an area surround by Epping Forest Park, an area of outstanding natural
beauty. The Sainsbury RDC is already totally unacceptable we cannot tolerate more
Large ugly warehouses in the area.
3) Pollution - we do not want 700 or 800 more HGV’s travelling on the small roads in the Abbey and the Cross. What ever is promised
when the M25 has a problem at either The Holmsdale or Belcommon tunnels, which is very frequent HGV’s divert down the small
narrow roads of the Abbey and the Cross causing congestion and pollution
4) Road Safety – The A121 is used by cyclists and local residents to travel to work and there have already been a number of fatal and
other accidents as this road is too narrow narrow for HGV traffic.
5) Impact of local wildlife I wish to object to the NEXT DEVELOPMENT as I do not want the pollution or the noise disturbance from vehicles up and down spoiling
our beautiful lush Greenland.
Waltham Abbey is already grid locked for several hours on a daily basis 7 days a week. I am already having to leave earlier and earlier
each morning to negotiate the congested roads. We are already at the mercy of sheer weight of traffic, accidents/breakdowns on the
M25/M11.
Air quality is poor and will deteriorate further if this development goes ahead.
Our wildlife will suffer, dead deer, foxes and badgers are already a regular sight.Greenbelt land must be protected as the loss of
grassland, hedgerows and habitat will have a negative affect on our wildlife.
I do not believe this development is in the interests of the local community and residents. This will no doubt bring endless more traffic,
pollution and ensure our standard of living via poor air pollution is made worse. the potential of extra jobs, is vague and i dont see the
advantages for the local residence, who already have many unresolved issues with endless traffic and in and out exits not being
available. For the reasons i above i am apposed to this development and think its a very bad idea for the area, residence and
community.

Address

49 Beechfield Walk,
Waltham Abbey

Comments

Page 186

I have read the supporting documents provided on the web site and it is obvious to me that this site is not suitable for this application. I
read with interest the many observations about missing data.
The site is on Greenbelt land, in an area of special interest ( SAC ) and borders the beautiful Epping Forrest. The wildlife found in these
areas will be decimated and the effect of this building would be catastrophic to the local wildlife.
The planning application is flawed, photographs reported to be taken from certain vantages are incorrect and I believe this to be a
deliberate attempt to hide the effect this will have on the Beechfield Walk / Lodge lane residential area.
The local road infrastructure can not cope with the volumes of traffic this site would produce and can barely cope with the levels of
traffic using it currently. The impact studies provided set out to provide a false assessment of the levels of traffic using these roads
currently and in the future. The Westbound exit of the M25 regularly backs up to the M25 carriageway and the roundabouts at both
exits are always congested, as are the surrounding roads. A further 100 Hgv's, 80 Vans and 300+ cars would see the area gridlocked. As
pointed out by other submissions, the plans have set out to mislead the impact this additional traffic will make.
As a neighbouring resident, the quality of life will be diminished, the extra noise from traffic and the running of this distribution centre
along with the intense light pollution will blight the local area.
The outstanding natural beauty of the area can not withstand yet another ugly building on the scale proposed. A building on a larger
scale to the hidious Sainsbury's depot must not be permitted, there are NO economical reasons that warrant the distruction of such a
stunning area of countryside.

The development is on Green Belt land - this is supposed to be protected and if developments such as this are permitted it will be open
season on many other parts of the district for similar unsuitable developments. I often visit Waltham Abbey. While there are some
areas that are in need of improvement I can say that the approach on Dowding Way is pleasant and provides the similar semi-rural
appearance that Epping Forest district is known for. To spoil this area with a large industrial development would be appalling and
would show a very negative image to anyone visiting the area. I have been on walks on the public footpath to Avey Lane and generally
23 Princes Close, North this involves a number of good views (spoiled only by the Sainsbury';s warehouse). The quinton Hill Farm area is clearly visible and to
Weald
build a huge warehouse on this landmark would be highly destructive and would be a permanent blot on the landscape. The most
concerning parts of the development is the impact on local air quality and traffic congestion. There semm to be hundreds of
documents submitted with the application and I do not have the time or expertise to review them all. I have looked for the data that
sets out the additional number of vehicles but unable to find the total number. Considering this area is already congested with
Sainsbury's traffic I cannot imagine how bad the traffic will become should the Next development proceed. This location is clearly
unsuitable for a large industrial development such as this.

Address

Comments

Page 187

56 Greenwich Way,
Waltham Abbey

• The traffic is already severely congested during peak times with the J26 roundabout backed up into all approaches, adding more HGV
traffic will cause gridlock and make it impossible for anyone to go about their daily travels. This is degrading the towns charm and will
devalue property in the area. • The condition of the A121/Dowding Way currently connecting J26 with the Sainsbury’s Depot is
horrendous with potholes large enough to park a small car in. On more than one occasion I have had to get tyres replaced due to the
damage caused by driving through potholes at night when they are not visible and oncoming traffic makes it impossible to swerve and
miss them. • The further increase of stationary traffic will severely impact on the air quality which is already suffering due to the close
proximity of the M25. • Loss of Green Belt land and all the wildlife contained thereon is unacceptable in this day and age when we are
trying to combat global warming and provide habitats for our ever decreasing wildlife.

Email/none given

I have recently been made aware of the proposed Next warehouse development in Waltham Abbey and would like to object. Although
I live in Loughton I spend a lot of time visiting friends and relatives in Waltham Abbey. I have recently had my first baby. At the moment
I am fully reliant on my partner to drive as I do not feel safe while driving to Waltham Abbey (especially navigating the junction 26
roundabout and avoiding the numerous pot holes on Dowding Way). In the last week I have been stuck on Dowding Way twice due to
stationery cars attending to flat tyres. It is clear that the size of the Next development will make the traffic (and pot holes) so much
worse. At the moment Dowding Way runs next to farmers fields – the development will give it the appearance of an industrialised area
– certainly not a welcoming image for anyone visiting Waltham Abbey.
Apart from the above – haven’t you just declared a climate emergency? How would building a giant warehouse on farm land be
compatible with your commitments to get to zero carbon? Either you genuinely hope to reduce carbon emissions or you only care
about helping developers make money so long as it brings in more revenue for the council.

45 Woollard Street,
Waltham Abbey
Email/none given

I object to their revised plans as well as their original application with the same comments I originally wrote. Their plans will be a
disaster for Waltham Abbey, particularly causing horrendous traffic, the potholes along Dowding Way already show the roads are not
suitable for additional vehicles, pollution and taking away the wildlife habitat.
I know the area well and this will lead to increased traffic, more pollution, more congestion and more damage to the roads. Any
buildings, especially the industrial buildings proposed are inappropriate in that location and will lead to a loss of green space, wildlife
habitat and loss of what is left of our local farmland

Address

Email/none given

Comments
I live on Dowding Way and confirm my objections for the following reasons. Both my wife and I are retired. My wife is disabled and
suffers from severe fibromyalgia. She has limited movement and mostly confined to a wheelchair and I am her sole carer. As you will
know, there are no footpaths on Dowding Way and our only means of transport is with a car. I find the traffic so bad on Dowding Way
that I only feel safe when turning left from the exit of my property. The council need to take measures to reduce the level of traffic and
the speed of traffic using Dowding Way. I feel that if the Next HGV depot is built it would make it impossible for me to safely access
Dowding Way. In addition I am highly concerned about the impact on air quality. It seems there are news reports on a weekly basis that
highlight the damage to health that this causes. One of the reasons why I moved to Waltham Abbey was the semi-rural character. I
always thought that the Green Belt was supposed to be protected so it is unclear to me why this development is being supported by
the council. The images of the Next development indicate that it will be a gigantic building visible from many miles away and is
certainly not appropriate for this area.

Page 188

18 Margaret Close,
Waltham Abbey
28 Princesfield Road,
Waltham Abbey
4 Hazelwood Park,
Hastingwood

There are already too many heavy lorries coming in and out of Waltham Abbey that cause horrendous hold ups and damage to our
roads. We do not need NEXT to add to this
I am objecting the proposal.waltham abbey is not fit to support it. The road infrastructure is barely handling day to day communting
traffic.

2 King Meadow Court,
Waltham Abbey

I object to the proposal in its entirety. The principal of a major distribution centre with the realistic impact to the network and the
surrounding area is not suitable for this location.

I object to this, the impact on the wildlife is catastrophic. This isn’t acceptable. We need to stop selling our souls for a profit.

The building of a next depot will not benefit residents in the area. There are already too many lorries on the roads in the area, causing
19 Ruskin Ave, Waltham
pollution, huge pot holes in roads and dangerous driving. I am also very concerned about the wildlife and that it will be destroyed if this
Abbey
building goes ahead

7 Paternoster Close,
Waltham Abbey

As the only thing which has changed since this plan was last put forward is that our council has declared a climate emergency, I don't
see how such a proposal can even be considered.
There is absolutely no change to the fact that it's everything we need less of - more traffic, more pollution and more consumption.
Whilst continuing to destroy that which we need more of which is biodiversity within a natural ecology. We know that our biodiversity
is already failing in this country more than practically any other so no matter how this is dressed up it is another huge money making
company destroying more of our environment for profit. It's green belt for a reason.

